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Vision Statement

	 We will be the leading institution for providing financial assistance for the 
development and support of  Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in Pakistan.

	 We will respond to the needs of  Small and Medium Enterprises by providing 
them with necessary financial assistance and business support services in the form 
of  short to long term funds.

	 Will, through support of  SME sector, contribute to the growth of  local 
entrepreneurs, develop export markets and provide employment opportunities in 
the country.
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Mission Statement

	 To support and develop SME sector by providing necessary financial and technical 
assistance on a sustainable basis.

	 To enable SME sector to contribute to economic development through value 
addition and exports, promote entrepreneurship and create employment 
opportunities.
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President ’s  Message

It is my pleasure to present the 18th Annual Report of  SME Bank for the year ended December 31, 
2019.

The world has changed after global crisis of  the COVID-19 pandemic. The social, political, economic, 
and financial structure of  the whole world has been massively disturbed. Country-wide lockdowns 
take effect across the world including Pakistan, businesses and other companies are coming under 
increasing financial strain. In order to ensure that liquidity issues do not translate into solvency issues, 
from time to time SBP has taken different measures to mitigate the impact of  COVID-19 on economic 
growth by improving access to credit and easing certain regulatory controls in the financial sector. This 
situation affects borrower’s repayment capacity that will cause substantial increase in impairment of  
advances even though SBP has taken different measures to reduce the impact by deferment in payment 
of  principle up to one year and also by providing facility of  restructuring/rescheduling of  performing 
advances.  

The spread of  COVID-19 World over posing severe challenges to economic development, and it might 
affect to China-Pakistan Economy Corridor (CPEC) as well.

SME Bank has continued to work with a limited equity base, bank is operating with paid-up capital of  
Rs 2.39 billion since 2007 and State Bank has granted exemption to meet the requirement of  minimum 
paid-up capital which otherwise should have been Rs 10 billion by the end of  December 2019.  

With a network of  13 branches the Bank has very limited outreach.  Permission to open new branches 
is not granted by State Bank due to low equity and pending privatization. 

Even under constrained circumstances there is no let up in the Bank’s primary operations, albeit at 
a slower than desired pace for reasons stated. In these circumstances we have been able to  increase 
deposit by Rs 1,780 million and stood at Rs. 7,501 million as on  December 31,2019 as compared to 
last year Rs. 5,721 million.  The bank made disbursement of  Rs. 1,378 million during the year under 
review as compared to Rs. 1,780 million.

As business & economic activities remained depressed, repayment commitments were dishonoured 
by many borrowers, however due to the management’s focus and strenuous efforts by the field staff, 
there is insignificant increase in non-performing portfolio and stood at Rs. 505 million at the year-end 
December 31,2019 from Rs. 479 million last year. 

We are hopeful that the process of  privatization will complete soon and this will cause further expansion 
in business and enhance operations to the advantage of  all stakeholders.  

It is the Management’s vision to build an image of  SME Bank as the bank which is a friend of  the 
Small & Medium Enterprises; a bank totally trusted with their deposits, ability and resources to cater 
to their business needs. Customers’ will see SME Bank as the bedrock integral to their business growth 
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and sustainability and as a national institution ably playing its crucial role in the country’s economic 
growth & development.

On behalf  of  the management, I would like to take this opportunity to thank the State Bank of  
Pakistan, the Ministry of  Finance and the Board of  Directors for their continued support and guidance.

President
Dilshad Ali Ahmad
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Financial  Highlights
for  the  year

(Rs. in million)
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

PROFITABILITY

Income

Total Income 789.5            753.6            674.0            662.3            753.2            876.3            
Interest Income 776.3            741.4            649.3            615.1            705.3            788.8            

Expenses

Total Expenses 2,076.9         1,629.8         1,395.0         1,119.2         1,027.8         1,254.6         
Interest Expenses 1,149.6         520.4            520.4            441.2            436.3            542.6            
Spread (Net interest income / Gross interest income) (0.5)               0.3                0.2                0.3                0.4                0.3                
Loss before tax (1,287.4)        (876.3)           (721.0)           (456.8)           (274.6)           (378.3)           
Loss after tax (1,072.3)        (825.9)           (294.0)           (199.2)           (282.2)           (387.1)           

FINANCIAL POSITION

Shareholder's Funds 2,392.5         2,392.5         2,392.5         2,392.5         2,392.5         2,392.5         
Net Equity (2,512.4)        (1,693.9)        (434.3)           20.6              356.3            689.4            

Liabilities

Total Liabilities 12,664.4       11,332.4       11,429.4       9,357.6         8,260.2         4,611.0         
Borrowing from financial institutions 3,654.8         4,739.9         5,308.3         3,460.3         2,888.7         776.2            
Deposits 7,500.7         5,721.0         5,343.7         5,228.7         4,770.2         3,343.1         

Assets

Total Assets 10,152.0       9,638.5         10,995.1       9,378.2         8,616.5         5,300.4         
Advances (net of provisions) 1,908.0         2,230.8         2,505.5         2,771.7         2,751.7         2,928.7         
Investment 5,740.0         5,765.2         6,911.3         4,869.5         4,117.5         1,446.5         

RATIOS

Return on Assets -10.84% -8.01% -2.89% -2.21% -4.05% -6.28%
Capital Adequacy Ratio (Required 10%) -71.83% -52.19% -13.65% -2.75% 6.79% 21.17%
Earning/(Loss) per share (4.48)             (3.45)             (1.23)             (0.83)             (1.18)             (1.62)             

BUSINESS ACHIEVEMENTS

Recoveries of New portfolio 632.9            623.2            694.6            659.8            767.7            724.0            
Advances disbursed during the Year 1,377.7         1,622.5         1,956.5         1,956.2         1,993.6         1,835.6         
Number of SMEs Finances 219               366               397               481               447               552               

OTHER INFORMATION

Number of Employees 480               486               497               490               495               462               
Number of Banking branches 13                 13                 13                 13                 13                 13                 
Total Branches/Recovery Offices 18                 18                 18                 18                 21                 21                 
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Directors ’  Repor t  to  the Shareholders

We are pleased to present the 18th annual report of SME Bank Limited with the audited accounts and 
auditors’ report thereon for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

Economic Review	

CPI Inflation and Market expectation

Pakistan’s economy remains in a crossroad trying to bottom-out as policy adopted by present government 
is showing positive signs. Although budget deficit has escalated to 3.45tr or 8.9%, highest in 8Y, efforts 
to increase tax base documentation (under time consuming mechanism) & better governance with a 
mix of improved FCY remittances & check on FCY TTs will echo more clarity once FATF issue is 
resolved (by October 2019).

Pakistan’s inflation rate slightly eased to 12.63 percent (pc) in December from 12.7pc but still scaled 
the highest level in nine years as said by the Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (PBS) report. Inflation, 
measured by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) lowered 0.34pc over the previous month. The data 
released shows that higher food prices have been the largest driver in overall inflation in December. 
It has also been observed that the prices of essential food items are higher in rural areas than in urban 
areas. Food inflation in urban areas rose by 16.7pc in December on a yearly basis but declined 1.7pc on 
a monthly basis whereas it increased by 19.7pc in rural areas and declined 1.1pc respectively.

Monetary authority has been taking stabilization measures during FY19 to control inflation. Lagged 
impact of increase in policy rates and likely deceleration in global food and oil prices are expected to 
play a positive role in curbing inflation. Despite these positives, exchange rate depreciation, upward 
adjustments in gas and electricity tariffs, and higher government borrowings from SBP may cause 
inflationary pressures. In this context, average inflation is expected to remain at around 8.5 percent 
during 2019-2020.

Despite the fact that currency adjustment has majorly been carried, one-time shock absorption of 
change in utility (gas and electricity) prices in the prior year has taken place, and higher base effect 
post recent rebasing, CPI reading has remained elevated in FY20. This was due to seasonal factor as 
prices of perishable food items skyrocketed given supply constraints. We expect inflation to continue 
remaining elevated during FY20, at an average of 11.0% while for CY20 it is projected to clock-in at 
9.5%. After considering forecasted inflation, we expect rate cut scenario to begin from March 2020 
onwards.

Foreign Exchange 

Pakistan’s foreign exchange reserves have surged to $15.58 billion after receiving loan from the Asian 
Development Bank (ADB).

The country’s overall foreign exchange reserves have recorded at $15.58 billion, which included $7.3 
billion net foreign reserves held by commercial banks. Pakistan’s foreign exchange reserves had started 
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increasing after receiving loans from Qatar, International Monetary Fund and now ADB.  The IMF had 
already released one billion dollars for Pakistan under extended fund facility. It was decided the IMF 
would release the second tranche of around one billion dollars during current fiscal year if Pakistan 
meets the structural benchmarks of the Fund. The SBP had already received inflow of $500 million 
from Qatar as placement of funds. Qatar had committed to place $3 billion in SBP’s account on the 
request of government of Pakistan.

According to the ministry of finance officials, the reserves would further increase in the months to 
come.  The government has decided to issue short term bonds and Sukuks to raise resources from the 
international market to build foreign exchange reserves of the country. 

Money Market 

In 2019, government achieved some economic stabilization after averting a possible default & had 
successfully controlled soaring CAD & budget deficit. Its improved forex reserves by taking new FCY 
loans, increased new tax filers & slightly enhanced exports. However, government failed to control 
increasing inflation, achieve tax collection targets & seem to have no credible plans to tackle 1.7tr 
monster of circular debt.

By watching upper trend of the interest rate in FY19, this was the big opportunity for the banks to 
bring and convert the portfolio into profit by developing new portfolio to keep the book into positive. 

The State Bank Diversion

The record economic growth of 5.8 percent of the last fiscal year is expected to slow down to 4pc. The 
rupee has lost 26pc value in a year, coming down to 138.87 per dollar at the end of 2018 from 110.42 at 
the end of 2017. The State Bank of Pakistan’s main policy interest rate has shot up to 10pc from 6pc, 
an increase of 4pc points in the outgoing year.

“According to one of the senior banker, CEO & President of a bank, there are at least three key challenges 
for banks this year: meeting economic and market risks with greater internal controls, ensuring growing 
regulatory compliance without letting operational slowdowns and innovating financial products on 
both asset and liability sides with more but careful applications of fin-tech.”
“Further, overcoming these challenges would expose some small, less efficient banks to a make-or-
break situation. For most of the others, meeting such challenges may determine how effective their 
strategies could become and whether improved strategies could also keep them profitable in the short 
run.”

Take the example of the recent hiking of rates of return on National Savings Schemes (NSS). The 
upward revision in NSS rates is aimed at promoting domestic investment and enabling the government 
to borrow more from non-bank sources. “This hiking — up to 2.75 percentage points — means more 
competition for banks in deposit mobilization in an environment where, due to the ongoing crackdown 
on money laundering, banks need to be extra careful in implementing the know-your-customer (KYC) 
regime.” “Quite difficult, isn’t it?”
Challenges for Banks

The banking outlook depends a lot on the future economic prospects and the corresponding policy 
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responses. The monetary tightening towards the end of the year ended December 2018 and first half 
(January-July) of current year 2019 may lead to re-pricing of loans, according to SBP Financial System 
Review 2018.

“This may improve the net interest income and, thus, profitability and solvency of the banking sector. 
On the other hand, it may dent the repayment capacity of the borrowers, thus, escalating the credit 
risk. Further, considering the contraction in large scale manufacturing (LSM) sector during July-March 
FY19 reflecting the dwindling performance of non-financial corporate sector, suggest that the odds of 
defaults are increasing. Further, any downgrade of a sizeable portion of non-performing loans (NPLs) 
parked under ‘doubtful’ and ‘substandard’ categories could raise the provisioning expense for the 
banks. Thus, the credit risk remains paramount going forward,” 

Besides implications arising from the realization of credit risk, the profitability of the banking sector 
depends upon the costs associated with mitigating the emerging operational risks and the interest rate 
dynamics.

Policy Rate Scenario

The central bank has aggressively increased the benchmark interest rate by 7.5 percentage points since 
January 2018 to an eight-year high at 13.25% at present.

“The banks’ investment behavior in government securities and the interest earned there against are 
largely dependent on interest rate dynamics,” 

According to the interbank market projection SBP to further raise interest rate FY19, to increase the 
profitability of the bank, most of the banks re-built their portfolio with better yield.

Operational Highlights

The Bank is operating with paid up capital of Rs 2.39 billion since 2007. State Bank has granted 
exemption to meet the requirement of minimum paid up capital of Rs 10 billion up till December 31, 
2019. Shareholders in their meeting on October 7, 2009, advised to recapitalize the bank by increasing 
its paid-up capital and management has approached Ministry of Finance for the same. The Board 
noted that in view of impending privatization of the bank, SBP’s constraints on business expansion, 
and very narrow equity base of less than Rs 2 billion, it is a challenge to operate the bank on self 
sustainable basis.   

In view of restrictions placed by State Bank of Pakistan there was no change in branch network during 
the year 2019 and the Bank continued to operate with 13 commercial banking branches and five 
recovery offices. 

Interest Rate Scenario

SBP discount rate at the beginning of the year 2019 was 10.50 percent. During the year the net increase 
in discount rate was 3.25 percent to bring the discount rate to 13.75 percent at the year end. 
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Credit Rating

Bank was assigned a long term credit rating of CCC and short term rating of B (Single B) by PACRA 
credit rating agency on November 22, 2018. The credit rating company has expressed that the bank’s 
operational performance is significantly under pressure because of delay in capital injection by GoP. 
Thus continuation of the bank’s operations going forward is dependent on either of the two factors: 
(i) fresh capital injection by GoP or (ii) development on the privatization front, as growth in the 
bank’s operations is restricted due to these two factors although the management is taking measures 
to improve business functions, operational sustainability is dependent upon equity injection by the 
primary sponsor. 

Operational Results  
  
In the backdrop of narrow equity base and shortage of funds, management has been able to meet day 
to day liquidity needs and maintenance of statutory liquidity requirements (SLR) set by the State Bank 
of Pakistan. Despite enormous pressure of liquidity crunch, SME loans and advances portfolio stood 
at Rs 2,195 million. During the year under review income from SME lending operations increased by 
an amount of Rs 43.51 million. The cost of deposits and borrowing increased by an amount of Rs 
425.95 million. The average cost of deposits increased to 9.95% as compared to 6.13% in 2018.

The deposits of the bank has been increased by Rs. 1,780 million and stand at Rs 7,501 million as on  
December 31, 2019 as compared to last year Rs. 5,721 million as on December 31, 2018. 

During the year 2019, the bank charged net provision of Rs 0.6 million against non-performing loans 
as against charged net of provision of Rs 20.2 million in 2018. Loans and advances on account of the 
bank’s lending operation were Rs 2,195 million in 2019 to Rs 2,500 million in 2018. 

The macro economic factors such as increase in inflation and interest rate seriously dampened the 
business activities in the country and down the growth rate to a great extent, which in turn affected 
the repayment capacity and behaviour of the bank’s borrowers but despite these hindrances the 
management of the bank made persistent efforts to reduce the non-performing loans of the bank. 
Non- performing loans of the bank on December 31, 2019 was Rs 506 million whereas on December 
31, 2018 was Rs 479 million.
 
The Bank has investment of Rs 215.46 million in SME Leasing Limited (SMEL) which is carried 
in these financial statements at Rs 80.75 million and has outstanding running finance exposure of 
Rs. 142.16 million as at December 31, 2019. The company during the year has mainly focused on 
internal cash generation through recoveries from its portfolio and investing these to build-in new 
quality business. The company has managed to write fresh net leases worth Rs. 64.46 million. Total 
recoveries aggregated to Rs. 113 million (including Rs. 17.61 million from non-performing portfolio). 
The percentage of default in new business written over last 3 years has been negligible. Market value of 
its share ranged between Rs 1.30 to Rs 4.45 per share over last 52 weeks. The Bank periodically reviews 
its investment in SMEL for evidence of any impairment. The recoverable amount of investment in 
SMEL is determined with reference to its value in use. The Bank uses present value techniques and 
financial projections of SMEL to calculate its value in use.

The bank has booked loss before tax of Rs 1,287.41 million during the year 2019 as compared to 
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loss before tax of Rs 876.28 million in 2018, and Net loss of Rs 1,072.31 million as compared to Net 
loss of Rs 825.94 million in 2018. The reason for incurring losses were due to pending privatization, 
restructuring, limited outreach, inadequate level of equity and economic condition. In future, we expect 
to decrease the losses by enhancing revenues and reducing volume of our non-performing loans.  

With regard to the exposure granted to SME Leasing Limited, SME Bank applied for exemption 
from single related party exposure limit to the SBP. The SBP granted relaxation to SME Bank Ltd in 
single related party exposure limit under Prudential Regulation R-1 regarding the financing of Rs 150 
million to SME Leasing Ltd for the period up to December 31, 2019 or completion of restructuring / 
privatization, whichever is earlier.
 
Paid-up Capital

The Bank is operating with paid up capital of Rs 2.39 billion since 2007. In line with the SBP guidelines 
banks are required to raise paid up capital to minimum capital requirements of Rs 10 billion. However, 
the State Bank of Pakistan has granted exemption to meet the requirements of minimum paid up 
capital till December 31, 2019.

Financial Statements

Financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards as 
applicable in Pakistan, SBP Prudential Regulations and Companies Act 2017. The disclosures in notes 
to financial statements correspond to the requirement of law and guidelines issued by the regulatory 
authorities.

Internal Control over financial reporting

The board is fully committed to ensure the existence of an effective system of internal control in the 
bank and continuously reviews and evaluates the adequacy and integrity of those systems. However, 
the board recognizes that such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks identified 
to acceptable levels. Therefore, the systems implemented can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against the occurrence of any material misstatement and loss. 

Whilst the Board has overall responsibility for the bank’s system of internal controls, it has delegated 
the implementation of these internal control systems to the management in order to identify risk and 
take action to mitigate the risk. These internal control systems are subject to the board’s regular review 
with a view towards appraising the effectiveness of these systems in the bank. 

Deposits

Despite all the impediments, the deposit portfolio of the Bank was increased to Rs. 7,501 million as 
on December 31, 2019. 

Disbursements 

Liquidity constraints notwithstanding, the bank was able to achieve disbursement of Rs 1,378 million 
during the year as compared to Rs 1,623 million in the previous year. The number of clients served 
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during the year was 219 and total number of outstanding borrowers stood at 1,239 at the year end.  

Leasing Business 

SME Leasing Limited, a subsidiary of the Bank incorporated in 2002, has posted a loss before tax of 
Rs. 35.38 million as compared to loss of Rs. 21.01 million from last year. The increase in loss resulted 
from maturing leases, as pace of new leases written was slow and increased in finance cost. Net equity 
of the company is Rs 77.11 million (2018: Rs 111.68 million). PACRA has assigned the long-term 
rating of B (2018: B+) and a short term rating of B (2018: B). 

SME Leasing disbursed Rs 64.46 million (2018: Rs. 83.02 million) to 10 clients in 2019 (2018: 16). 
Outstanding lease portfolio stands at Rs 378 million with 251 clients.

Customer Complaint Management

A comprehensive Complaint Resolution Mechanism has been designed and is in place. For effective 
management of complaints, a complaint management system (CMS) has been designed and implemented 
in the bank. It provides more than one channels to the clients for lodging their complaints to the 
bank. It outlines detail guidelines for receipt, recording, probing, resolving and responding to the 
complainants. Most of the complaints have been properly responded and ultimately resolved timely. 
An assessment survey also reflects the encouraging response from the banks’ customers.  

Training & HR Development

For enhancement of skill/knowledge base of human capital available for specialised tasks, necessary 
training and skill development activities were carried out for the staff on the basis of training need 
assessment. 

Information Technology

SME Bank has joined the leading shared ATM Network, 1Link, and is in the process of rolling out its 
domestic payment scheme - PayPak cards that will provide its customers efficient, low cost & robust 
payment solution. SME Bank has launched 1-Link’s OTC Bill Collection application at its branches 
that has enabled its customers to pay utility bills, credit cards bills, Government bills, Education fee 
voucher etc. through SME Bank branches. SME Bank has successfully participated in joint industry-
wide BCP Drill and found its BCP arrangements adequate.

SME Bank’s Management, while realizing the ever-increasing importance of Cyber Security in Banking 
industry, has made considerable effort to secure its digital infrastructure from malicious attacks. SME 
Bank has conducted comprehensive internal & external Vulnerability Assessment and Penetration 
Testing and Compromise Assessment of its digital infrastructure. 

Basel II & III 

In 2012, State Bank of Pakistan advised all banks to submit their information for Quantitative Impact 
Study (QIS) – Basel III. SME Bank has applied for exemption from submission of this statement on 
the basis of already granted exemption from Basel II; Now State Bank has granted exemption to the 
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Bank from implementation of Basel II & III till its Restructuring/Privatization due to large investment 
required in software, human resource, training, etc.

Capital Adequacy Return

Bank is required to maintain CAR ratio at 10%. During the year ended on December 31, 2015 the CAR 
of the bank has reduced from prescribed limit. Bank has applied for exemption from maintaining the 
CAR below benchmark. SBP has granted the exemption in meeting the minimum CAR requirements 
up till December 31, 2019.

Income Taxes

Tax Department served notices regarding Income Tax pertaining to tax years 2001-2002, 2002-2003, 
2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2016, 2017 & 2019.

The Tax Department filed references in Islamabad High Court (IHC) for the Tax Year 2001-02 & 
2002-03 among which 2002-03 has been dismissed upon non-prosecution by the Tax Department 
on December 17, 2018. Meanwhile Notice for hearing has been received from IHC for the Tax Year 
2001-02 which is being contested.
   
Whereas for the tax years 2003 and 2004 Tax Department has filed reference in The Islamabad High 
Court against decisions of the Appellate Tribunal & for the tax year 2005 tax department has filed an 
appeal with Appellate Tribunal against the decision. 

The Bank has filed appeals with Appellate Tribunal for the Tax years 2008 & 2010 which were remanded 
back to Assessing Officer for verification of evidences, meanwhile demand for the Tax Year 2008 is 
reduced in lieu of rectification application which has been requested for adjustment against refunds for 
the tax year 2009.

For the tax year 2012 appeal filed by the bank with the Commissioner (Appeals) who remanded the 
case back to DCIR for fresh consideration, whereas Order under section 221/113 for the same year is 
being contested in ATIR. Tax Year 2014 is assessed u/s 122(1) / 122(5) of the ITO, 2001. Tax Years 
2016, 2017 & 2018 are deemed to be assessed u/s 120 of the ITO, 2001. Meanwhile notices under 
section 161 read with 205 are also issued for the tax years 2013, 2016 & 2017 which are being contested.

The Tax Department created tax demand U/S 161/205 for the Tax Years 2005, 2006, 2008, 2009, 
2010, 2011 & 2013 which is being contested in ATIR.

The Tax Department show caused for amendment of the assessment of the Tax Year 2019, U/S 
122(5A) by raising several questions pertaining to turnover amount, clarification for huge amount of 
unabsorbed Tax Depreciation and Amortization for prior years, Sources of Investments etc. The case 
is being contested at Assessing Officer level.
 
Sales Tax

Tax Department also served notices regarding FED/sales tax pertaining to Tax Periods Jan’2008 - 
Dec’2008, Jan’2009-Dec’2009, Jan’2010-Dec’2010, Jul’2011-Jun’2012, Jan’2014-Dec’2014, Jan’2015-
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Dec’2015 and Jul’2015-Jun’2016. Bank replied these notices and contested the cases.

Resultantly Tax Periods Jan’2008 - Dec’2008 and Jan’2010-Dec’2010 have been remanded back for 
fresh consideration of the cases, meanwhile the bank has filed appeals with the Appellate Tribunal 
Inland Revenue for the Tax Periods Jan’2009-Dec’2009 and Jul’2011-Jun’2012.

Show Cause pertaining to Tax Periods Jan’2014-Dec’2014 and Jan’2015-Dec’2015 for short Levying/ 
collection/ Payment of sales tax on disposal of fixed assets was contested and disposed of on merit.

Sales Tax Audit for the Tax Period Jul’2015-Jun’2016 was contested and the case was disposed of with 
fidelity.

Punjab Revenue Authority (PRA) noticed and passed an order for short collection and payment of 
Sales Tax. The case is being contested.

Risk Management Framework

Risk Management Division (RMD) has been established  for preforming risk functions relating to various 
risk; particularly Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk, Interest Rate Risk & Operational Risk. The SBP guidelines 
issued time to time on Risk Management are being followed in letter and spirit and the implementation 
of Basel-II for the bank has been exempted by SBP till its privatization.

Moreover, lending decisions are subjected to extensive and diligent credit risk evaluation and 
assessment process. Obligor,   facility and guarantor internal credit risk rating system is in place and 
regular part of credit processing. In compliance of SBP Guidelines of Green Banking, Environmental 
Risk Rating has also been included in credit procedure. Keeping in view the nature of SME lending, 
quick turnaround time and efficiency and to ensure Bank’s own credit policies, credit risk managers/
officers have been posted at branch level where ever feasible. Above a certain limit fixed, proposals are 
being reviewed and sanctioned at Head Office. 

The management endeavors that bank’s operation and credit activities conform to the Prudential 
Regulations / SBP instructions and consistent efforts are made to incorporate good business practices 
for an effective risk management strategy. 

The coronavirus pandemic and the measures to reduce its spread have significantly impacted Pakistan’s 
economy. The SBP has responded to the crisis by taking various measures to maintain banking system 
soundness and to sustain economic activity. The risk management function of the Bank is regularly 
conducting assessments to identify borrowers operating in various economic sectors which are most 
likely to get adversely affected. The Bank has further strengthened its credit review procedures in 
the light of COVID-19.The situation will continue to be closely monitored and due measures will 
be initiated to mitigate the risk of potential defaults. The Bank has received applications for deferral 
of principal amounts of loan obligations and is expected to receive further such applications. These 
applications are being reviewed by the Bank as per its established policies. The above will have an 
impact on the maturity profile. The Bank is continuously monitoring the   liquidity position and is taking 
due precautionary measures where needed. The Bank is confident that the liquidity buffer currently 
maintained by the Bank is sufficient to cater any adverse movement in cash flow   maturity profile. 
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Under the current scenario, the banks are under pressure to extend further credit to its borrowers, 
while overall deteriorating credit risk and increased NPL.
	
Privatization of Bank

Government of Pakistan (GOP) decided in their meeting held on November 19, 2018 to relaunch the 
privatization transaction of the Bank through Privatization Commission (PC). Cabinet Committee on 
Privatization (CCOP) approved the new privatization program of the Bank on March 06, 2019.  The 
privatization program of the Bank has been required to be completed by 30th June 2020 to divest 
GOPs equity stake in the Bank along with management control to a strategic investor. Accordingly, PC 
recommended the transaction structure for the privatization of the Bank to CCOP who approved the 
referred transaction structure on November 15, 2019. Thereafter through a due process invitation for 
expression of interest for acquisition of 93.88% shares of the Bank were advertised in newspapers on 
December 13, 2019. The last date for submission of EOIs and Statement of Qualifications (SOQs) was 
February 28, 2020. Five prospective investors have submitted their SOQs against the advertisement, 
out of that Four have been cleared by SBP. Due diligence of Buyers side is in progress, Privatization 
Commission has opened data room for the prospective Buyers up to August 24, 2020.

Board of Directors

Board of Directors consists of seven directors nominated by the Federal Government; however, two 
independent directors and four non-executive director remained vacant during the year. 

No Board meeting held during 2019

Board constituted sub-committees however there was no Board meeting during the year 2019 hence 
no sub-committee has been constituted during the year. 

Corporate Governance and Financial Reporting Framework

SME Bank is committed to observe good corporate governance and has adopted the recently 
promulgated governance framework for public sector companies. The Directors have ensured that 
adequate arrangements are made to meet the financial recording and reporting parameters and are 
pleased to state that:

•	 proper books of accounts as required by Companies Ordinance have been maintained;
•	 applicable international financial reporting standards have been followed in preparation of 

annual accounts;
•	 the accounts have been prepared on going concern basis and the Bank has adopted prudent 

accounting policies and used sound accounting estimates;
•	 Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in preparation of financial 

statements and accounting estimates. Any departure has been adequately disclosed and 
explained;

•	 the financial statements prepared by the management of the Bank present fairly, state of 
affairs of the Bank as at December 31, 2019, the results of its operations for the period then 
ended, cash flow and changes in equity;
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•	 the appointment of chairman and other members of board and the terms of their appointment 
along with the fee/remuneration adopted are in the best interests of the Bank as well as in 
line with the best practices.  

•	 appropriate systems of internal control have been put in place for managing significant 
risks, with adequate arrangements for its effective implementation, continuous review and 
monitoring;

•	 the Board of Directors is satisfied with Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern; on the 
basis explained in note 6.2.

•	 there are no outstanding statutory payments on account of taxes, duties and levies as on 
December 31, 2019, except as disclosed in the financial statements;

•	 the value of investments held for staff funds is reflected in note 34 of notes to the accounts;
•	 Bank has complied with the provisions of Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) 

Rules, 2013 and there has been no material departure from the best practices of Corporate 
Governance. 

•	 Key Operating and financial data of last six years is available in annual Reports. 

Shareholding Pattern

The statement showing pattern of shareholding as at December 31, 2019, as required under Code of 
Corporate Governance is annexed.

Loss per share

The basic and diluted after tax loss per share for the year 2019 is Rs. (4.48). (2018: Rs. (3.45)

Auditors

The present auditors, M/s Grant Thornton Anjum Rehman, Chartered Accountants, have completed 
their assignment for the year ended December 31, 2018. Being eligible, they have offered themselves 
for reappointment. As advised by Board Audit Committee, Board appointed M/s Grant Thornton 
Anjum Rehman as auditors for the year 2020 and for the year 2019 on post facto basis. 

Appreciation

While the Board appreciates the efforts of the management and staff trying to steer the Bank out of 
the current situation, it also highlights the need of more efforts for improving the recovery drive and 
for enhancing disbursements. The Board would also like to thank State Bank of Pakistan and other 
regulatory authorities for their continued support and guidance and the shareholders for the trust and 
confidence reposed in us. 

_______________
Chairman

 (of the meeting)
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ÆŠzgZy1ge»ÃðZ°k7ƒZ 2019

ÆŠzgZy1ge»ÃðZ°k7ƒZÅ<å XEZ‚wÆŠzgZyÃðf~wú7Š~ˆX 2019 1geäf~̂VÅúÅ@*ë‚w

»g7gf$ÍgSZzgâàg7gã»�Û*zgu
ZöZ*Z~JZh»g7gf$ÍgSÃY,̂{he»0*ÈìZzgZkäêøgÆa¯c*ŠHqDÍgS�Û*zguZ(gHìX
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J-Æ»gz!*g~ç5]Åßg]qwÔZnZ6,cÆ 2017 Šc31 â1Cˆ!*]��JÅZOð»g™CìÔ /
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ç}Zzg1geÆŠvMZyÅ½g~ÔZyÅ:&çz£Æ‚BZé½g~ÆaZ(g™Š{ÑZ_JÆ4+ /

ÃZ+}ÆaZzgZÏ§b4+6,&½54lç GHGEÆ_.ƒC�X
ZëçZ]Ð.ëÆaŠZ½Nzw»ñizVÂxñ�ŠìZzgZkÆ¸W,ÎŠÆaoƒÈznìÔÚ /

ÃU*ãZzgôZãÅYCìX
ÅãCŠ6,ÒyHŠHìX 6.2 1geMseZ],IiJÃgzZV»gz!*gÆîg6,`äÐtìXâ^ /

J-Ãð‡âãg¶zZZ#ZÑŠZ7ìâÎZñz{T»f™â1C 2017 Šc31 [Ôe-úZzgÎyz){Åæ~ /

ˆ!*]~HŠHìX
~Š~ˆìX 33 uât»g~Åz=�Z6s-iÆng¿ˆìz{Z»ƒÛâF~â^ /

6,cgMæ™@*ìZzg»g7gf$ÍgSÅ4+6,?ÐŒV 2013 Jêøg)»g7gf$ÍgS(Æ̧Z2 /
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ÃÂ{ZLZ°k~ág~z)8Ï(Æfg=JÅág~»»xŠz!*g{ 2018 âÞ 19 Ó#Ö0*Îy)YZz8(ä
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tgz9J-ZŸ†™,X@*ëZÃJMs0*ÎyäZŠZ™Š{ 10 Æat¢zg~ŒÛZgŠc*ŠHXZŠZ™Š{uâtÅÁÐÁu~

J-Š~ì 2019 Šc31 uâtÅÁZiÁuÅ¢zg]Ã7gZ™äÅç°

â1CÍØZg}
â1Cˆ!*]¬@Z»î"545ë EHEEY£gÆ_.‰�0*Îy~**ÇZÅ™)ÿ�ÔZÃWs0*Îy6,ze&4hÿ GEIgcøZzgg

Æ_.»gK‰�Xâ1Cˆ!*]Æ‚BâF~gc{~ZågúÆYg~™Š{‡âyZzg@Zc*]Æ_. 2017 Zl
¢zg~¥â]�ÛZëÅ̂�X

âàg7gã6,ŠZ½Nzw
1geZk!*]Åf)ŠZg~©8ì�J~ŠZ½NzwÆñW,ÂxÅñ�ŠÏÃD¯ñZzgxîg6,ZkÂxÅZ¦ZŠZZzg‚Y

»Y,̂{©8ZzgZ0+Zi{Î@*ìX@*ë1get™@*ì�Zk§bÆÂxZyçZ]Ã‡.ÞJwuJ-
$4-
÷
EGE™äÔ:�»™äÆa

¯ñYD�XZka**ÇK‰Âx6,ËzZ§c*ñZŠÅtZzgvyÅßg]~Zq-oƒuJ-„Ô:�åîg6,½z�

HYYìX

ŠZ½NzwÆtÂx1geÅY+$Ð!*‡°{Y,̂{Ðæzo�@*�JÆZ0+gZkÂxÆñW,ƒä»Z0+Zi{Îc*
YnXZOðÃf)ŠZg~Î{ì�ŠZ½NzwÆÂxÃÑÍ™DƒñçZ]Å¶K0+„ZzgTyÃÁ™äÆnZŠZâ]

™}XtZ0+gzãôZã»ÂxJÅñW,(‚i~ÆÂxÐ01hŠÅÃU*ãÐæzoìX

f{],
�gz9åX 7,501 Ã+ 2019 Šc31 ÓxF,g»zIVÆ!*z�ŠJ»e0*i^7g^̄CZŸ±Æ‚B

ZŠZœV
�gz9ŒÛnŠØZk 1,623 �gz9Æ£«~Zk‚w+ 1,378 “àKÆŠ!*ƒÆ!*z�ŠÔJä¦/‚̧w~

¶X 1,239 ¶²‚wÆMyJ-ŒÛnhezZßVÅÀ®ZŠ 219 ‚wÆŠzgZyŒÛnhezZßVÅ®ZŠ
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Z�ÛZoigZzgÎŠÅÑb~ZŸ±‰zWçÙúZïäo~»gz!*g~u¤/xVZzgÑb%Ã(,~uJ-$zg™Šc*XTÆË
~JŒÛnŠyÇyÅZŠZ5Å&¢AZzg§i¿OW,ƒZpZyg»zIVÆ!*z�ŠJZOðäJÆ**‡&ÿELzßw

2018 Šc31 �gzBå² 506 J-J»**‡.ÞèzßwŒÛ£ 2019 Šc31 ŒÛçVÃÁ™äÆaxîg6,ÃÒÅX
�gz9åX 479Ã

�gz9Åuât»g~Å¶T»Z0+gZ`Zyâ1Cˆ!*]~ 215.46 JäZöZ*Z~98-™)ZöZ*Z~Zs(~+

�gz9ªCÙHŠHìX‚wÆ 142.16 J-zZZ#ZÑŠZg)+÷+ 2019 Šc31 �gz9HŠHìZzg 80.75+

ŠzgZyväŒÛ£Y]Å°xZŠZ5ÅzßàÆfg)g¶qÝ™äZzgZkÃZq-4Zzg*ßy7g¯̂C¯ä6,ZKÂz%ÃiÅ
�gz"3�.ç FGEGdw 17.61 �gz9)øw 113 �gz9ZŠZ5»ÈznHXù¦zß1V 64.46 ìXväZKÀg¶

ŒÛ£Ðzßà(ìXÔ&‚ßV~69Kƒñ»gz!*g6,**ŠyÏÅÑb¹ÁìXZyÆ¥iÅâgLzwÅuzŠ
gz9°¥ÆŠgxyg„XËvy²-CéGE,̂PaJzMzMÐZöZ*Z~ 4.45 gz9Ð 1.30 àVÐ 52Ô

Zs~ZKuât»g~»Y,̂{©8ìXZöZ*Z~Zs~‡.Þzßwuât»g~Åg¶»çZkÅz=Æˆ[ÐHY@*ìX
JZöZ*Z~ZsÅÙz=»ˆ[ÎäÆañ�Š{z=Å2ZzgZöZ*Z~ZsÅâ1Cµ/È~ÃZEw™@*ìX

ÆŠzgZyIZiL 2018 �gz9Æ£«~‚w 287.41Ô1 ~IZiLÄg{+ 2019 Jä‚w
825.94 ~ÀÄg{ 2018 �gz9Æ£«~ 172.31 ÆÀÄg{ 2018 �gz9,-HìZzg 876.28 Äg{

�gz9g;XZyÄgzVÅzzik,è̈g6,ZÇð,̂cÔ̂âÔözŠ;zÔ**»°Zr¨ZzgZOŠ~qª¶Xëw~Mæã~

ZŸ±Zzg:ZŠZƒäzZáŒÛçVÆw~¶Æfg$š-Bhé GGEgzV~fÅÂµ™D�X

öZ*Z~98-™ÃŠb‰ŒÛnÆ0ÔZöZ*Z~JäZÃJMs0*ÎyÃ6,0*gKZEJÆˆ[Ðç°
�gz9Å+$k5ë EEYÆ0 150 cŠgpZ„Å¶ZÃJMs0*ÎyäZöZ*Z~JÃZöZ*Z~98-Æa

J-c*
"3‹-ê
GEE

GLâÅŠ&6,ZÇð,̂cc*�Ì¬ƒÅÑo 2019 Šc31 Æ�Œg&Ó45å GGHH0*gKZE],Å 1DR 6,ze&4hÿ GEIgcø

6,%Z¬]Š~ˆX
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ÑbÎŠ»:©

‚åX‚wÆŠzgZyeeƒ.$gf$~{Ø 10.50 ÆÑzq~ 2019 ZÃJMs0*Îy»eeî.$gf$‚w

‚Ñ**åX 13.75 ‚(,J™ù¦ZŸ†Ã‚wÆZyJ- 3.25 ZŸ†

™i+^g|

ÃJÅîsZÅ.š5éGŠÏÏÏÅ™i+^g&41ºé GHEzg¿æC™i+^g| 2018 âÞ 22 0*™Z™i+^g|ZàäñgQ
(º!ÅX™i+^g|vätCc*ì�JÅM6,¾»g™ŠÏúc*Vîg6,Š!*ƒ»DggìXTÅzzÓ#ÖÅ B )Œ B

§sÐZŸ°ZrÌY~@*íìX

(ii (ÍḡÅ§sÐ@*i{uâtÅ�ÛZbc*) i JW6,cÆöÆWÐ(,"»Z®gŠzâVúZï~ÐËZq-6,«ì)
ág~Æõf6,F,¹ÔYèJW6,cZyŠzúZïÅzzÐözŠìqÑèZOð»gz!*g~ZdwÃ4¯äÆZŠZâ]™g„ìÔ
W6,¾ZPx»Z®gãCŠ~u6,„Å§sÐZr¨Å�ÛZb6,ìX

W6,¾)»g¦/Zg~Æ(}ò
özŠZrÌZzg-iÅ¶Æ!*z�ŠZOðZÃJMs0*ÎyÅ§sÐ¢zg~ŒÛZgŠ~ˆgziZ:Å“àKÅ¢zgc*]7g~
™äZzg‡âã“àK)ZöZsWg(Å¢zgc*]Ã',ŒÛZggpp~»x[g„ìX“àKÆ)©àdZyÆ!*z�ŠŒÛ£

�gz9» 43.51 �gzc;XXik,Ã‚wÆŠzgZyZöZ*Z~C8-M6,cÐMæã~ 2,195 Y]ZzgZi+zZI»Úƒ

�gz9»ZŸ†ƒZXe0*i^ÅZz‰Ñ† 425.95 ZŸ†ƒZXZkÆ´z{e0*iFZzgŒÛ£Y]ÅÑ†~+

g„X 9.95% Æ£¨~ %6.13~2018

Šc31 �gzBì�*¸‚w 501Ô7 J-t 2019 Šc31 �gz9»ZŸ†HŠHìZzg 780Ô1 JÆf{],~

gz9åX 721Ô5Ã 2019

eg`ÅìX² provision �gz9Å{Ø 0.6 ÆŠzgZyÔJä**‡&ÿELzßwŒÛçVÆ£¨~ 2019 ‚w

�Æ 2500~2018 ¶XJÆŒÛ2Š¶»ˆ[ provision �gz9Å{Ø 20.2 ÆŒÛçV~ 2018

�g;X 2195 £«~
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ÆŠzgZy(,}eä6,�Ã8-)ZsZöZ*(Æˆ~Ýà\̈g™Dƒñ)âà 2019 '×h+t�âà‚w�Ñð@*âga
»g7gf$ÆˆÅnƒð»g™ŠÏªCÙ™Cì�°xZŠZ°VÅ)](,|g„�X'×h+',ZVÔ:ZŠZƒäzZàŒÛçVÅn
eZƒ…̂ÔZzgƒ·geÆ‡.Þf™{~¶ƒäÐJÆ6,zzl,yZyZY]~ZŸ†ƒYìXZk§b™i+^g]

À)4èG

ZŸ†ƒÇ��¹ZëUìX

™i+^g‹ÆZŠgZu)K(ÐaZƒäzZá�Z]))](Æ´z{Ô<øÅÎŠq~»Z®gÑ†Ãv
Z½DƒñW6,¾çZ]Æfg)Á™äZzgÑbÎŠÆZ@*gmJƒÆ‚BzZhHŠHìX

0*ŒÅÑb»:©

‚7Z’»ZŸ†Hì�WJ‚wÅ—F,+R6, 7.5 Æl̂âguÎŠÅÑb~Ygq:îg6, 2018 %œ/~Jä†g~
‚{X 13.25

u»g~_5½3ð GGgú~ËVÅuât»g~»§i¿ZzgZkÆ£«~qÝ™Š{ÎŠ»ic*Š{F,Z®gÑbÎŠÆZ@*gmJƒ6,ƒ@*ìX

~ÑbÎŠ~'×h+ZŸ†HìÔTÐ 2019 ZÚJâgLH0+ZiP_.ÃJäo«Ã(,JäÆaâà‚w
9ËVä4»g™ŠÏÆ‚BZL7g^̄CÅ‰h+)bwH(ÅX

§i¿ÆZëï]
J-b 2019 Šc31 tgz9ÆbZ\µ545ÿ FGHÐ»x™g;ìXZkÐ¬ZÃJä 2.39 Ð+ 2007 J‚w

Å)~ttg{ 2009 ZÆ', 7 tgz9Å¢zgc*]Ã7gZ™äÆaZ]Šc*X¥ƒ®iäñgQ 10 Z\́4545ÿ GFGHÅÁZiÁ
Šc*�JZLbZ\́4545ÿ GFGH~ZŸ†™Dƒñuât6,ÃU*ã™}ZzgZOðäZke~ziZg]â1]ÐgZ‚HX1ge

ätâ^H�JÅ6,ZÇð,̂cŒÛd$ƒäÅzzÐÔZÃJMs0*ÎyÅ§sÐ»gz!*g~ÂW6,0*È-VÔZzg
tgz9ÐÌÁZrÃ̈æÃgnpƒñJÆapŠÃ–gZŠn`**Zq-½ìX 2 ¹özŠ

ÆŠzgZy',ZõÆ,Mzgu~Ãðp~7ÅˆZzgJ 2017 ZÃJMs0*ÎyÅY+$Ð0*È-VÅgzÝ~‚w

#̄<',Z+?ç
E
FEZzg0*õgrg~M¢4lç

E
GE`@*g;X 13
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ZÃJWs0*Îy»Z�Zs
‚J-ÁƒYñÏXZq-‚wÆŠzgZygz9Å 4 ‚ÅçÙÑb% 5.8 ÂµÅYg„ì�*¸âà‚wÅgkgeÅˆ

ÆZ!x6,°eZ° 2018 gz9ågz9ÅŠg~¶YzÐ 110.42 ÆZ!x6,°eZ° 2017 ‚¶ƒðX 26 Šg~

‚J-ZŸ†ƒZÔ��gzZV‚w 10 ‚g™ 6 gz9ƒŠHXZÃJWs0*Îy"œ/~0*ŒÑbÎŠT~ 138.87

‚7Z’»ZŸ†ƒZìX 4 ÆŠzgZy

Zq-‘,ÔrZhÁMWZzgJµ3}å GgÆ_.ÔZk‚wËVÆnÁÐÁ&Zë{ñ�Š�X~ŠZ½

Z(gZ]Æ‚BçÙZzgâgLÆçZ]»£™̈**ÔW6,¾Ngz~Æ%(,_ƒñgc{~¿ŠgWæZzg].h+âà
¡¬]~ZU*NVZzgzZ‚]ŠzâVUzV6,¿ŠgMæÃD¯**pZo§jÐ®S-ÆZEwÆ‚BX

'×h+',ZVÔZy{6,‡10*äÐ¼gLZzgÁ¸W,J40™)‡JgaZ™Æ(c*ßg]qwÃps™Æ©¬x6,WMh

�X½ãŠzu}ƒËVÆaZy{»£™̈äÐ¥xƒÇ�ZyÅÕiX¸W,ƒ$Ë�ZzgH'×h+40*åV

ZyÆa¾æ]~œjU*"$ƒ$Ë�?

¸òYZY)Z+ZöZö(6,Ñbo«~qDZŸ±ÅVwBXZ+ZöZöÆ3,pV~ZŸ±Ð0F,ç»Ñ
‚7Z’» 2.75 ywuât»g~Ã�ÛzrŠbZzgÓ#ÖÃŠzu}fgZùÐic*Š{ŒÛnheÆ‡.Þ¯**ìXZk(,_ƒñ

È45Âî XGZ(âjw˜V…Z‰™ä~ÃuËVÆa'×h+£¨ƒZzg*Ñ&+g8-Æ¤/Š�{ßHYä6,ËVÃZL
™gsÆY+zZáÂx)ÆzZðÏ(Ã**Ç™ä~¹ic*Š{Zog�Å¢zg]ìXHt»°ŠØZg7ì?

ËVÆa½
ZÃJÆâ1CÂx 2018 îg~»Ã̀wÆçÙZk**]ZzgZkÐ00*ŒÆgŠ¿6,¹Z®g™@*ìX

Å«�„)†g~@*�Ñð(~ŒÛçVÅ 2019 ÆZ!x6,ÂÄigÆ?ƒZzgñ�Š{‚w 2018 Y,̂{Æ_.ÔŠc

†VÆŠz!*g{çÅgZ{ûZgÅ̂X

ZkÐ{ØÎŠ~Wæã~4~W$ËìZzgZk§bo«Zzgîg~ÆÅ̂ŒÛnZŠZ™äÅ&¢A4ƒÏXŠzu~§s
tŒÛnhezZßVÅZŠZ5Å&¢AÃvyŠ}$ËìZzgZk§b™i+^g‹~ZŸ†ƒÇX
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ñŠKÅzzÐå�yZ[ƒäzZàZâñpgŠzâlÅ†V~F,'g»zIVÅzzÐ!~ÐZŸ†ƒZXëÂµ™D�
Æ2020 ‚J-gìÏX²‚w 11.0 ÆŠzgZyZz¹ CY20 ÆŠzgZyZ�ÛZoigÅÑb—gìÏZzg 2020 �âà‚w
Æ2020 ‚J-g�Å&4jè FGIEÍðÅˆìX&4jè FGIEÍð”{Z�ÛZpigÃªk™DƒñÔëÂµ™D��âga 9.5 ŠzgZyt

. Ẑ�ÛZpigÅÑb~’gó¶W**ÑzqƒYñÏ

)±igIŠ!
teZ°J-(,|`�X 15.58 ZµezCJ)Z}e~!(ÐŒÛnqÝ™äÆˆ0*ÎyÆigIŠ!Æf{],

teZ°Æ{Ø)± 7.3 T~ˆgCËVÆ0*kñ�Š . teZ°gkgeK‰� 15.58 ±ù¦igIŠ!Æf{],
f{],�áï�X¢ÔÎZŅ̃Zòâ1C-ZzgZµe-CJ)Z}e~!(ÐŒÛ2qÝ™äÆˆ0*ÎyÆ)±f{],

WðZ*ZpäÂW”{-ÅœªÆ�¬„0*ÎyÆnZq-Zg[eZ°Yg~K¸Xt . ~ZŸ†ƒ**ÑzqƒŠHå
ÂWðZ*Zpñ�Š{âà‚wÆŠzgZyZq-�eZ°ÅŠzu~mYg~ . êHŠHB�Z¤/0*Îy-iÆ‚!£gÃ7gZ™@*ì

�eZ°qÝ™[ìX¢äÓ#Ö0*Îy 500 ™Š}ÇXZÃJMs0*Îy¬„¢Ð-iÅ�ÛZbÅßg]~

Zg[eZ°ZÃJMs0*ÎyÆZ»ƒ.$~gpp»z°{HåX 3 ÅŠgpZ„6,

Ó#ÖäoÆigIŠ!Æf{],Ã(,Jä . ziZg]�Z:ÆÇh+ZgzVÆ_.ÔWäzZá̧V~f{],~'×h+ZŸ†ƒÇ
ÆnÎZŅ̃ZòâgLÐz‚bZ‰™äÆn¾æC!*&+iZzgju)Zsò!*&+(Yg~™ä»êHìX

™́âgL
~ÔÓ#ÖäÂed«Ãgz1Æˆ¼çÙZ@ZsqÝK�Zzg(,~»x!Ð(,_ƒñ™.$Z»ƒ.$Zzg 2019

PÄg}ÃNzwHX6)±ŒÛ2á™)±f{],~4~ÑðˆÔ6LÃ&Îæ
J

iZzgËuJ-',WæZ]~ZŸ†ƒZX@*ë
R,g 1.7 Ó#Ö(,fƒðZ�ÛZoigÅÑbÃ‡1™äZzgLzßàÆZ@ZsÃqÝ™ä~**»xg„ZzgZ(Š3ðŠêì�

Æu°ŒÛ2ÐÖÆaÃð‡&ÿELZOŠµ/7ìX

~ÎŠÅÑbÆ(,_ƒñgDyÃŠN™ÔËVÆntZq-4#-.ð G
Eµå�z{ˆ[Â[ÃµgppÆa* 19 âà‚w

7g^̄C»g™DZzg7g^̄CÃo«~ps™DX
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eZ],Ig7g^',ZñÑZ•ŠZgZy)‰c*§y(
YÃZ!x5+k,ƒäzZá‚wÆMe^”{ÍØZg}ZzgZyÐ 2019 Šc31 ZöZ*Z~JÅMVgz,‚Ñ:g7g^;

0Me^g7g^7™DƒñëZ•ðä]Ck™gì�X

ZOŠ~Y,̂{:
™g@Å7»Z�ágt:Z�ÛZoigZzgâgLÅÂµ

ñ�Š{Ó#ÖÅ§sÐZëñh6,ñ�Š0*ÎyuÃÂqÑ]Ð!*CÙï%zZà0*ŒÆ�ÅYäzZàÃlxMzg
‚ƒŠHìX@*ë)z‰ÜÆ¥s 8.9 7[c* 3.45 U*"$ƒg„�XZ¤/pPÄg{MJ‚wÅ—F,+R6,ìZzgt(,|™

Æ§i»gÆ�(LÅãCŠ6,¯ñ‰Š*zm,Z]~ZŸ±ÅÃ@VZzg�{ZOxzÈznì)±™́ÅKúÅôZã
(ic*Š{zZãÃM**ÑzqƒYNÐX 2019 »XiƒYä6,)ZÆ', FATF ZzgZm4F,c]ÆZW,Z]

g„1 12.63Ð12.7 0*ÎyÆZŠZg{Ñgc*]Åg7g^Æ_.Z¤/pŠc~0*Îy~Z�ÛZ¹igÅÑb©à¶Æ‚B
QÌZ�ÛZ¹igâ‚wÅ—F,+RÃgg„ìX'×h+',MVZ�ÛZ¹ig»�(Z�ágt',ZñZŸ°7Æ�HŠHZkÆ_.

‚Ág„X 0.34 Z�ÛZ¹igÔâ{Æ£«~

Yg~™Š{g7g^Æ_.Šc~ZâYpgŠzâlÅ†V~ZŸ†Z�ÛZ¹igÅƒÐ(,~zzìtÌŠ¬ŠH�à~´̧VÅ
16.7 ÚŠ„´̧V~¢zg~½ZðZâYÅ©ic*Š{�XŠcÆ¹~à~´̧V~½ZðZ�ÛZ¹ig~‚Ñ:ÅãCŠ6,

‚¶ƒðX 1.1 ‚ZŸ†Zzg 19.7 ‚Å¶zZµƒðX²Š„´̧V~ 1.7 ‚ZŸ†ƒZpâ;:ÅãCŠ6,

0*Œ3,pV~ZŸ±Æ . ÆŠzgZyZ�ÛZpig6,‡10*äÆnL)0*GZg(ZŠZâ]™Cg„ì 2019 â1CZågKâà‚w
tZW,Z]Zzg¬@R6,pgZuZzg%Å†V~¶ÔZ�ÛZoigÅgzuåx~µp~WäÅZyìXZyµZŠZâ]Æ
!*z�ŠÔi§IŠ!ÅÑb~¶Ô’ZzgðÆ3,pV~ZŸ†ZzgÓ#Ö»Zö!8Ðic*Š{ŒÛçV»”wÔZ�ÛZoig6,Š!*ƒÅzz0

‚ÆŒÛd$g�ÅÂµìX 8.5 ÆŠzgZyZz‰Z�ÛZoig 2020D2019 YìXZkÚø~‚w

Zk|Æ!*z�Š�(,}eä6,™́Zi+óÅˆìÔÔ‚w-"5Í-ö
HGH‘)’Ôð(Å†V~p~»q-zzŠ_Ã

~Ï8Wðgi+8-ÅR—„g„Xt 2020 Ðâà‚w base effect post recent basin ',ŠZ“™**7,ŠHZzg—
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Shareholding Patter n

The pattern of  shareholiding as at December 31, 2019 is given below ;

Sr. # Categories of  Shareholders No. of  Share holders Shares held Percentage
1
2
3

Federal Government
Banks
Individuals  (Directors)

1
6
7

224,615,978
 14,634,715 

7

93.88
6.12

-
Total 14 239,250,700 100

	
Government of  Pakistan is the only shareholder holding 10% or more voting interests.
Position of  shareholding by each director is as under:

Name of  Directors	 Shares held

1	 Mr.  Dilshad Ali Ahmad	 01

2	 Mr.  Muhammad Arshad Khan (retired since January 16, 2019)	 01

3	 Mr.  Muhammad Adnan Jalil (retired since December 20, 2018)	 01

4	 Mr.  Badr-ul-Arifeen (retired since February 01, 2019)	 01

5	 Mr.  Sher Ayub Khan (retired since March 28, 2019)	 01

5	 Mr.  Majyd Aziz Balagamwala (retired since Jan 23, 2013)	 01

7	 Mr.  Zahid Oosman (retired since March 06, 2014)	 01
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Statement of  Compliance
with Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

SCHEDULE I
[See paragraph 2(1)]

I.	 This statement is being presented to comply with Regulation G-1 of  the Prudential Regulations 
for Corporate/ Commercial Banking issued by the State Bank of  Pakistan and the Public Sector 
Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013 (hereinafter called “the Rules”) issued for the 
purpose of  establishing a framework of  good governance, whereby a public sector company is 
managed in compliance with the best practices of  public sector governance.

II.	 SME Bank Ltd (the Bank) has complied with the provisions of  the Rules in the following manner:

Sr. 
No. Provision of  the Rules Rule 

No.
Y N Remarks

Tick the relevant box

1. The independent directors meet the criteria 
of  independence, as defined under the Rules.

2(d) Not Applicable as the Board remained 
un-functional during year 2019 due 
to six vacant position of  directors.         
(2 independent and 4 non-executive 
directors)

2. The Board has the requisite percentage of  
independent directors. At present the board 
includes:

Category Names Date of  ap-
pointment

Independent 
Directors

- -

Executive 
Directors

Mr. Dilshad 
Ali Ahmad

16-10-2018

Non-
Executive 
Directors

- -

3(2) P Board of  the Bank consist of  seven 
directors. Due to seven members 
board the bank requires minimum 
2 independent directors 4 non-
executive directors and 1 executive 
director. Position of  independent 
and non-executive directors remained 
vacant throughout the year. 

3. The directors have confirmed that none of  
them is serving as a director on more than five 
public sector companies and listed companies 
simultaneously, except their subsidiaries.

3(5) P

NIL

4. The appointing authorities have applied the 
fit and proper criteria given in the Annexure 
in making nominations of  the persons 
for election as board members under the 
provisions of  the Act.

3(7) P All the nominations on the Board 
of  Directors are made by the GoP. 
The appointing authorities apply the 
fit and proper criteria given in the 
Annexure in making nominations 
of  the persons for election as board 
members under the provisions of  the 
Act
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5. The chairman of  the board is working 
separately from the chief  executive of  the 
Bank.

4(1) P As per MoF Notification # F.2(7)
IF-III/2001-68 dated January 25, 
2018 that President has been directed 
to Chair the meetings of  BoD till 
completion of  privatization of  SME 
Bank Ltd. 

6. The chairman has been elected  by the 
Board of  directors except where Chairman 
of  the Board has been appointed by the 
Government.

4(4) P As per MoF Notification # F.2(7)IF-
III/2001-68 dated January 25, 2018 
that President has been directed 
to Chair the meetings of  BoD till 
completion of  privatization of  SME 
Bank Ltd. However, otherwise the 
chairman of  the board is elected by 
the Board of  Directors of  the Bank.

7. The Board has evaluated the candidates for 
the position of  the chief  executive on the 
basis of  the fit and proper criteria as well as 
the guidelines specified by the Commission. 
(Not applicable where the chief  executive has 
been nominated by the Government) 

5(2) N/A

8. (a) The Bank has prepared a “Code of  
Conduct” to ensure that professional 
standards and corporate values are in place.  
(b) The Board has ensured that appropriate 
steps have been taken to disseminate it 
throughout the Bank along with its supporting 
policies and procedures, including posting the 
same on the Bank’s website.  (www.smebank.
org)  
(c) The Board has set in place adequate 
systems and controls for the identification 
and redressal of  grievances arising from 
unethical practices.   

5(4) P

P

P

9. The Board has established a system of  sound 
internal control, to ensure compliance with 
the fundamental principles of  probity and 
propriety; objectivity, integrity and honesty; 
and relationship with the stakeholders, in the 
manner prescribed in the Rules

5(5) P

10. The Board has developed and enforced an 
appropriate conflict of  interest policy to lay 
down circumstances or considerations when 
a person may be deemed to have actual 
or potential conflict of  interests, and the 
procedure for disclosing such interest.

5(5)(b)
(ii)

P

11. The Board has developed and implemented a 
policy on anti-corruption to minimize actual 
or perceived corruption in the Bank.

5(5)(b) 
(vi)

P
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12. The Board has ensured equality of  opportunity 
by establishing open and fair procedures for 
making appointments and for determining 
terms and conditions of  service.

5(5)(c)
(ii)

P

13. The Board has ensured compliance with the 
law as well as the Bank’s internal rules and 
procedures relating to public procurement, 
tender regulations, and purchasing and 
technical standards, when dealing with 
suppliers of  goods and services. 

5(5)(c)
(iii)

P

14. The Board has developed a vision or mission 
statement and corporate strategy of  the Bank. 

5(6) P

15 The Board has developed significant policies 
of  the Bank. A complete record of  particulars 
of  significant policies along with the dates on 
which they were approved or amended, has 
been maintained. 

5(7) P

16. The board has quantified the outlay of  any 
action in respect of  any service delivered or 
goods sold by the Bank as a public service 
obligation, and have submitted its request for 
appropriate compensation to the Government 
for consideration.

5(8) N/A

17. The Board has ensured compliance with 
policy directions requirements received from 
the Government.

5(11) P Although the Board remained 
un-functional during the current 
year, all policy directions from 
the government have been fully 
complied with by the approval of  the 
Risk Management Committee and 
Management Committee. As soon 
as the board resumes the function 
it shall ratify all actions performed 
to implement those government 
directions. 

18. a)	 The board has met at least four times 
during the year.

b)	 Written notices of  the board meetings, 
along with agenda and working papers, 
were circulated at least seven days before 
the meetings.

c)	 The minutes of  the meetings were 
appropriately recorded and circulated.

6(1)
6(2)

6(3)

P

P

P

a) No board meeting was held in 
year 2019 due to unfilled 6 vacant 
positions of  the board to be filled 
by GoP.
b) Written notices of  the board 
meeting along with agenda and 
working papers were circulated at 
least seven days before the meeting 
whenever meeting was scheduled in 
past. However during the year 2019 
no meeting could be scheduled due 
to unfilled six vacant positions by 
the GoP out of  seven member’s 
board.
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19. The Board has monitored and assessed 
the performance of  senior management 
on annual/half-yearly/quarterly basis* and 
held them accountable for accomplishing 
objectives, goals and key performance 
indicators set for this purpose.  
*Strike out whichever is not applicable  

8 (2) P No board meeting was held in year 
2019 due to six vacant position of  
board of  directors (2 independent 
and 4 non-executive directors).

20. The board has reviewed and approved the 
related party transactions placed before it after 
recommendations of  the audit committee. A 
party wise record of  transactions entered into 
with the related parties during the year has 
been maintained.

9 P No board meeting was held in year 
2019 due to six vacant position of  
board of  directors( 2 independent 
and 4 non-executive directors).

21. (a) The Board has approved the profit and 
loss account for, and balance sheet as at the 
end of, the first, second and third quarter of  
the year as well as the financial year end.  
(b)In case of  listed PSCs, the Board has 
prepared half  yearly accounts and undertaken 
limited scope review by the auditors.
(c)The Board has placed the annual financial 
statements on the Bank’s website.   

10

N/A

P

P

No board meeting was held in year 
2019 due to six vacant position of  
board of  directors (2 independent 
and 4 non-executive directors).

22.
All the board members underwent an 
orientation course arranged by the Bank to 
apprise them of  the material developments 
and information as specified in the Rules.

11 P Orientation Course was not arranged 
by the Bank due to six vacant 
positions of  board of  directors (2 
independent and 4 non-executive 
directors). .
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23. a)	 The board has formed the requisite 
committees, as specified in the Rules.

b)	 The committees were provided with 
written term of  reference defining their 
duties, authority and composition.

c)	 The minutes of  the meetings of  the 
committees were circulated to all the 
board members.

d)	 The committees were chaired by the 
following non-executive directors:

Committee Number of  
members

Name 
of  Chair

Audit Committee Nil Nil
Human Resource 
Committee

Nil Nil

Procurement 
Committee

Nil Nil

Nomination 
Committee

Nil Nil

Risk Management 
Committee

Nil Nil

12 P

P

P

P

All the required Committee were 
intact when Board was functional 
but due to six vacant positions of  
board of  directors 2 independent 
and 4 non-executive directors the 
committees could not be kept 
remained     in the field during the 
year 2019.  

24. The Board has approved appointment of  
Chief  Financial Officer, Bank Secretary and 
Chief  Internal Auditor, by whatever name 
called, with their remuneration and terms and 
conditions of  employment.

13 P

25. The Chief  Financial Officer and the Bank 
Secretary have requisite qualification 
prescribed in the Rules

14 P

26. The Bank has adopted International 
Financial Reporting Standards notified by the 
Commission in terms of  sub-section (1) of  
section 225 of  the Act. 

16 P

27. The directors’ report for this year has been 
prepared in compliance with the requirements 
of  the Act and the Rules and fully describes 
the salient matters required to be disclosed. 

17 P

28. The directors, CEO and executives, or 
their relatives, are not, directly or indirectly, 
concerned or interested in any contract or 
arrangement entered into by or on behalf  of  
the Bank except those disclosed to the Bank.

18 P
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29. (a) A formal and transparent procedure for 
fixing the remuneration packages of  individual 
directors has been set in place and no director 
is involved in deciding his own remuneration. 
(b) The annual report of  the Bank contains 
criteria and details of  remuneration of  each 
director.

19 P

P

30. The financial statements of  the Bank were 
duly endorsed by the chief  executive and 
chief  financial officer before consideration 
and approval of  the audit committee and the 
Board.

20 P . . 

31. The board has formed an audit committee, 
with defined and written terms of  reference, 
and having the following members:

Name of  
member

Category Professional 
background

The chief  executive and chairman of  
the Board are not members of  the audit 
committee.

21 (1) 
and 

21(2)

P The required Committee was intact 
when Board was functional but due 
to six vacant positions of  board of  
directors 2 independent and 4 non-
executive directors; the committee 
could not be kept remained     in the 
field during the year 2019.  
.

32 (a) The chief  financial officer, the chief  
internal auditor, and a representative of  the 
external auditors attended all meetings of  the 
audit committee at which issues relating to 
accounts and audit were discussed.  
(b) The audit committee met the external 
auditors, at least once a year, without the 
presence of  the chief  financial officer, the 
chief  internal auditor and other executives.  
(c) The audit committee met the chief  internal 
auditor and other members of  the internal 
audit function, at least once a year, without 
the presence of  chief  financial officer and the 
external auditors.

21(3) P

P

P

Due to six vacant positions of  
board of  directors 2 independent 
and 4 non-executive directors 
the committee could not be kept 
remained     in the field during the 
year 2019. Resultantly no meeting 
of  Board Audit Committee could 
be conducted during the year 2019. 
.

33. (a) The Board has set up an effective internal 
audit function, which has an audit charter, 
duly approved by the audit committee.  
(b) The chief  internal auditor has requisite 
qualification and experience prescribed in the 
Rules.  
(c) The internal audit reports have been 
provided to the external auditors for their 
review. 

22 P

P
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34. The external auditors of  the Bank have 
confirmed that the firm and all its partners are 
in compliance with International Federation 
of  Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on Code 
of  Ethics as applicable in Pakistan.

23(4) P

35. The auditors have confirmed that they have 
observed applicable guidelines issued by 
IFAC with regard to provision of  non-audit 
services.  

23(5) P

								      
____________________				    ________________
CEO			                Independent Director
Dilshad Ali Ahmad				    Omer Farooq
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Explanation for  Non-Compliance 
with Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

We confirm that all other material requirements envisaged in the Rules have been complied with except 
for the following, toward which reasonable progress is being made by the company to seek compliance 
by the end of  next accounting year:

Sr. 
No.

Rule / 
sub-rule 

no.
Reasons for non- compliance Future course of  action

1. 3(2) Board of  the Bank consist of  seven directors. 
Due to seven members board the bank requires 
minimum 2 independent directors 4 non-executive 
directors and 1 executive director. Position of  in-
dependent and non-executive directors remained 
vacant throughout the year. 

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited

2. 4(1) As per MoF Notification # F.2(7)IF-III/2001-68 
dated January 25, 2018 that President has been di-
rected to Chair the meetings of  BoD till comple-
tion of  privatization of  SME Bank Ltd.

Appointed by Federal Gov-
ernment.

3 6(1) a) No board meeting was held in year 2019 due 
to unfilled 6 vacant positions of  the board to be 
filled by GoP.

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

4 6(2) b) Written notices of  the board meeting along with 
agenda and working papers were circulated at least 
seven days before the meeting whenever meeting 
was scheduled in past. However during the year 
2019 no meeting could be scheduled due to un-
filled six vacant positions by the GoP out of  seven 
member’s board.

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

5 6(3) However during the year 2019 no meeting could 
be scheduled due to unfilled six vacant positions 
by the GoP out of  seven member’s board.

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

6 8(2) No board meeting was held in year 2019 due to six 
vacant position of  board of  directors 2 indepen-
dent and 4 non-executive directors.

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

7 9 No board meeting was held in year 2019 due to six 
vacant position of  board of  directors 2 indepen-
dent and 4 non-executive directors.

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

8 10 No board meeting was held in year 2019 due to six 
vacant position of  board of  directors 2 indepen-
dent and 4 non-executive directors.

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

9 11 Orientation Course was not arranged by the Bank 
due to six vacant positions of  board of  directors 2 
independent and 4 non-executive directors. 

Bank will arrange the Orienta-
tion course in future. 
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10 12 All the required Committee were intact when 
Board was functional but due to six vacant posi-
tions of  board of  directors 2 independent and 4 
non-executive directors the committees could not 
be kept remained in the field during the year 2019.  

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

11 21 (1) and 
21 (2)

Due to six vacant positions of  board of  directors 
2 independent and 4 non-executive directors the 
committee could not be kept remained     in the 
field during the year 2019. Resultantly no meeting 
of  Board Audit Committee could be conducted 
during the year 2019.

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

16 21(3) No Board meeting was held in year 2019 due to 
incomplete quorum.

Appointment by Federal 
Government is awaited.

____________________							      ________________
CEO			   Independent Director
Dilshad Ali Ahmad			   Omer Farooq
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The management of  SME Bank recognizes its responsibility to establish and maintain a sound system 
of  internal controls to provide reasonable assurance to achieve the following objectives. 

•	 Efficiency and effectiveness of  operations
•	 Compliance with applicable laws and regulations
•	 Reliability of  financial reporting 

The internal control system encompasses policies and procedures relating to all processes, products 
and activities of  the Bank’s operations. The internal control policies and procedures are being reviewed 
by an independent internal audit function reporting directly to the Audit Committee of  the Board of  
Director.

In management’s assessment, these systems, policies and procedures provide reasonable assurance 
as to the integrity and reliability of  those controls and reports produced thereon. It recognizes the 
fact that these system are designed to mitigate and manage, rather than eliminate the risk of  failure to 
achieve business objectives.

The board is fully committed to ensure the existence of  an effective system of  internal control and 
risk management and continuously reviews and evaluates the adequacy and integrity of  those systems. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) aims to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of  financial reporting and the preparation of  financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting standards. We have endeavored to follow the guide-
lines issued by State Bank of  Pakistan on Internal Control. 

State Bank of  Pakistan has granted exemption to SME Bank Ltd from submitting Long Form Report 
by its Statutory Auditors, with the condition that if  any material gap on bank’s ICFR are reported by 
its inspection team/or Board Audit Committee ,then this exemption will be revoked. The SBP also 
advised to submit the Annual Assessment report on efficacy of  ICFR through Board Audit committee 
to OSED. 

Moreover SBP also advised to apprise its Board of  Directors to take ownership of  ICFR and Board 
Audit Committee to monitor progress and submit a detailed quarterly progress report regarding bridg-
ing of  gaps to SBP 

The Bank has revised the internal control policy in the year 2015 which emphasis that Management of  
the bank is responsible for maintaining a suitable system of  ICFR that provides reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of  financial reporting. The management should use a top down, risk-based 
approach, including the entity level and activity level controls in assessing financial reporting risks and 
the adequacy of  controls

Chief  Financial Officer

Statement of  Inter nal  Control
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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Review Report to the Members on Statement of  Compliance 
with the Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of  Compliance with the best practices contained in the 
Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013 (the Rules) prepared by the Board of  
Directors (the Board) of  SME Bank Limited (“the Bank”) for the year ended December 31, 2019 
to comply with Regulation G-1 of  the Prudential regulation for Corporate/Commercial Banking 
issued by State Bank of  Pakistan and the requirements of  the provisions of  Public Sector Companies 
(Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013. 

The responsibility for compliance with the Rules is that of  the Board of  the Bank. Our responsibility 
is to review, to the extent where such compliance can be objectively verified, whether the Statement of  
Compliance reflects the status of  the Bank’s compliance with the provisions of  the Rules and report 
if  it does not, and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of  the Rules. A review is 
limited primarily to inquiries of  the Bank’s personnel and review of  various documents prepared by 
the Bank to comply with the Rules.

As a part of  our audit of  the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of  the 
accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit 
approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statement on internal control covers 
all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of  such internal controls, the Bank’s 
corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Rules requires the Bank to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation 
of  the Audit Committee, place before the Board for their review and approval of  its related party 
transactions distinguishing between transactions carried out on terms equivalent to those that prevail 
in arm’s length transactions and transactions which are not executed at arm’s length price and recording 
proper justification for using such alternate pricing mechanism. We are only required and have ensured 
compliance of  this requirement to the extent of  the approval of  the related party transactions by 
the Board upon recommendation of  the Audit Committee. We have not carried out any procedures 
to determine whether the related party transactions were undertaken at arm’s length price or not. 
Moreover, the Rules also requires the Board to ensure compliance with the law as well as the Bank’s 
internal rules and procedures relating to public procurement, tender regulations, and purchasing 
and technical standards, when dealing with suppliers of  goods and services, in accordance with the 
PPRA Rules. We have not carried out any procedures to verify the compliance with the above stated 
requirements of  PPRA Rules.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that the Statement 
of  Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Bank’s compliance, in all material aspects with the 
best practices contained in the Rules as applicable to the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2019.

GRANT THORNTON ANJUM RAHMAN
Chartered Accountants
Audit Engagement Partner: Hassan Riaz
Islamabad
Date: July 25, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the members of  SME Bank Limited

Report on the Audit of  the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of  SME Bank Limited (the Bank), 
which comprise the unconsolidated statement of  financial position as at December 31, 2019, and 
unconsolidated profit and loss account, unconsolidated statement of  comprehensive income, the 
unconsolidated statement of  changes in equity and the unconsolidated statement of  cash flows for 
the year then ended, along with unaudited certified returns received from the branches except for 
nine branches which have been audited by us and notes to the unconsolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of  significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and we state 
that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of  our knowledge and 
belief, were necessary for the purposes of  the audit.

In our opinion, except for the effects of  the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section 
of  our report, and to the best of  our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the unconsolidated statement of  financial position, unconsolidated profit and loss account and 
unconsolidated statement of  comprehensive income, unconsolidated statement of  changes in equity 
and unconsolidated statement of  cash flows together with the notes forming part thereof  conform 
with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the information required 
by the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of  2017), in the 
manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of  the state of  the Bank’s affairs as at 
December 31, 2019 and of  the loss and other comprehensive loss, the changes in equity and its cash 
flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

a)	 The Bank has investment in SME Leasing Limited (SMEL) which is carried in these unconsolidated 
financial statements at Rs. 80.748 million (net of  provision of  Rs. 134.709) and has outstanding 
running finance exposure of  Rs. 142.156 million at the reporting date. SMEL continues to operate 
on a net loss basis and therefore the recoverability of  investment and running finance exposure 
is doubtful. Accordingly, we are unable to determine the extent of  impairment that might be 
necessary to be recorded against the current carrying values of  investment and running finance 
exposure and its possible effect on current year losses and accumulated losses; 

b)	 Deferred tax asset of  Rs. 752.294 million has been recognized on the basis of  expected profits 
arising from future privatization of  the Bank as described in Note 13 to the unconsolidated 
financial statements which we have not been able to verify. Advance income tax includes refunds 
aggregating to Rs. 232.599 million for tax years 2003 and 2004. These refunds were recorded on 
the basis of  an order of  the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue dated February 10, 2011 whereby 
provision for doubtful debts was allowed to be taken as a deductible expense. The issue of  
allowing provision for doubtful debts as an expense, in the case of  another bank, was successfully 
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challenged by tax department in the Islamabad High Court. The High Court rules in favor of  
the tax department through its order dated March 13, 2018 which has also been upheld by the 
Supreme Court of  Pakistan through its order dated June 05, 2018 due to which the bank has no 
legal basis to continue to recognize the receivable as an asset; and

c)	 As explained in Note 10.3, the loan portfolios of  Small Business Finance Corporation (SBFC) 
and Regional Development Finance Corporation (RDFC) was transferred to National Bank of  
Pakistan due to envisaged privatization of  the Bank, however, the portfolio continues to appear 
as an asset in the books of  the Bank.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable 
in Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of  the Financial Statements section of  our report. We are independent 
of  the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of  
Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of  the Chartered Accountants of  
Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Material uncertainties relating to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 6.2 to the unconsolidated financial statements which describes that during the 
current year the Bank incurred a net loss of  Rs. 1,072.309 million (2018: Rs. 825.938 million) resulting 
into accumulated losses of  Rs. 4,811.162 million (2018: Rs. 3,857.090 million). As of  December 31, 
2019, the reporting date, the total liabilities of  the Bank have exceeded its total assets by Rs. 2,512.445 
million (2018: Rs. 1,693.862) indicating the negative equity and due to surplus of  current demand 
liabilities over its total unencumbered current liquid assets creating a negative working capital of  Rs. 
7.859 billion (2018: Rs. 7.267 billion) which indicates the Bank’s inadequate capacity to ensure the timely 
repayments. Due to cash inadequacy the Bank was unable to meet the statutory solvency requirements 
of  minimum capital (MCR) of  Rs. 10,000 million and the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of  10% and 
has failed on multiple times in maintaining the minimum statutory liquidity requirement (SLR) in first 
half  of  current year. Due to continued stressed financial conditions the Bank’s credit rating fell from B 
negative (single B-) to CCC. Based on the operational results SBP granted exemption from meeting the 
MCR and CAR up to December 31, 2019 or restructuring/privatization, whichever is earlier, subject 
to submission of  a concrete plan from the Ministry of  Finance (MoF) to provide a firm commitment 
to inject the required amount of  capital funds in the Bank, if  its privatization does not materialize by 
March 31, 2020. As stated in note 6.2, these conditions indicate the existence of  a material uncertainty 
that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of  this matter. 

Emphasis of  matter 

We draw attention to note 14.3 to the unconsolidated financial statements, which describes in detail 
the status of  possession of  property at Lahore. Our opinion is not modified in respect of  this matter.
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Information Other than the Unconsolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report 
Thereon

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the unconsolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the unconsolidated financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of  assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of  unconsolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the unconsolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of  this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of  Management and the Board of  Directors for the Unconsolidated Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of  the unconsolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan, the 
requirements of  Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of  2017) 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of  
unconsolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the unconsolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of  accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The board of  directors is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of  the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the unconsolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of  assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of  users taken on the basis of  these unconsolidated financial statements.

As part of  an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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•	 Identify and assess the risks of  material misstatement of  the unconsolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of  not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of  internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of  internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of  expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of  the Bank’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of  accounting policies used and the reasonableness of  accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of  management’s use of  the going concern basis of  accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If  we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the unconsolidated financial statements or, if  such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of  our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of  the unconsolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the unconsolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of  Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of  the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a)	 proper books of  account have been kept by the Bank/branches as required by the Companies 
Act, 2017 (XIX of  2017) and the returns referred above from the branches have been found 
adequate for the purpose of  our audit;

b)	 the unconsolidated statement of  financial position, the unconsolidated profit and loss account, 
the unconsolidated statement of  comprehensive income, unconsolidated statement of  changes 
in equity and unconsolidated statement of  cash flows together with the notes thereon have been 
drawn up in conformity with the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 and the Companies Act, 
2017(XIX of  2017) and are in agreement with the books of  account and returns;
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c)	 investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were in 
accordance with the objects and powers of  the Bank/ branches and the transactions of  the Bank/ 
branches which have come to our notice have been within the powers of  the Bank/branches; and

d)	 zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of  1980), was 
deducted by the Bank and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of  that 
Ordinance.

We confirm that for the purpose of  our audit we have covered more than sixty per cent of  the total 
loans and advances of  the Bank.

Engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Hassan Riaz

GRANT THORNTON ANJUM RAHMAN
Chartered Accountants
Islamabad
July 25, 2020
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at  December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018
Note

ASSETS
Cash and balances with treasury banks 7 650,565                 443,839                 
Balances with other banks 8 4,537                     16,238                  
Lendings to financial institutions -                        -                        
Investments 9 5,739,975              5,765,155              
Advances 10 1,907,995              2,230,763              
Fixed assets 11 532,112                  55,376                  
Intangible assets 12 1,331                     2,401                    
Deferred tax assets - net 13 752,294                 525,695                 
Other assets 14 563,192                 599,029                 

10,152,001             9,638,496              
 LIABILITIES

Bills payable 15 51,543                   118,788                 
Borrowings 16 3,654,771              4,739,895              
Deposits and other accounts 17 7,500,708              5,721,008              
Liability against assets subject to finance lease -                        -                        
Sub-ordinated loans -                        -                        
Deferred tax liabilities -                        -                        
Other liabilities 18 1,457,424              752,667                 

12,664,446             11,332,358            
NET LIABILITIES (2,512,445)             (1,693,862)             

REPRESENTED BY
Share capital 19 2,392,507              2,392,507              
Reserves 206,526                 206,526                 
Deficit on revaluation of assets - net of tax 20 (300,316)                (435,805)               
Unappropriated loss (4,811,162)              (3,857,090)             

(2,512,445)             (1,693,862)             

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 21
 

(Rupees in '000)

The annexed notes from 1 to 43 and annexure-I form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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UNCONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018
Note

Mark-up/return/interest earned 22 776,306                741,444                 
Mark-up/return/interest expensed 23 1,149,619              723,660                 
Net mark-up/interest (loss)/income (373,313)               17,784                   

NON MARK-UP/INTEREST INCOME

Fee and commission income 24 9,933                    9,441                     
Dividend income 2,247                    456                        
Foreign exchange income -                        -                        
Income/(loss) from derivatives -                        -                        
Gain on securities 25 7                           1,001                     
Other income 26 980                       1,219                     
Total non-markup/interest income 13,167                   12,117                   

Total (loss)/income (360,146)               29,901                   

NON MARK-UP/INTEREST EXPENSES

Operating expenses 27 877,195                 839,127                 
Workers Welfare Fund                                        -                        -                        
Other charges 28 69,426                  2,254                     
Total non-markup/interest expenses 946,621                 841,381                 
Loss before provisions (1,306,767)            (811,480)                
Provisions and write offs - net 29 (19,358)                 64,796                   

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (1,287,409)            (876,276)                

Taxation 30 (215,100)                (50,338)                  

LOSS AFTER TAXATION (1,072,309)            (825,938)                

Basic/diluted (loss) per share (rupees) 31 (4.48)                     (3.45)                      

(Rupees in '000)

The annexed notes from 1 to 43 and annexure-I form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018

Net loss after taxation (1,072,309)    (825,938)        
Other comprehensive income

135,489         (407,825)        

118,237         (25,754)          
Total comprehensive loss (818,583)       (1,259,517)     

The annexed notes from 1 to 43 and annexure-I form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Items that will not be reclassified to 
profit and loss account in subsequently periods:
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligations - net

 (Rupees in '000) 

Items that may be reclassified to 
profit and loss account in subsequently periods:
Movement in deficit on revaluation of investment - net 

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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UNCONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

 2019 

Note
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Loss before taxation (1,287,409)        (876,276)            
   Less: Dividend income (2,247)               (456)                  

(1,289,656)        (876,732)            
Adjustments:
   Depreciation 70,687              20,596               
   Amortization 1,296                1,186                 
   Interest on leased liability 67,337              -                    
   Provision and write-offs 29 (19,358)             64,796               
   Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets 32                     (236)                  
   Finance charges on leased assets -                   -                    

119,994             86,342               
(1,169,662)         (790,390)            

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets
   Lending's to financial institutions -                   -                    
   Held-for-trading securities -                   -                    
   Advances 322,140             254,587             
   Other assets (excluding advance taxation) 20,407              (4,216)                

342,547            250,371             
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities
   Bills payable (67,245)             26,234               
   Borrowings from financial institutions (1,085,124)         (568,420)            
   Deposits 1,779,700          377,353             
   Other liabilities (excluding current taxation) 284,238            41,998               

911,569             (122,835)            
84,454              (662,854)            

Income tax paid (2,627)               (1,980)                
Net cash flow (used in)/from operating activities 81,827              (664,834)            
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
   Net disinvestment in available-for-sale securities 180,455             192,415             
   Net disinvestment in held-to-maturity securities -                   500,000             
   Dividend received 2,247                456                    
   Investment in operating fixed assets (731)                  (15,364)              
   Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 768                   292                    
Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities 182,739             677,799             
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
   Payment of lease liabilities (69,541)             -                    
Net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities (69,541)             -                    
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 195,025             12,965               
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 460,077            447,112             
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 32 655,102             460,077             

(Rupees in '000)

2018

The annexed notes from 1 to 43 and annexure-I form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN EQUITY
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

 Share capital  Statutory 
reserve 

 Surplus/(deficit) 
on revaluation of 

Investments 

 Unappropriated 
loss  Total 

(Rupees in '000)
Balance as at January 01, 2018 2,392,507     206,526    (27,980)                    (3,005,398)              (434,345)       

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 -                -            -                           (825,938)                 (825,938)       
Other comprehensive income - net -                -            (407,825)                   (25,754)                   (433,579)       

Balance as at December 31, 2018 2,392,507     206,526    (435,805)                  (3,857,090)              (1,693,862)    
Total comprehensive income for the 
year ended December 31, 2019
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 -                -            -                           (1,072,309)               (1,072,309)     
Other comprehensive income - net -                -            135,489                    118,237                   253,726         
Balance as at December 31, 2019 2,392,507     206,526    (300,316)                  (4,811,162)               (2,512,445)    

Total comprehensive income for the year ended 
December 31, 2018

The annexed notes from 1 to 43 and annexure-I form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

1	 GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1	 SME Bank Limited (the Bank) is a public limited company incorporated in Pakistan on 
October 30, 2001 under the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984 having its registered office 
at 56-F, Nazim-ud-Din Road, F-6/1, Blue Area Islamabad. The Bank obtained its business 
commencement certificate on April 16, 2005 which became effective from the date of  its issue. 
The Bank is a scheduled commercial bank engaged in the business of  banking with the primary 
objective to support and develop small and medium enterprise (SME) sector in Pakistan by 
providing necessary financial assistance and business support services on sustainable basis. 
The Bank is operating through a network of   13 commercial banking branches. Based on the 
latest credit rating report dated November 22, 2018 issued by Pakistan Credit Rating Agency 
Limited (PACRA), the credit rating of  the Bank was “CCC” in the long term and “B” (Single 
B) in the short term. Subsequent to above, credit rating of  Bank could not be updated as the 
approved accounts of  the Bank were not available due to inexistence of  its board of  directors 
throughout the year 2019.								      

	 In terms of  Bank’s license no. BL-05 dated September 13, 2004 issued under section 27 of  
the Banking Companies Ordinance 1962, the Bank is required to hold minimum paid-up-
capital (net of  losses) of  Rs. 1.0 billion at the time of  issuance of  this license, and at all times 
thereafter during which the above capital is required to be raised to Rs. 1.5 billion by December 
31, 2004 and to Rs. 2.0 billion by December 31, 2005 or any other amount prescribed by 
State Bank of  Pakistan (SBP) from time to time.   SBP granted exemption vide its letter no. 
BPRD/BA&CPD/646/332/2020 dated January 06, 2020 from meeting the minimum capital 
requirement (MCR) till December 31, 2019 or completion of  restructuring/privatization of  
the Bank, whichever is earlier. The said relaxation from SBP was subject to submission of  a 
concrete plan from the Ministry of  Finance (MoF) of  providing firm commitment to inject the 
required amount of  capital in the Bank if  its privatization is not materialize by March 31, 2020. 
Subsequent to above the MoF through its letter no. F.3(27)IF-III/2005-185 dated February 
26, 2020 has informed SBP that the privatization process is at advanced stage which is likely to 
be completed within the period of  three to four months and requested SBP for extension of  
relaxation of  MCR till June 30, 2020. In view of  the current stage of  privatization of  the Bank 
the MoF and the management of  the Bank are hopeful of  further extension of  relaxation of   
MCR requirement by SBP.								      

1.2	 Amalgamation of  defunct RDFC and SBFC
	 The Federal Government promulgated the Regional Development Finance Corporation 

(RDFC) and Small Business Finance Corporation (SBFC) Amalgamation and Conversion 
Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance 2001) setting forth the mechanism of  amalgamation of  
defunct RDFC and SBFC. Both these entities were Development Financial Institutions (DFIs). 
In pursuance of  the Ordinance 2001, Finance Division, Ministry of  Finance (MoF) issued an 
Order (SRO (1) 2001) dated December 29, 2001 setting forth the scheme of  amalgamation 
of  RDFC and SBFC with the Bank effective January 1, 2002. Pursuant to this scheme entire 
assets and liabilities of  defunct RDFC and SBFC as at December 31, 2001 were transferred 
to the Bank at fair value. These two institutions stand dissolved and ceased to exist effective 
January 1, 2002. The Bank allotted its shares to the share holders of  defunct RDFC and SBFC 
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Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

in proportion to their shareholding therein based on the fair value of  net assets of  defunct 
RDFC and SBFC on December  31, 2001.

2	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

2.1	 These unconsolidated financial statements have been presented in accordance with the 
requirements of  format prescribed by the State Bank of  Pakistan’s BSD Circular No. 02 dated 
January 25, 2018.

2.2	 These unconsolidated financial statements are separate financial statements of  the Bank in 
which the investment in subsidiary is stated at cost and has not been accounted for on the 
basis of  reported results and net assets of  the investee which is done in consolidated financial 
statements.

2.3	 The unconsolidated financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupee, which is the Bank’s 
functional currency. Figures have been rounded off  to the nearest thousands of  rupees, unless 
otherwise stated.

3	 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

3.1	 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and 
reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. Accounting and reporting standards as 
applicable in Pakistan comprise of  International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as are notified under the Companies 
Act, 2017, provisions of  and the directives issued under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 
1962, the Companies Act, 2017 and directives issued by SBP and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of  Pakistan (SECP). Whenever the requirements of  the Banking Companies 
Ordinance, 1962, Companies Act, 2017 or the directives issued by SBP and SECP differ with 
the requirements of  IFRS, requirements of  the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the 
Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall prevail.

	 The SBP, vide BPRD circular no. 4, dated October 23, 2019, has deferred the applicability 
of  IFRS 9, Financial Instruments until January 01, 2021. International Accounting Standard 
39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (before its replacement by 
IFRS 9), International Accounting Standard 40, “Investment Property” and International 
Financial Reporting Standard 7,”Financial Instruments: Disclosure” are not applicable to 
banking companies in Pakistan. Accordingly, the requirements of  these Standards have not 
been considered in the preparation of  these unconsolidated financial statements. Accordingly, 
investments have been classified and valued in accordance with the requirements prescribed 
by the SBP through various circulars.	

	 SECP vide its notification SRO 633 (I)/2014 dated July 10, 2014, adopted IFRS-10, 
Consolidated Financial Statements, effective from the periods starting from June 30, 2014. 
However, vide its notification SRO 56(I)/2016 dated January 28, 2016, it has been notified 
that the requirements of  IFRS-10 and section 228 of  the Companies Act, 2017 will not be 
applicable with respect to the investment in mutual funds established under Trust structure.
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3.2	 Standards, interpretations of  and amendments to published accounting and reporting 
standards that are not yet effective in the current year

	 The following IFRS as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 and the amendments and 
interpretations thereto will be effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 
01, 2020:

	 -  Amendments to lAS 1 Presentation of  Financial Statements and lAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 01, 2020). The amendments are intended to make the definition of  material in 
lAS 1 easier to understand and are not intended to alter the underlying concept of  materiality 
in IFRS Standards. In addition, the IASB has also issued guidance on how to make materiality 
judgements when preparing their general purpose financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS.

	 Amendment in IFRS 3 “Business Combination” - Definition of  a Business (effective for 
business combinations for which acquisition date is on and after the beginning of  annual 
period beginning on and after January 01, 2020). The IASB has issued amendments aiming to 
resolve the difficulties that arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a business 
or a group of  assets. The amendments clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set 
of  activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that 
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments include an 
election to use a concentration test. The standard is effective for transactions in the future and 
therefore would not have an impact on past financial statements.

	 IFRS 14 ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’ permits an entity which is a first-time adopter of  
International Financial Reporting Standards to continue to account, with some limited changes, 
for ‘regulatory deferral account balances’ in accordance with its previous reporting framework, 
both on initial adoption of  IFRS and in subsequent financial statements. Regulatory deferral 
account balances and movements in them, are presented separately in the statement of  financial 
position, profit and loss account, statement of  other comprehensive income, and specific 
disclosures are required. IFRS 14 was originally issued by IASB in January 2014 with Initial 
application date for a period beginning on or after January 01, 2016. During November 2019, 
the SECP modified the effective date for applicability of  IFRS 14 for the annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after July 01, 2019.

	 The IASB has also issued the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the 
Conceptual Framework) in March 2018 which is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 01, 2020 for preparers of  financial statements who develop accounting policies 
based on the Conceptual Framework. The revised Conceptual Framework is not a standard, 
and none of  the concepts override those in any standard or any requirements in a standard. 
The purpose of  the Conceptual Framework is to assist lASB in developing standards, to help 
preparers develop consistent accounting policies if  there is no applicable standard in place and 
to assist all parties to understand and interpret the standards.

	 Furthermore, following new standards have been issued by IASB which are yet to be notified 
by SECP for the purpose of  applicability in Pakistan.

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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Standard	 IASB effective date (annual 
periods beginning on or after)

IFRS 1 - First time adoption of  lFRSs	 January 01, 2014
IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts	 January 01, 2021

3.3	 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting 
standards that are effective in the current year

	 The Bank has adopted the following accounting standards and amendments of  lFRSs and the 
improvements to accounting standards which became effective for the current year:

3.3.1	 May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers which replaces 
all existing revenue requirements and related interpretations and is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 01, 2018. IFRS 15 redefined the principles for recognising revenue 
and is applicable to all contracts with customers other than contracts in the scope of  other 
standards (such as interest and fee income integral to financial instruments which would be in 
the scope of  IFRS 9 and Lease Income). Certain requirements in IFRS 15 are also relevant for 
the recognition and measurement of  gains or losses on disposal of  non-financial assets that 
are not in the ordinary course of  business.

	 IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with 
customers and requires that revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which an entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring goods or services to a 
customer.

	 The standard requires entities to exercise judgment, taking into consideration all of  the 
relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of  the model to contracts with their 
customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of  obtaining a 
contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard requires 
extensive disclosures.

	 The Bank’s revenue streams that are within the scope of  IFRS 15 relate to certain fee and 
commission income. The accounting policy for recognition of  such income is disclosed in 
Note 5.12 to these financial statements. The application of  this standard did not have any 
material impact on these financial statements, except for change in description of  accounting 
policy.

3.3.2	 IFRS 16 Leases supersedes lAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement 
Contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance 
of  Transactions Involving the Legal Form of  a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for 
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of  leases and requires lessees to 
account for all leases on statement of  financial position.

	 The Bank has lease contracts for various properties. Before the adoption of  IFRS 16, the 
Bank classified each of  its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as an operating lease. In an 
operating lease, the leased asset was not capitalized and the lease payments were recognised as 

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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rent expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any prepaid rent and 
accrued rent were recognised under other asset and other liabilities, respectively.

	 Upon adoption of  lFRS 16, the Bank applied the recognition and measurement approach of  
IFRS 16 for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of  low-value assets. The standard 
also provides practical expedients, which have been applied by the Bank.

	 The Bank adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of  adoption with the 
date of  initial application of  January 01, 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied 
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of  initially applying the standard recognised at the 
date of  initial application. The Bank elected to use the transition practical expedient to not 
reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at January 01, 2019. Instead, the Bank applied 
the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying lAS 17 and 
IFRIC 4 at the date of  initial application.

	 Accordingly, the Bank recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases where 
the Bank is the lessee and which were previously accounted for as operating leases. The right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities were recognised on the present value of  future cash flows, 
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of  initial application.

SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Impact on statements of  financial position 

Increase in fixed assets - right-of-use assets 497,593                 547,718                     
(7,303)                   (6,758)                        

Increase in total assets 490,290                 540,960                     
Increase in deferred taxation 8,481                     
Increase in other liabilities - lease liability against right of use assets (538,756)               (540,960)                    
Decrease in net assets (39,985)                 -                            

2019
Impact on  profit and loss account (Rupees in '000)

Increase in mark-up expense - lease liability against right-of-use assets (67,337)                     
(Increase) / decrease in administrative expenses:
  -Depreciation on right-of-use assets (50,125)                     
  -Rent expense 68,996                       

18,871                       
Increase in deferred taxation 8,481                         
Decrease in profit (39,985)                     

Reduction in earning per share (0.17)                         

(Rupees in '000)

As at December 
31, 2019

As at January 
01, 2019

Decrease in other assets - advance rent 

4	 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

4.1	 These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified for certain investments which are carried at fair value, obligations in 
respect of  defined benefit schemes and lease liability under IFRS 16 at their present values.

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
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4.2	 Use of  critical accounting estimates and judgments	
	 The preparation of  unconsolidated financial statements in conformity with approved 

accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the use of  certain accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of  applying the Bank’s 
accounting policies. The Bank uses estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 
resulting accounting estimate will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of  future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The areas involving a higher degree of  judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are as follow:

i)	 Classification of  investments 
ii)	 Provision/impairment against investments advances  and other assets 
iii)	 Valuation and impairment of  available for sale securities
iv)	 Useful life and residual value of  property and equipment and intangible assets
v)	 Taxation 
vi)	 Staff  retirement benefits 
vii)	 Leases

5	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES	

	 The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of  these unconsolidated financial statements 
are consistent with those of  the previous financial year except the change explained in notes 
3.3.1. and 3.3.2. Significant accounting policies are enumerated as follows:

5.1	 Cash and cash equivalents
	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of  cash and balances with treasury banks, balances with 

other banks and call money lending’s.

5.2	 Investments	
	 Investments other than those categorized as held-for-trading are initially recognised at fair 

value which includes transactions costs associated with the investments. Investments classified 
as held-for-trading are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in 
the profit and loss account.

	 All regular way purchases/sales of  investment are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date the 
Bank commits to purchase/sell the investments. Regular way purchases or sales of  investment 
require delivery of  securities within the time frame generally established by regulation or 
convention in the market place.

	 The Bank has classified its investment portfolio, except for investments in subsidiary into 
‘held-for-trading’, ‘held-to-maturity’ and ‘available-for-sale’ as follows:

	 Held for trading
	 These are securities which are acquired with the intention to trade by taking advantage of  

short-term market/interest rate movements and are to be sold within 90 days. These are 
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carried at market value, with the related unrealized gain/(loss) on revaluation being taken to 
profit and loss account.

	 Held to maturity
	 These represent investments acquired by the Bank with the intention and ability to hold them 

upto maturity. These are carried at amortized cost less impairment if  any. Impairment in debt 
securities is determined in accordance with the requirements of  Prudential Regulations issued 
by SBP.

	 Available for sale
	 These are investments that do not fall under the held-for-trading or held-to-maturity categories. 

These are carried at market value except in case of  unquoted securities where market value 
is not available, which are carried at the lower of  cost and break-up value less provision for 
diminution in value, if  any. Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation is taken to ‘surplus/(deficit) on 
revaluation of  assets’ account shown as part of  equity. On derecognition or impairment 
in quoted available-for-sale investments, the cumulative gain or loss previously reported as 
‘surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of  assets’ below equity is included in the profit and loss 
account for the year.

	 Provision for diminution in values of  securities (other than term finance certificates) is made 
after considering impairment if  any in their values, where the decline in prices of  available 
for sale equity securities is significant or prolonged, it is considered impaired and included in 
unconsolidated profit and loss account. Provision for diminution in the value of  term finance 
certificates is made as per Prudential Regulations issued by SBP.

	 Held-for-trading and quoted available-for-sale securities are marked to market with reference 
to ready quotes on Reuters page (PKRV) or MUFAP or the Stock Exchanges, as the case may 
be.

	 Investment in subsidiary
	 Investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less impairment, if  any. However the investment in 

subsidiary is not marked to market as per prudential regulations issued by SBP.

5.3	 Agreements for sale and purchase of  securities (repo and reverse repo)
	 Securities sold under repurchase agreement (repo) are retained in the unconsolidated financial 

statements as investments and a liability for consideration received is included in borrowings. 
The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as mark-up expense and recognized 
over the period of  contract.

	 Securities purchased under agreement to resell (reverse repo) are included in lendings to 
financial institutions. The difference between  purchase and resale price is treated as mark-up 
income and  recognized over the period of   the contract.
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5.4	 Advances
	 Advances are stated net off  specific and general provisions. Provisions are made in accordance 

with the requirements of  Prudential Regulations issued by the SBP and charged to the profit 
and loss account. These regulations prescribe an age based criteria (as supplemented by 
subjective evaluation of  advances by the banks) for classification of  non-performing loans and 
advances and computing provision/allowance there against. Such regulations also require the 
Bank to maintain general provision/allowance against its Small Entity (SE) advances portfolio 
at specified percentage of  such portfolio.

	 Advances are written off  when there is no realistic prospect of  recovery.

5.5	 Capital work-in progress, operating fixed assets, intangibles, depreciation and 
amortization

	 Capital work-in-progress
	 Capital-work-in progress is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if  any. These are 

transferred to operating fixed assets as and when the assets are available for use.

	 Operating fixed assets-owned
	 These are stated at cost less impairment loss and accumulated depreciation except for leasehold 

land. Land is stated at cost less impairment, if  any.

	 Maintenance and normal repairs are charged to unconsolidated profit and loss account as and 
when incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized.

	 Depreciation 	
	 Depreciation is charged on straight line method at the rates given in note 11.1 commencing 

from the month in which the asset is available for use. No depreciation is charged in the 
month of  disposal of  the asset. The residual value, useful life and depreciation method is 
reviewed and adjusted, if  appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

	 Gains or losses on disposal of  property and equipment are taken to the unconsolidated profit 
and loss account.	

	 Assets subject to finance lease
	 Assets subject to finance lease are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation at the rates 

similar to the bank’s owned assets and impairment loss (if  any). The outstanding obligation 
under finance lease less financial charges allocated to future periods is shown as liability. Finance 
charges are calculated at interest rates implicit in the lease and are charged to unconsolidated 
profit and loss account in the period in which these are incurred.

	 Intangible assets
	 An intangible asset is recognized only if  it is identifiable, the Bank has control over the asset, 

it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and the cost of  the asset can 
be measured reliably.
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	 All intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are initially measured at cost and are 
amortized on a straight line basis at the rate given in note 12 commencing from the month 
when these assets are available for use. Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortization and impairment losses, if  any. The residual value, useful life and amortization 
method is reviewed and adjusted, if  appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

5.6	 Impairment
	 The carrying amount of  assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment, 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of  the assets 
may not be recoverable.  If  such indication exists,  and where the carrying value exceeds 
the estimated recoverable amount,  assets are written down to their recoverable amount. 
The resulting impairment loss is taken to the unconsolidated profit and loss account. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying value that would have been determined net of  depreciation/amortization, if  no 
impairment loss had been recognized.

	 The available for sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or 
prolonged decline in the value below its cost. Impairment loss is recognized in unconsolidated 
profit & loss account.	

5.7	 Deposits	
	 Deposits are recorded at the nominal values of  proceeds received. Markup accrued on deposits 

is recognised separately as part of  other liabilities and is charged to unconsolidated profit and 
loss account on a time proportion basis.

5.8	 Taxation
	 Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 

is recognised in the unconsolidated profit and loss account, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or below equity, in which case it 
is recognised in other comprehensive income or below equity.

	 Current
	 Provision for current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year using 

tax rates applicable at the date of  unconsolidated statement of  financial position and any 
adjustment to tax payable for previous years.

	 Deferred
	 Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of  all temporary 

differences between the carrying amount of  assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of  taxable profit at the rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when the differences reverse based on the tax rates that 
have been enacted. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax 
losses and tax credits can be utilized. Deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefits will be realized.
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	 The Bank also recognizes deferred tax asset/liability on deficit/surplus on revaluation of  
investments which is adjusted against the related deficit/surplus in accordance with the 
requirements of  International Accounting Standard on ‘Income Taxes’ (IAS 12).

	 The Bank takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by the taxation 
authorities. Instances where the Bank’s views differ from the views taken by the income tax 
department at the assessment stage and where the Bank considers that its view on items of  
material nature is in accordance with law, the amounts are shown as contingent liabilities.

5.9	 Staff  retirement and other benefits
	 The Bank operates following staff  retirement and other benefit schemes for its employees:

	 Defined benefit plan - Pension and gratuity scheme
	 Fully funded defined benefit pension and gratuity scheme for eligible employees. Contributions 

are made in accordance with the actuarial valuation which is carried out periodically using 
‘Projected Unit Credit Method’. All actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately 
through other comprehensive income.

	 Defined benefit funded gratuity scheme
	 The Bank operates a defined benefit funded gratuity scheme for its contractual employees. 

The obligation under the defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme is recognized on the basis 
of  actuarial valuation using the ‘Projected Unit Credit Method’.

	 Benevolent fund
	 The Bank also operates a contributory benevolent fund for all its eligible employees (defined 

benefit scheme). Contributions to this fund were made equally by the Bank and employees till 
March 2002. Thereafter it is wholly contributed by the Bank at the rate of  2% of  basic salary 
with a ceiling of  Rs. 200 per month per employee. Annual contribution towards the defined 
benefit scheme are made on the basis of  actuarial advice using the Projected Unit Credit 
Method.

	 Compensated absences
	 The Bank provides compensated absences, an unfunded scheme, as per entitlement to all its 

permanent and contractual employees. For its eligible employees, related provision is made in 
accordance with actuarial valuation. Provision for the year is charged to unconsolidated profit 
and loss account. The amount recognized in unconsolidated statement of  financial position 
represents present value of  defined benefit obligation.

	 Defined benefit plans are provided to employees of  the Bank. Calculations in this respect 
require assumptions to be made of  future outcomes, the principal ones being in respect of  
increase in remuneration, the expected long-term return on plan assets and the discount rate 
used to convert future cash flows to current values. Calculations are sensitive to changes in the 
underlying assumptions.
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5.10	 Revenue recognition	

5.10.1	 Advances	
	 Advances disbursed by SME Bank Limited:
	 Markup/interest on performing advances is recognized on a time proportion basis over the 

term of  loan and advances. Markup/interest/penal markup recoverable on non performing 
advances is recognized on receipt basis. Mark-up/interest on rescheduled/restructured 
advances and investments is recognised as permitted by the regulations of  the SBP.

	 Advances disbursed by defunct RDFC and defunct SBFC :	
	 Advances and related markup are suspended. Markup/interest on advances is recognized on 

receipt basis.	

5.10.2	 Return on investments	
	 Return on investments is recognized on a time proportion basis except on classified investment 

which is recognized on receipt basis. Any premium paid or discount received on purchase of  
securities is amortized through unconsolidated profit and loss account over the remaining 
period of  maturity on time apportionment basis.

5.10.3	 Dividend income	
	 Dividend income is recognized when the Bank’s right to receive the dividend is established.	

5.10.4	 Interest, fee, brokerage and commission
	 Interest, fee, brokerage and commission, profit on other investments, bank deposits and 

staff  loans is recognized on accrual basis. Income on non-funded facilities (fee, commission, 
documentation charges etc.) is recognized on receipt basis except commission on bank 
guarantees which is recognized on accrual basis.

5.11	 Off  setting	
	 Financial assets and liabilities are off  set and the net amount is reported in the unconsolidated 

statement of  financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off  the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

5.12	 Borrowing costs	
	 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of  

a qualifying asset as part of  the cost of  that asset are capitalized. Other borrowing costs are 
recognized as an expense in the period in which it incurs.

5.13	 Provisions	
	 Provisions are recorded when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of  past events, it is probable that an outflow of  resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of  the amount 
of  obligation. Provision for guarantee claims and other off  balance sheet obligations is 
recognized when intimated and reasonable certainty exists to settle the obligations. Expected 
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recoveries are recognized by debiting customer accounts. Charge to unconsolidated profit and 
loss account is stated net off  expected recoveries.

5.14	 Financial assets and liabilities	
	 All financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Bank becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of  the instrument. A financial asset is derecognised where 
(a) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or (b) the Bank has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received 
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 
and either (i) the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of  the asset, 
or (ii) the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risk and rewards of  
the asset, but has transferred control of  the asset. A financial liability is derecognised when 
the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition of  the financial assets and financial liabilities is taken to income currently.

5.15	 Segment reporting	
	 A segment is the distinguishable component of  the Bank that is subject to risks and rewards 

that are different from those of  other segments. A business segment is one that is engaged 
either in providing certain products or services, whereas a geographical segment is one engaged 
in providing products and services within a particular economic environment. Segment 
information is presented as per the Bank’s functional structure and the guidance of  the State 
Bank of  Pakistan. The Bank’s primary format of  reporting is based on business segments:

5.15.1	 Business segments

	 Trading and sales
	 This segment undertakes the Bank’s treasury, money market and capital market activities.

	 Commercial banking
	 It includes loans, deposits and other transactions with individuals/staff, small and medium 

enterprises and corporate customers.

5.15.2	 Geographical segments	
	 The Bank operates only in Pakistan.	

5.16	 Appropriation to reserves	
	 Dividend and appropriation to reserves (except appropriation required by law) after the 

balance sheet date are recognized as liability in the Bank’s financial statement in the year in 
which these are approved.

5.17	 IFRS 13 - ‘Fair Value Measurement’
	 It consolidates the guidance on how to measure fair value into one comprehensive standard. It 

introduces the use of  an exact price, as well as extensive disclosure requirements, particularly 
the inclusion of  non financial instruments into the fair value hierarchy. The application of  
IFRS 13 does not have an impact on the unconsolidated financial statements of  the Company 
except for certain disclosures as mentioned in note 37.
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6	 FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING AND GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

6.1	 Current Status of  Privatization of  SME Bank
	 Government of  Pakistan (GOP) decided  in their meeting held on November 19, 2018 to 

relaunch the privatization transaction of  the Bank through Privatization Commission (PC). 
Cabinet Committee on Privatization (CCOP) approved the new privatization program of  
the Bank on March 06, 2019.  The privatization program  of  the Bank  has been required  
to be completed  by 30th June 2020  to divest GOPs  equity stake in the Bank along with 
management control to a strategic investor. Accordingly, PC recommended the transaction 
structure for the privatization of  the Bank to CCOP who approved the referred transaction 
structure on November 15, 2019. Thereafter through a due process invitation for expression 
of  interest for acquisition of  93.88% shares of  the Bank were advertised in news papers on 
December 13, 2019. The last date for submission of  EOIs and Statement of  Qualifications 
(SOQs) was February 28, 2020. Five prospective investors have submitted their SOQs against 
the advertisement, out of  that Four have been cleared by SBP. Due diligence of  Buyers side is 
in progress, Privatization Commission has opened data room for the prospective Buyers up to 
August 24, 2020.

6.2	 Going concern assumption and minimum capital requirement	
	 During the current year the Bank incurred a net loss of  Rs. 1,072.309 million (2018: Rs. 825.938 

million) resulting into accumulated losses of  Rs. 4,811.162 million (2018: Rs. 3,857.090 million). 
As of  December 31, 2019, the reporting date, the total liabilities of  the Bank have exceeded 
its total assets by Rs. 2,512.445 million (2018: Rs. 1,693.862) indicating the negative equity and 
due to surplus of  current demand liabilities over its total unencumbered current liquid assets 
creating a negative working capital of  Rs. 7.859 billion (2018: Rs. 7.267 billion) which indicates 
the Bank’s inadequate capacity to ensure the timely repayments. Due to cash inadequacy the 
Bank was unable to meet the statutory solvency requirements of  minimum capital (MCR) of  
Rs. 10,000 million and the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of  10% and has failed on multiple 
times in maintaining the minimum statutory liquidity requirement (SLR) in first half  of  current 
year. Due to continued stressed financial conditions the Bank’s credit rating fell from B negative 
(single B-) to CCC. Based on the operational results SBP granted exemption from meeting 
the MCR and CAR up to December 31, 2019 or restructuring/privatization, whichever is 
earlier, subject to submission of  a concrete plan from the Ministry of  Finance (MoF) to 
provide a firm commitment to inject the required amount of  capital funds in the Bank, if  its 
privatization does not materialize by March 31, 2020. These conditions indicate the existence 
of  material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as 
going concern and therefore it may not be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities 
in the ordinary course of  business. To overcome the same, the Government of  Pakistan (GoP) 
being the majority shareholder with 93.88% shareholding in the Bank has initiated the process 
of  privatization of  the Bank. The MoF through its letter No. F.3(27)IF-III/2005-185 dated 
February 26, 2020 has informed SBP that the privatization process is likely to be completed 
within the period of  three to four months and requested SBP for extension of  relaxation of  
regulatory requirements till June 30, 2020. MoF and management of  the Bank are hopeful of  
a favourable response. The process of  privatization is at the advance stage as Five prospective 
investors have submitted their Statement of  Qualifications (SOQs), out of  that four have 
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been cleared by SBP. Due diligence of  Buyers side is in progress, Privatization Commission 
has opened data room for the prospective Buyers up to August 24, 2020. In view of  above 
the management of  the Bank strongly believes that the privatization of  the Bank shall be 
completed soon and will result into injection of  fresh equity enabling the Bank to expand and 
finance its operations while MoF is committed to provide all necessary financial assistance to 
the Bank to support its operations. In view of  above the management of  the Bank believes 
that the use of  going concern assumption in preparation of  these unconsolidated financial 
statements is appropriate and, therefore, have prepared the same on a going concern basis.
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2019 2018
7. Note (Rupees in '000)

In hand
   Local currency 123,638                 106,514                 
   In transit - local currency -                        -                        

With State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) in :
Local currency current accounts 7.1 468,270                294,873                 

With National Bank of Pakistan in :
Local currency current accounts 58,486                  42,080                   

Prize bonds 171                        372                        
650,565                443,839                 

7.1

2019 2018
8. BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS Note (Rupees in '000)

In Pakistan:
   On current accounts 500                       500                        
   On deposit accounts 14,037                   25,738                   
   Provision for doubtful balance with a bank 8.1 (10,000)                 (10,000)                  

4,537                    16,238                   

8.1 Particulars of provision for doubtful placement with a bank

(10,000)                 (10,000)                  
-                            -                            
-                            -                            

                            -                             - 
                  (10,000)                   (10,000)

Deposits with the State Bank of Pakistan are maintained to comply with the statutory requirements issued from time to
time.

Provision for doubtful balance is in respect of deposit of Rs. 10 million with Indus Bank Limited which is under
liquidation.

CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY BANKS

Opening balance
Charge for the year
Reversals

Closing balance
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
9.3 Provision for diminution in value of investments

Opening balance 171,241         125,709         
Charge/reversals
     Charge for the year -               47,747           
     Reversal on disposals (20,000)         (2,215)            

(20,000)         45,532           
Closing balance 151,241         171,241         

9.3.1 Particulars of provision against debt securities category of classification

Domestic NPL Provision NPL Provision

Other assets especially mentioned -       -                 -               -               
Substandard -       -                 -               -                
Doubtful -       -                 -                -                
Loss 762       762                762               762               

762       762                762               762               

9.4 Quality of available-for-sale securities 2019 2018

Federal government securities - government guaranteed
Market treasury bills 1,061,452      993,284         
Pakistan investment bonds 4,833,780     5,062,403      

5,895,232     6,055,687      

2019 2018
Shares
Listed companies
     - Chemicals 810               810               
     - Investment banks/companies 13,236          13,236           
     - Synthetic and Rayon 336               336               
     - Technology and communication 587               587               
     - Textile composite 30                 30                 

14,999          14,999           

Unlisted/delisted Companies
 Cost Breakup 

value  Cost Breakup value 

Note
9.4.1 18,000  43,971            18,000           42,758           
9.4.1 8,440    19,369            8,440             18,314           

  - AKD Venture Fund -       -                 20,000           -                
  - News-v/s Credit Information Services (Pvt) Ltd. 100       30                  100               30                 
  - Companies delisted from stock exchange 9.4.2 1,003    -                 1,003             -                

27,543  63,370           47,543          61,102           

9.4.1

(Rupees in '000)

Cost
(Rupees in '000)

Cost

Break up value per share is based on latest available financial statements of investees.

(Rupees in '000)

  - LSE Financial Services Ltd.
  - ISE Towers REIT Management Company Ltd.

2018

(Rupees in '000)

2018

2019

2019

(Rupees in '000)

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

9.4.2

(Rupees)

  - Mohib Exports Company Limited 4,600             23.81            109               
  - Sunflow Citrus Limited 100,000          4.22              422               
  - Tawakal Garments Company Limited 4,000             38.38            154               
  - Tristar Shipping Lines Limited 5,000             23.56            118               
  - Zahoor Textile Mills Limited 15,200            13.16             200               

1,003            

2019 2018
Mutual Funds

     - HBL investment fund - Class A 654               654               
     - HBL investment fund - Class B 1,216             1,216             

1,870            1,870             

9.5 Particulars relating to held to maturity securities are as follows: 2019 2018
Non government debt securities
Unlisted

     - A/A-1 35,000          35,000           
     - Unrated 762               762               

35,762          35,762           

Cost
(Rupees in '000)

Cost
(Rupees in '000)

Particulars of investments in shares of companies delisted from stock exchange and are currently under liquidation was as
under:

Total paid 
up value

Cost/Paid-
up value per 

share

Number of 
shares held

(Rupees in 
'000)

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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10.3	 Non-performing loan (NPL) portfolios of  defunct SBFC & RDFC
	 The Board through its resolution by circular No.10/circ/33 dated March 08, 2010 duly 

endorsed by the members in their meeting dated May 20, 2010 has approved the transfer 
and assignment of  fully non - performing loan portfolios of  defunct SBFC & RDFC to 
NBP on the basis of  deferred transfer price. Subsequently transfer and assignment agreement 
was executed between the Bank and  National Bank of  Pakistan at Karachi on July 01, 2010 
(effective date). According to the agreement, the transferor (SME) and the acquiror (NBP) 
acknowledge, declare and confirm the transfer, assignment and vesting of  all rights, interests, 
privileges, title, powers and remedies in favour of  the acquiror with respect to:

	 a) the non-performing loans, collateral and the debtors;
	 b) all agreements, deeds, instruments and other documents relating to the non-performing 

loans, debtors and collateral and to which the transferor is, or legally deemed to be, a party or 
a beneficiary;

	 c) all legal proceedings by and against the transferor with respect to the non-performing loans, 
the debtors and collateral, which may be pending before any court, tribunal, arbitrator or 
authority, without being subject to any liabilities of  the transferor to any person.

	 The agreed transfer price is an amount equal to 50% of  the net recoveries.

	 Under the above referred arrangements, portfolio of  defunct SBFC & RDFC outstanding as 
on June 30, 2010 (Except outstanding loans of  RDFC where facility of  equity participation 
fund had also been extended) were transferred to NBP.

	 On request of  the Bank’s management the decision to transfer and assignment of  the portfolio 
was revisited by the board of  directors (BoD) in its 65th meeting held on July 13, 2011 and 
resolved that the agreement of  assignment of  the old portfolio to NBP should be cancelled  
and Board’s pronouncement for revocation of  agreement to Ministry of  Finance to arrange 
retrieval/restoration of  old portfolio to the Bank in the interest of  recovery of  public funds.

	 In the meeting held on March 04, 2013 the BoD reconsidered the position taken earlier on 
this matter on grounds of  related cost of  recovery and infrastructure on request of  then 
management and decided that since the Bank is still on the privatization list, BoD would be 
able to decide on portfolio after Bank’s delisting from privatization.

	 The incumbent management has again reviewed the situation and noted that no comparative 
analysis/study pertaining to transfer of  portfolio was conducted which could justify the 
decision of  assigning old portfolio to NBP.

	 In view of  the above, foregoing Board was requested in its 83rd meeting, held on August 
30, 2014 and the management of  the Bank was allowed to proceed further in pursuance of  
resolution/direction passed regarding the subject matter in 64th and 65th Meeting of  the BoD 
held on May 16, 2011 and July 13, 2011 respectively by overruling to verdict of  the BoD given 
on the issue in 75th Meeting of  BoD held on March 04, 2013.					   
							     

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019



78

	 Cabinet Committee on Privatization (CCOP) in its meeting held on January 27, 2017 has 
approved the transaction structure of  the Bank’s privatization. The transaction structure has 
excluded the above portfolios from the privatization transaction and the CCOP in above 
referred meeting has directed the Bank to transfer the said portfolios to NBP and that all 
recoveries made by NBP from the loan portfolio shall be deposited in the Federal Consolidated 
Fund (FCF), a related party as being managed by MoF.

	 Pursuant to above, being directed by MoF the management of  the Bank has obtained an 
independent legal advice for defining the legal procedures for the implementation of  the 
requirement of  MoF. The legal advice proposed that the Bank may via a tri party novation 
agreement between SME, NBP and GoP through MoF, transfer and surrender any rights, 
obligations and liabilities on the remaining receivable assets in the loan portfolio to FCF against 
any consideration amount. The novation agreement will further allow for any recoveries made 
by NBP in relation to the loan portfolio to be deposited directly in the FCF as the recoveries 
will no longer be an asset of  the Bank.

	 In line with the steps proposed by the legal advisor the BoD of  the Bank in its meeting held 
on December 31, 2017 has approved the transfer of  fully non-performing loan portfolios 
of  defunct SBFC & RDFC to MoF and NBP via a tri party novation agreement between 
SME, NBP and GoP through MoF at a value of  Rs.100 as a sale consideration. Thereafter, 
the shareholders of  the Bank in their meeting held on January 22, 2018 through their special 
resolution have also authorized the transferred of  the portfolios as approved by the BoD of  
the Bank, however, the Allied Bank Limited carrying 0.33% holding in the Bank has opposed 
the resolution and required the sale of  the portfolio at a fair market value (FMV). According to 
above majority decision of  the shareholders both the portfolios have been transferred to the 
FCF and NBP against an aggregate sale consideration of  Rs. 100 under a tri-party agreement 
(the Agreement) executed on February 23, 2018 between the Bank, NBP and FCF. As of  the 
date of  the Agreement the Bank has transferred and surrendered all the recoveries, rights, 
obligation, claims and liabilities of  the referred loan portfolios in favour of  the FCF.

	 The management of  the Bank continues to show these loan portfolios in its book of  accounts 
pending confirmation of  recording by NBP  in its books of  accounts to ensure that the above 
loans are duly accounted by NBP in compliance to the terms of  the agreement dated Feb 
23, 2018. The Bank has requested with various intervals to share the details of  the road map 
prepared by NBP for smooth transfer of  accounting record related to the legacy loan portfolio 
from the Bank to NBP but NBP did not respond.
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10.4

Category of classification
Provision

Non 
performing 

loans
Provision

Domestic
Other assets especially mentioned 6,613         2                3,762          -             
Substandard 10,763        36              42,490        8                
Doubtful 43,808       326            2,454          174             
Loss 5,333,955   5,256,686   5,321,553    5,257,480   

5,395,139   5,257,050   5,370,259    5,257,662   

10.5 Particulars of provision against advances

Specific General Total Specific General Total
(Rupees in '000)

Opening balance 5,257,662   25          5,257,687   5,238,459   81               5,238,540   
Charge/(reversal)
Charge for the year -             52,096        15               52,111        
Reversal for the year (17)         (31,881)       (71)              (31,952)       

645            (17)         628            20,215        (56)              20,159        
Amounts written off 10.6 -             -         -             -             -             -             

(1,257)        -         (1,257)        (1,012)         -             (1,012)         
Closing balance 5,257,050   8            5,257,058   5,257,662   25               5,257,687   

10.5.1
10.5.2

10.5.3 Specific General Total Specific General Total

In local currency 5,257,050   8            5,257,058   5,257,662   25               5,257,687   
In foreign currencies -             -         -             -             -             -             

5,257,050   8            5,257,058   5,257,662   25               5,257,687   

10.6 Particulars of write off 2019 2018

10.6.1 Against provisions -             -             
Directly charged to profit & loss account -             -             

-             -             

10.6.2 Write offs of Rs. 500,000 and above -             -             
Write offs of below Rs. 500,000 -             -             

-             -             
10.7 Details of loan write off of Rs. 500,000 and above

(Rupees in '000)

Advances include Rs. 5,395.139 million (2018: Rs. 5,370.259 million) which have been placed under non-performing
status as detailed below:

Particulars of provisions
against advances

2019 2018

In terms of sub-section(3) of section 33A of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 the Statement in respect of
written-off loans or any other financial relief of rupees five hundred thousand or above allowed to a person(s) during
the year ended December 31, 2019 is given at Annexure-1.

(Rupees in '000)

General provision is being provided @ 1% against unsecured performing small enterprises portfolio. 

24,874        

The FSV benefit already availed in last years has been increased by Rs. 26.044 million (net of FSV benefit availed during
the year), which has resulted in decrease charge for specific provision for the year by the same amount. The FSV benefit
is not available for cash or stock dividend/bonus to employees. Had the FSV benefit not recognized, loss before and
after tax for the year would have been increased by Rs. 26.044 million (2018: reduced by Rs. 42.241 million). As of the
current reporting date the effect of FSV benefit taken against provision is aggregated to Rs. 102.163 million (2018: Rs.
76.119 million).

Reversal of provision of transferred 
portfolio

2019

(24,229)       

2018

(Rupees in '000)

Non 
performing 

loans

24,874         
(24,246)        

20182019
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
11. FIXED ASSETS Note

Property and equipment 11.1 34,519     55,376       
Right of use assets 11.2 497,593   -            

532,112   55,376       

11.1 Property and equipment Leasehold 
land

Building 
on 

freehold 
land

Leasehold 
improvement

Furniture 
and 

fixture

Electrical 
office & 

computer 
equipment

Vehicles Total

At January 01, 2019
Cost 450           15,600    38,771           9,334       178,561      44,780     287,496    
Accumulated depreciation -           10,205    34,029           8,518       143,222     36,146     232,120    
Net book value 450           5,395      4,742             816          35,339       8,634       55,376      

Year ended December 2019
Opening net book value 450           5,395      4,742             816          35,339       8,634       55,376      
Additions -           -         39                  12            454            -          505           
Disposals                                      -           -         -                 -          -            (800)        (800)         
Depreciation charge -           (780)       (2,624)            (453)        (12,705)      (4,000)     (20,562)    
Closing net book value 450           4,615      2,157             375          23,088       3,834       34,519      

At December 31, 2019
Cost 450           15,600    38,810           9,346       179,015      42,860     286,081    
Accumulated depreciation -           10,985    36,653           8,971       155,927     39,026     251,562    
Net book value 450           4,615      2,157             375          23,088       3,834       34,519      

Rate of depreciation (percentage) -           5 33.33 20 15 & 33.33 20 -           

Leasehold 
land

Building 
on 

freehold 
land

Leasehold 
improvement

Furniture 
and fixture

Electrical 
office & 

computer 
equipment

Vehicles Total

At January 01, 2018
Cost 64,087       15,794     38,414            9,218        166,592      48,521     342,626     
Accumulated depreciation/impairment 63,637       9,563      31,169            7,981        132,175      34,979     279,504     
Net book value 450           6,231      7,245              1,237        34,417        13,542     63,122       

Year ended December 2018
Opening net book value 450           6,231      7,245              1,237        34,417        13,542     63,122       
Additions -            -          362                 116          12,428        -           12,906       
Disposals -            (56)          -                 -           -             -           (56)            
Depreciation charge -            (780)        (2,865)             (537)         (11,506)       (4,908)      (20,596)     
Closing net book value 450           5,395      4,742              816          35,339        8,634       55,376       

At December 31, 2018
Cost 450           15,600     38,771            9,334        178,561      44,780     287,496     
Accumulated depreciation/impairment -            10,205     34,029            8,518        143,222      36,146     232,120     
Net book value 450           5,395      4,742              816          35,339        8,634       55,376       

Rate of depreciation (percentage) -            5 33.33 20 15 & 33.33 20 -            

2018

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

2019
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

11.2 Right of use assets
This has arisen due to adoption of IFRS 16 as detailed in note 3.3.2. Movement in right-of-use assets is as follows:

2019

Effect of initial application of IFRS 547,718            
Additions           -
Depreciation charge (50,125)            
Closing net book value 497,593            

11.3

Vehicle
Honda Civic 1,920       1,120                800      768         (32)               

2019 1,920      1,120                800     768         (32)              
2018 68,036     67,980              56        292         236              

11.4

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2019 2018

At January 1
Cost 30,561            28,189              
Accumulated amortization and impairment 28,160            27,060              
Net book value 2,401              1,129                

Year ended December 31
Opening net book value 2,401              1,129                
Additions:
  - developed internally -                 -                   
  - directly purchased 226                 2,458                

226                 2,458                
Disposals -                 -                   
Amortization charge 1,296              1,186                
Closing net book value 1,331               2,401                

As December 31
Cost 30,787            30,561              
Accumulated amortization and impairment 29,456            28,160              
Net book value 1,331               2,401                

Rate of amortization (percentage) 33.33 33.33
Useful life 3 years 3 years

12.1

Cost of fully depreciated assets that are still in use was Rs. 177.157 million (2018: Rs. 172.361 million).

(Rupees in '000)
Computer software

Cost fully amortized intangible assets that are still in use was Rs. 26.946 million (2018: Rs. 26.800 million).

(Rupees in 
'000)

Mr. Kishwar 
Malik (employee)

Sale 
proceeds

(Rupees in '000)
As per Bank 

policy

Details of disposal of fixed assets :

Book 
value

Particulars of 
assets Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation
/impairment

Mode of 
disposal

Particulars of 
buyers

Gain/(loss)  
on sale of 

fixed assets
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
14. OTHER ASSETS Note

Income/mark-up accrued in local currency - net of provision 14.1 168,490                 162,453                  
Advances, deposits, advance rent and other prepayments 24,279                  58,967                    
Advance taxation 14.2 208,288                216,946                  
Non banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims 14.3 147,066                 147,066                  
Due from benevolent fund- unsecured 5,412                    5,642                      
Receivable from NBP 10.3 1,853                    981                         
Receivable from subsidiary company 2,212                    1,300                      
Receivable from equity participation fund 611                        -                         
Trading right entitlement certificate 21,560                   21,560                    
Receivable from Speedway Fondmetall Pakistan Limited 19,640                   19,640                    
Receivable against factorized portfolio 5,148                    5,148                      
Others 75,742                  76,421                    

680,301                 716,124                  
Less: Provision held against other assets 14.4 117,109                 117,095                  
Other assets (net of provision) 563,192                 599,029                  

14.1

14.2

14.3

(Rupees in '000)

This include Rs. 138.6 million being the successful bid made by SME Bank for acquiring bungalow No. 45, Block-C/3,
Gulberg III, Lahore (the Property) mortgaged with the Bank as a security in a defaulted loan and Rs. 8.47 million
pertaining stamps/stamps duties for registration of sale certificate issued by the High Court to SME Bank/auction
Purchasor of the Property. The auction was carried out on 30 June 2015 and subsequently the Honorable Lahore High
Court through its decision dated 14 July 2015 allowed the Bank to adjust the bid price against its outstanding dues from
the borrower against the finance facilities extended to the borrower, suspended mark-up and cost of funds. Thereafter
the auction was also confirmed by the High Court on April 19, 2016 after hearing objection raised by the counter party.
The sale certificate was issued by the High Court on June 30, 2016 and the same has been registered with concerned
registrar on July 28, 2016. On November 24, 2016, ownership of the Property in record of Excise and Taxation
Department has been transferred in name of SME Bank Ltd. The Bank applied for possession of the acquired Property,
which has been accepted by the court after hearing both the parties. The court has repeatedly issued orders to bailiff for
taking possession of the Property to handover the Bank, however, due to non- availability of police force to the bailiff,
the possession of the Property could not be handed over to the Bank. On 24 June 2019 the sponsor of the case was died
and thereafter on 20 August 2019 the legal heirs of the judgement debtor submitted an objection petition for release of
the Property which is already auctioned and purchased by the Bank through an open auction. During argument the
request of the legal heirs has been turned down by the honorable judge as the transaction is past and closed and advised
the council to discuss only the issue of remaining cost of funds. The next date of hearing of the case is fixed on 11
August 2020. At of the current balance sheet date, the market value of the Property was Rs. 224.368 million (2018: Rs.
220.240 million).

This balance has been arrived at after adjusting interest in suspense of Rs. 4,066.115 million (2018: Rs. 4,048.422 million).

This include the effect of refunds aggregating to Rs. 232.599 million due from government. In respect of tax years 2003
and 2004, the period prior to enactment of the Seventh Schedule of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, the tax authorities
disallowed the Bank’s claims for provisions for its bad debts. Subsequently, the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue
(ATIR) through its order dated February 10, 2011 has ruled in favor of the Bank which resulted in creation of refunds of
Rs. 80.059 million and Rs. 152.54 million for tax years 2003 and 2004 respectively. Thereafter, against the referred
judgement of ATIR the tax authorities filed references before the Islamabad High Court which are pending adjudication
to date. The Bank upon receiving the appeal affect orders dated July 28, 2017 from tax authorities has accrued the above
refunds in its books of account. The management of the Bank is of the firm view that the Bank will be successful in the
said references.
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

14.4 Provision held against other assets  2019  2018 

Advances, deposits, advance rent & other prepayments 2,706                    2,706                      
Receivable from Speedway Fondmetall Pakistan Limited 19,640                   19,640                    
Receivable against factorized portfolio 5,148                    5,148                      
Other receivables - SME Portfolio 43,461                   43,494                    
Legal charges recoverable from borrowers - SBFC & RDFC 22,661                   22,661                    
Trading right entitlement certificate - TREC 21,560                   21,560                    
Others 1,933                    1,886                      

117,109                 117,095                  

14.4.1 Movement in provision held against other assets
Opening balance 117,095                 117,991                  
Charge for the year 3,054                    3,486                      
Reversals (3,040)                   (4,381)                     

14                         (895)                        
Transferred to NBP -                        (1)                           
Closing balance 117,109                 117,095                  

15. BILLS PAYABLE
In Pakistan 51,543                   118,788                  
Outside Pakistan -                        -                         

51,543                   118,788                  
16. BORROWINGS

Secured
Repurchase agreement borrowings
     State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) 16.2 1,137,846              1,003,155                
     Financial institutions 16.2 2,442,609              3,713,195                

3,580,455              4,716,350                
Unsecured
Borrowing from State Bank of Pakistan (SBP)
     Financing facility for storage of agricultural produce 16.3 74,316                   23,545                    

3,654,771              4,739,895                
16.1

In local currency 3,654,771              4,739,895                
In foreign currencies -                        -                         

3,654,771              4,739,895                
16.2

16.3

Particulars of borrowings with respect to currencies

These represent transactions with financial institutions and SBP for sale of government securities under re-purchase
agreement (REPO) in the inter bank money market at mark-up rates ranging from 13.38% to 13.75% (2018: 10.20% to
10.50%) per annum for period upto two months (2018: upto two months). REPO transactions are secured against
investment of the Bank in Government securities as disclosed in note 9.2.

(Rupees in '000)

This represents financing facility obtained from State Bank of Pakistan under the scheme "Financing Facility For Storage
of Agricultural Produce (FFSAP). These carries mark up rate ranging from 2.0% to 3.25% and is repayable in quarterly
installments.
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17. DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

In local 
currency

In foreign 
currency Total In local 

currency
In foreign 
currency

Customers
Current accounts 499,200        -               499,200      503,208        -                
Savings deposits 3,153,652      -               3,153,652    2,042,659      -                
Term deposits 3,207,339     -               3,207,339   2,565,542      -                
Margin accounts 112,398         -               112,398       56,983          -                

6,972,589     -               6,972,589   5,168,392      -                
Financial institutions

Current accounts 24                 -               24               1,562            -                
Savings deposits 471,695         -               471,695      417,877        -                
Term deposits 56,400          -               56,400        133,177        -                
Margin accounts -                -               -              -               -                

528,119         -               528,119       552,616        -                
7,500,708     -               7,500,708   5,721,008      -                

2019 2018
17.1 Composition of deposits

     Individuals 1,149,907      1,102,728      
     Government (federal and provincial) 721,679         836,731         
     Public sector entities 46,543          60,003           
     Banking companies -               -                
     Non-banking financial institutions 528,119         552,616         
     Private sector 5,054,460     3,168,930      

7,500,708     5,721,008      
17.2

5,168,392        

552,616           

(Rupees in '000)

Total deposits include eligible deposits of Rs. 2,349.577 million (2018:  Rs. 1,481.536 million) as required by the Deposit
Protection Corporation’s (a subsidiary of SBP) Circular No. 4 of 2018 dated June 22, 2018.

2019

Total

2018

503,208           
2,042,659        

(Rupees in '000)

2,565,542        
56,983             

5,721,008        

1,562              
417,877           
133,177           

-                  
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2019 2018
18. OTHER LIABILITIES Note

Mark-up/return/interest payable in local currency 218,915             102,093             
Unearned commission on guarantees 1,875                692                    
Accrued expenses 11,819               14,741               
Sundry creditors 18.1 172,039             120,266             
Branch adjustment account 586                   912                    
Payable against employees' benefit plans

- Defined benefit pension 34.7 370,155             388,974             
- Defined benefit funded gratuity scheme 34.7 14,172               10,730               
- Unfunded compensated absences 34.7 95,297              80,304               

Security deposits against lease 280                   280                    
Leased liability against right of use assets 18.2 538,756             -                    
Employees' VSS payments withheld 12,603              13,341               
Payable to equity participation fund - unsecured -                   794                    
Income tax withheld payable 19,311               17,780               
Others 1,616                 1,760                 

1,457,424          752,667             

18.1

18.2 This represents lease liability recognised due to adoption of IFRS 16 as detailed in note 3.3.2.
2019 2018

Effect of initial application of IFRS 16 as at January 01, 2019 540,960             -                       
 - Additions -                       -                       
 - Interest 67,337              -                       
 - Payment (69,541)             -                       
Closing net book value 538,756             -                       

This include Rs. 90.6 million (2018: Rs. 90.6 million) payable to SBP/MoF representing the leftover funds after settlement
of VSS-2009 payments and amount of stale bills payable Rs. 72.847 million (2018: Rs. 15.604 million).

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)
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19. SHARE CAPITAL

19.1 Authorized capital

2019 2018 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

1,000,000,000   1,000,000,000     Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 10,000,000        10,000,000      

19.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital
2019 2018 Ordinary shares 2019 2018

152,853,153       152,853,153        Fully paid in cash 1,528,532          1,528,532        
50,000,000        50,000,000         Issued as bonus shares 500,000            500,000           
36,397,547        36,397,547         Issued for consideration other than cash 363,975            363,975           

239,250,700      239,250,700        2,392,507         2,392,507        

19.3 Break-up of share capital is as follows:

Federal government 224,615,978        93.89              2,246,160          2,246,160        
National Bank of Pakistan 6,121,095            2.56                61,211               61,211             
United Bank Limited 3,975,003           1.66                39,750              39,750             
Habib Bank Limited 1,987,501            0.83                19,875              19,875             
MCB Bank Limited 1,490,619            0.62                14,906              14,906             
Allied Bank Limited 774,351               0.32                7,744                7,744               
Industrial Development Bank Limited 286,146               0.12                2,861                2,861               
Directors 1                         -                 -                   -                  
Individuals 6                         -                 -                   -                 

239,250,700        100                 2,392,507         2,392,507        

20. SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) ON REVALUATION OF ASSETS 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of 

Available-for-sale securities

   - Federal Government securities 9.1 (301,559)           (437,444)          
   - Listed companies/mutual funds 1,912                 2,522               

(299,647)           (434,922)          
Deferred tax on surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of available-for-sale securities

- Listed companies/mutual funds 13 (669)                  (883)                
            (300,316) (435,805)          

Number of shares

Number of shares (Rupees in '000)

PercentageNumber of 
shares
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
21. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS Note (Rupees in '000)

- Guarantees 21.1 261,582           143,409           
- Commitments 21.2 3,842,670       4,962,001        
- Other contingent liabilities 21.3 1,136,759        1,074,888        

5,241,011        6,180,298        

21.1 Guarantees:

Financial guarantees -                  -                  
Performance guarantees 21.1.1 261,582           143,409           
Other guarantees -                 -                  

261,582           143,409           

21.1.1

2019 2018
21.2 Commitments: Note (Rupees in '000)

Commitments in respect of:
21.2.1 3,560,826       4,669,798        
21.2.2 280,608          290,484           

Commitments for acquisition of:
- operating fixed assets 987                 1,493               
- intangible assets 249                 226                 

Other commitments 21.2.3 -                 -                  
3,842,670       4,962,001        

21.2.1 Commitments in respect of forward government securities transactions
Sale and repurchase agreements 3,560,826       4,669,798        

21.2.2 Commitments in respect of forward lending
Undrawn facilities 174,708           173,684           
Commitments to extend credit 105,900           116,800           

280,608          290,484           
21.2.3 Other commitments 

Bills for collection
Payable in Pakistan -                 -                  

21.3 Other contingent liabilities 1,136,759        1,074,888        

a) 53,686            53,686             
-

612,707           612,707           b) Tax demands of Rs. 612.707 million raised by the Income Tax Authorities
related to VSS staff cost (tax year-2005) which has been decided in favour of the
Bank. However tax authorities have filed appeal before ATIR against the
decision of the Commissioner Income Tax (Appeals) which is pending
adjudication. The management of the Bank strongly believes and expects
favourable outcome and therefore no provision has been made for this effect in
the unconsolidated financial statements.

This includes expired letter of guarantees/performance aggregating to Rs. 34.142 million (2018: Rs. 77.464 million) for

which formalities for return of original documents are in process.

Claims not acknowledged as debt from various borrowers of defunct RDFC.

- forward government securities transactions
- forward lending
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NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018

c)

d) 198,529           198,529           

e) 36,076            36,076             

f) 21,171             21,171             

g) 18,663            18,663             

h) 38,723            38,723             

6,163               

The Officer Inland Revenue, LTU, Islamabad created demand for Rs. 21.171
million for tax year 2016 under section 161/205 of the Income Tax Ordinance,
2001. After rejection of the first appeal by CIRA the Bank has submitted second
appeal before Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue along with stay application to
keep the recovery proceedings in abeyance. The referred second appeal has not
yet been fixed for hearing.

The Taxation Officer created aggregate demand of Rs.53.674 million for
withheld amount of Rs.17.598 million from VSS payment of employees for the
Tax Years 2005, 2006, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2013 which was not deposited
upon advice of the Legal Advisor due to stay order of Supreme Court of
Pakistan. The case is pending before Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue and the
provision of default surcharge Rs. 36.076 million was not made ipso facto. 

DCIR raised tax demand for the tax year 2010 for Rs. 211.716 million which was
again amended to Rs.198, 528,541/- vide Order # 11/40 dated 22-May-2013 u/s
221, stay against from Islamabad High Court was obtained and also appeal was
filed with CIRA-II who partly accepted the Bank's plea in the case and remanded 
it back to DCIR for verification of evidences and opportunity of hearing the
Bank for certain issues vide his order in Appeal # 968/2013 dated 07-Jan-2014.
Parallel to that Bank has filed 2nd appeal in ATIR on 27-Feb-2014 and
rectification application was also submitted with CIRA on 24-Feb-2014 no
decision has been made yet. The Tax Department has also filed an appeal with
the ATIR through Commissioner (Legal) vide their letter # 249 dated 7-Mar-
2014. Based on the facts revealed by the consultants vide letter # IT/1156/2015
dated March 03, 2015, the management strongly believes for favorable outcome
in the case.

The Officer Inland Revenue, LTU, Islamabad (OIR) issued an order u/s
161/205 for the tax year 2013. The Bank filed an appeal before the
Commissioner (Appeals), who has remanded the case back to assessing officer,
notice to fresh proceeding have been replied no further action on the response.

The Officer Inland Revenue, LTU, Islamabad issued an order u/s 161/205 for
the tax year 2017 without serving proper notices. An appeal against this
impugned order has been filed before the Commissioner (Appeals), which is
pending for fixation. Without prejudice, the tax department has been requested
to adjust the tax demand with the available income tax refunds.

The Bank and the income tax department have filed cross appeals against the
appellate order of the Commissioner (Appeals), who had partly set aside the
order of the Taxation officer, resulting in taxable income of Rs. 151.234 million
and tax liability of Rs. 52.932 (payable amounting Rs. 6.163 million after
adjustment of credit for taxes paid/ suffered at source amounting Rs. 46.768
million) against the declared tax loss of Rs. 23,489 thousand and tax liability of
Rs. 4.249 million for the tax year 2008. Without prejudice to the appeal, the Bank
has offered adjustment of said demand against Refunds available for tax year
2009. However no provision  has been made in these unconsolidated financial
statements as the management is confident of a favorable outcome.

6,163              
(Rupees in '000)
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Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019SME BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018

i) 118,721           -                  

j) 32,320            89,170             

The Officer Inland Revenue, LTU, Islamabad made an assessment for the Year
2001-2002 vide order dated June 20, 2005 of Rs. 590.667 million and a tax
demand of Rs. 118.721 million which was contested in ATIR which ordered the
appeal in Bank's favor vide Order # ITA No.857/IB/2006 dated 05-Apr-2007.
Now tha Tax Department has filed Income Tax Reference with the Islamabad
High Court having # I.T.R. 48 of 2007. 

Back benefits and claims of staff/employees under litigation.

(Rupees in '000)
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2019 2018
22. MARK-UP/ RETURN/ INTEREST EARNED Note (Rupees in '000)

On loans and advances to 
Customers

Extended by:
Defunct RDFC & SBFC -                     -                    
SME Bank Limited 289,673              246,162             

289,673              246,162             
Employees 3,914                  5,126                 
Financial Institution - SME Leasing Ltd. - a subsidiary company 20,400                14,318               

313,987              265,606             
On investments in

Held for trading securities -                     6,817                 
Available for sale securities 454,326              446,599             
Held to maturity securities 3,595                  14,273               

457,921              467,689             
On deposits with financial institutions 405                     436                    
On securities purchased under resale agreements 91                       306                    
On clean lending 113                     -                    
On call money lending 3,789                  7,407                 

776,306              741,444             

23. MARK-UP/RETURN/INTEREST EXPENSED
On deposits 596,499              345,360             
On securities sold under repurchase agreements 550,778              375,321             
On SBP Refinance Scheme 1,029                  409                    
Brokerage and commission 1,081                  2,288                 
Bank charges 232                     282                    

1,149,619            723,660             

24. FEE & COMMISSION INCOME
Branch Banking customer fees 2,155                  1,976                 
Card related fees 431                     251                    
Credit related fees 2,709                  3,877                 
Commission on guarantees 4,526                  3,183                 
Commission on remittances 95                       139                    
Others 17                       15                     

9,933                  9,441                 

25. GAIN/(LOSS) ON SECURITIES
Realised 25.1 7                        1,001                 
Unrealised - held for trading -                     -                    

7                        1,001                 

25.1 Realised gain on:
Federal government securities - net 7                        1,625                 
Shares -                     (624)                  

7                        1,001                 

26. OTHER INCOME
Gain on sale of operating fixed assets - net -                     236                    
Fee on fund managed by the Bank -EPF 974                     974                    
Others 6                        9                       

980                     1,219                 
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
27. OPERATING EXPENSES Note (Rupees in '000)

Total compensation expense 27.1 664,192              623,111            
Property expense
Rent & taxes 27.2 7,553                  69,724              
Insurance 1,343                  1,309                
Utilities cost 21,136                17,361              
Security (including guards) 15,480                16,221              
Repair & maintenance 5,948                  6,110                
Depreciation 27.2 50,905                780                   
Others -                     -                   

102,365              111,505            
Information technology expenses
Software maintenance 4,466                  3,226                
Hardware maintenance 1,953                  1,086                
Depreciation 5,106                  3,920                
Amortization 1,296                  1,186                
Network charges 14,253                9,480                
Others 807                     1,825                

27,881                20,723              
Other operating expenses
Directors' fees, allowances and other expenses -                     1,068                
Legal and professional charges 4,732                  8,378                
Outsourced services costs 27.3 & 33.1 26,630                24,232              
Travelling and conveyance 5,260                  2,660                
NIFT clearing charges 1,837                  1,887                
Depreciation 14,676                15,896              
Training & development 1,679                  928                   
Postage & courier charges 853                     806                   
Communications 4,755                  4,564                
Stationery and printing 5,170                  6,353                
Marketing, advertisement & publicity 1,148                  1,625                
Donations -                     -                   
Auditors' remuneration 27.4 1,068                  922                   
Vehicle running and maintenance 4,512                  6,293                
Entertainment 2,478                  2,677                
Subscription, books and newspapers 2,962                  3,140                
Deposits premium 3,617                  1,808                
Loss on sale of operating fixed assets - net 32                       -                   
Others 1,348                  551                   

82,757                83,788              
877,195              839,127            
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

27.1 Total compensation expense 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Managerial remuneration
   - Fixed 280,133              279,284            
Charge for defined benefit plans

- pension fund and gratuity 115,434               85,025              
- funded gratuity scheme 10,541                11,649              
- unfunded compensated absences 15,050                4,620                

Contribution to defined contribution plan - benevolent fund 429                     (3,821)               
Rent & house maintenance 90,429                91,892              
Utilities 27,767                27,701              
Medical 38,399                36,382              
Conveyance 14,035                13,919              
Telephone 3,937                  4,398                
Uniform allowance 1,167                  1,188                
Child education allowance 7,159                  7,256                
Group insurance 1,215                  1,278                
Overtime 1,442                  1,964                
Adhoc relief 1,221                  1,248                
Leave absence 5,927                  8,646                
Leave fare assistance 13,839                15,803              
Rental in lieu of vehicle 6,538                  6,274                
Reimbursement of vehicle running & maintenance 28,609                26,823              
Others 921                     1,582                

664,192              623,111            
27.2

27.3

2019 2018
27.4 Auditors' remuneration (Rupees in '000)

Audit fee 928                     800                   
Fee for other statutory certifications 116                     100                   
Fee for audit of employees funds 24                       22                     
Tax services -                     -                   
Out-of-pocket expenses -                     -                   

1,068                  922                   

28. OTHER CHARGES
Penalties imposed by the State Bank of Pakistan 2,089                  2,254                
Right of use assets - unwinding of PV 67,337                -                   

69,426                2,254                

29. PROVISIONS & WRITE OFFS - NET
Provisions against lending to financial institutions -                      -                   
Provisions for diminution in value of investment (20,000)               45,532              
Provisions against loans & advances 628                     20,159              
Other provisions/written off directly
against other assets 14                       (895)                  
Bad debts written off directly -                     -                   

(19,358)               64,796              

Total cost for the year included in other operating expenses relating to outsourced activities is Rs 26.630 million (2018:
Rs 24.232 million) related to companies incorporated in Pakistan. Material outsourcing arrangements are as follows: The
outsourced cost includes the services of messengers, drivers, IT coordinators and electronic financial transaction (EFT).

Adoption of IFRS16 'Leases' resulted in increase in depreciation expense of Rs. 50.125 million and decrease of rent of Rs.
68.996 million.
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30. TAXATION  2019  2018 
Note

Current 30.2 11,285                 9,772                 
Deferred (226,385)             (60,110)              

(215,100)              (50,338)              

30.1 Relationship between tax expense and accounting loss
Loss before tax (1,287,409)          (876,276)             

Applicable tax rate 35% 35%

2019 2018

Tax on loss (450,593)             (306,697)             
Deferred tax asset recognised during the year (226,385)             (60,110)              
Tax effect of income taxed at lower rate 28                       19                      
Minimum tax 11,257                 9,753                 
Other permanent differences 450,593              306,697              

(215,100)              (50,338)              

30.2

31. BASIC/DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE  2019  2018 

Net loss after tax for the year (1,072,309)          (825,938)             

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 239,250,700        239,250,700       

Basic/diluted loss per share (4.48)                   (3.45)                  

There is no dilutive effect on the basic earning per share of the Bank.
32. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  2019  2018 

Cash and balances with treasury banks 650,565              443,839              
Balances with other banks 4,537                  16,238                

655,102               460,077              

2019 2018
33. STAFF STRENGTH

Permanent 170 175
On bank contract 203 188
Bank's own staff strength at the end of the year 373 363

Average number of employees
Permanent 173 177
On bank contract 196 194

369 371
33.1 In addition to the above, 107 (2018: 123) employees of outsourcing services companies were assigned to the Bank as at the

end of the year to perform services which mainly includes IT services, messengers and drivers.

(Rupees in '000)

Due to tax losses during the current year the provision for current tax is charged on minimum tax rate of 1.25% for the
period from January 01 to June 30, 2019 and 1.50% for the period from July 01 to December 31, 2019 of the turnover.

(Rupees in '000)

Numbers

(Rupees in '000)

Number of shares

Rupees

(Rupees in '000)
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Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
36. COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
36.1 Total compensation expense

Fees and allowances etc. -             -             -                 885             -                  -              
Managerial remuneration
     i) Fixed -             2,444         107,622          -              6,885              87,974        
     ii) Variable -             -             -                 -              -                  -              
Charge for defined benefit plan -             1,764          44,033           -              2,791              28,510        
Rent & house maintenance -             1,344          30,597           -              3,787              23,903        
Utilities -             244            10,424            -              688                 8,485          
Medical -             367            10,346            -              1,033              8,421          
Conveyance -             -             566                -              -                  390             
Motor car running & maintenance -             500            26,265           -              1,039              19,210        
Leave fare assistance -             -             -                 -              1,785              -              
Leave absence -             -             -                 -              1,729              -              
Others -             731             22,929           183             1,320              18,264        
Total -             7,394         252,782          1,068          21,057            195,157       

Number of persons 1 64 5 1 52

36.2 Remuneration paid to directors for participation in board and committee meetings

Board audit 
committee

Risk 
management 

committee

Human 
resource 

committee

Board 
remuneration 

committee
Total 

1 Due to absence of board no
meetings of the board and
its committees held during
the current year.

                -                   -                      -                   -                       -                  -   

Board audit 
committee

Risk 
management 
committee

Human 
resource 

committee

Board 
remuneration 

committee
Total 

1 Mr. Muhammad Adnan Jalil              125                60                    60                45                     -                290 

2 Mr. Zarar Haider                50                30                    30                 -                       -                110 
3 Mr. Badr-ul-Arifeen              125                60                    60                45                     -                290 
4 Mr. Sher Ayub Khan              125                30                    -                   -                       -                155 
5 Mr. Muhammad Arshad 

Khan
               25                15                    -                   -                       -                  40 

Total amount paid              450              195                  150                90                     -                885 

President/
CEO Executives

Non-
executive 
directors 

President/
CEO

2019 2018

Executives

Meeting fees and allowances paid
2019

Name of directorSr.
no.

For board committees

(Rupees in '000)

Items

(Rupees in '000)

Executive means an employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose basic salary exceeds twelve hundred
thousand rupees in a financial year. The remuneration of directors has been fixed in accordance with the Article of
Association which include Rs. 25,000 and Rs. 15,000 for attending board meetings and meetings of committee of board

i l

(Rupees in '000)

Non-
executive 
directors 

2018

Sr.
no. Name of director

Meeting fees and allowances paid

For board 
meetings

For board committees

For board 
meetings
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
38. SEGMENT INFORMATION
38.1 Segment details with respect to business activities

The segment analysis with respect to business activity is as follows:

Trading & Commercial 
sales banking

Profit & loss

Net mark-up/return/profit 461,914           314,392            776,306                  
Inter segment revenue - net -                  237,196            237,196                  
Non mark-up/return/interest income 2,254              10,913              13,167                    
Total income 464,168           562,501            1,026,669               

Segment direct expenses 571,657           1,524,583         2,096,240               
Inter segment expenses allocation 237,196           -                   237,196                  
Total expenses 808,853           1,524,583         2,333,436               

Provisions (20,000)           642                  (19,358)                   
Loss before tax (324,685)         (962,724)          (1,287,409)              

Trading & Commercial 
Sales Banking

Balance sheet

Cash & bank balances 432,679           222,423            655,102                  
Investments 5,739,975        -                   5,739,975               
Net inter segment lending 3,182,440         3,182,440               
Lending to financial institutions -                  -                   -                         
Advances - Performing -                  1,769,906         1,769,906               
               - Non-performing -                  138,089            138,089                  
Others 663,285           1,185,644         1,848,929               
Total assets 6,835,939        6,498,502         13,334,441              

Borrowings 3,580,455        74,316              3,654,771               
Deposits & other accounts -                  7,500,708         7,500,708               
Net inter segment borrowing 3,182,440        -                   3,182,440               
Others 415,993           1,092,974         1,508,967               
Total liabilities 7,178,888        8,667,998         15,846,886             
Equity (342,949)         (2,169,496)        (2,512,445)              
Total equity & liabilities 6,835,939        6,498,502         13,334,441              

Contingencies & commitments 3,560,826        1,680,185         5,241,011                

(Rupees in '000)

Total

December 31, 2019

Total

(Rupees in '000)

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Trading & Commercial 
sales banking

Profit & loss

Net mark-up/return/profit 475,402           266,042            741,444                   
Inter segment revenue - net -                  142,309            142,309                   
Non mark-up/return/interest income 1,457               10,660              12,117                    
Total income 476,859           419,011            895,870                   

Segment direct expenses 396,523           1,168,518          1,565,041                
Inter segment expenses allocation 142,309           -                    142,309                   
Total expenses 538,832           1,168,518          1,707,350                

Provisions 45,532             19,264              64,796                    
Loss before tax (107,505)          (768,771)           (876,276)                 

Trading & Commercial 
sales banking

Balance sheet

Cash & bank balances 260,427           199,650            460,077                   
Investments 5,765,155         -                    5,765,155                
Net inter segment lending -                  1,745,739          1,745,739                
Lending to financial institutions -                  -                    -                          
Advances - Performing -                  2,118,166          2,118,166                
               - Non-performing -                  112,597            112,597                   
Others 591,454           591,047            1,182,501                
Total assets 6,617,036         4,767,199          11,384,235              

Borrowings 4,716,350         23,545              4,739,895                
Deposits & other accounts -                  5,721,008          5,721,008                
Net inter segment borrowing 1,745,739         -                    1,745,739                
Others 417,915           453,540            871,455                   
Total liabilities 6,880,004         6,198,093          13,078,097              
Equity (262,968)          (1,430,894)         (1,693,862)               
Total equity & liabilities 6,617,036         4,767,199          11,384,235              

Contingencies & commitments 4,669,798         1,533,687          6,203,485                

Assumptions used:

-

-

38.2 Segment details with respect to geographical locations
Presently the Bank does not deal outside Pakistan.

Unallocable assets representing 6.19% (2018: 5.16%) of the gross assets have been allocated to segments based on
their respective incomes.
Unallocable liabilities representing 5.26% (2018: 5.45%) of the gross liabilities have been allocated to segments based
on their respective incomes.

December 31, 2018

(Rupees in '000)

Total

(Rupees in '000)

Total

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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40. CAPITAL ADEQUACY

2019 2018
Regulatory capital base (Rupees in '000)
Tier I capital 
    Shareholders capital/assigned capital 2,392,507     2,392,507       
    Reserves 206,526        206,526         
    Unappropriated/unremitted profits (net of losses) (4,811,162)    (3,857,090)     

(2,212,129)    (1,258,057)     
    Less: Adjustments

Goodwill/intangible Assets 1,331            2,401             
Investment in equity of subsidiary 80,748          80,748           
Deficit on revaluation of available for sale investments 300,316        435,805         

382,395        518,954         

Total tier I capital (2,594,524)    (1,777,011)     

Tier II capital 8                  25                  
Eligible tier III capital -               -                
Total regulatory capital (a) (2,594,516)    (1,776,986)     

Risk-weighted exposures 
Risk adjusted Risk adjusted

value value
Credit risk
Balance sheet items:
   Cash and other liquid assets 655,102               907               460,077         3,248             
   Investments/lending to financial institutions 5,739,975           65,554           5,765,155      66,164           
   Loans and advances 1,907,995            1,150,542      2,230,763      1,355,327       
   Fixed assets 532,112               532,112         55,376           55,376           

Deferred tax assets 752,294              752,294         525,695         525,695         
   Other assets 563,192               278,432         599,029         305,334         

10,150,670          2,779,841      9,636,095      2,311,144       
Off balance sheet items
Weighted non-funded exposures 206,700              103,350         112,676         56,338           

206,700              103,350         112,676         56,338           

Credit risk-weighted exposures (b) 10,357,370          2,883,191      9,748,771      2,367,482       

Market risk 728,771         1,037,278       
Market risk-weighted exposures -                      728,771         -                1,037,278       

Total risk-weighted exposures (c) 3,611,962      3,404,760       
Capital adequacy ratio credit risk [ (a)/(b) x 100 ] -89.99% -75.06%
Total Capital adequacy ratio [ (a)/(c) x 100 ] -71.83% -52.19%

The risk weighted assets to capital ratio, calculated in accordance with the State Bank's guidelines on capital adequacy is as
follows:

2019 2018

(Rupees in '000)

State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) has granted exemption to the Bank vide letter no. BSD/SU-21/220/1624/2007 dated June 08,
2007 from computing capital adequacy ratio (CAR) under BASEL II till restructuring/privatization and has granted
exemption from implementation of BASEL III Capital Instructions till restructuring/privatization vide SBP letter no.
BPRD/BA&CPD/646/000886/16 dated January 12, 2016. Accordingly, the Bank computes CAR under BASEL I and SBP
has allowed exemption in meeting the minimum CAR requirements of 10% till December 31, 2019 or completion of
restructuring/ privatization of the Bank, whichever is earlier vide SBP letter no. BPRD/BA&CPD/646/332/20 dated
January 6, 2020.

Book value Book value 
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41. RISK MANAGEMENT
41.1 Credit risk

41.1.1 Advances
Credit risk by industry sector

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Chemical and pharmaceuticals 143,223       170,949         97,069        95,741           93,852       94,462         
Agriculture, forestry,
 hunting and fishing
Mining & quarrying 9,053          9,053             9,053          9,053             9,053         9,053           
Textile 374,198       383,895         337,056      337,933         336,233     336,957       
Cement -              20,268           -             20,268           -            20,268         

63,968         67,224           59,850        59,481           58,115        58,115         

Financial 189,942       189,107         -             -                -            -              
Insurance -              -                -             -                -            -              

306,148       345,684         67,420        68,330           67,316       68,181         

Wholesale and trade 1,811,169     1,602,704      1,524,041    1,361,326      1,488,633   1,327,462     

99,016         29,384           20,841        20,597           3,398         654              
Individuals 1,136,643    1,625,308      1,050,840   1,521,485      1,050,840   1,521,485     
Services 348,358       284,096         140,796      74,276           100,039      60,208         
Government -              -                -             -                -            -              
Others 2,269,727    2,357,172      1,843,360   1,572,534      1,813,727   1,535,148     

7,165,053    7,488,450      5,395,139   5,370,259      5,257,050  5,257,662     

41.1.2 Segment by sector

Public/government -              -                -             -                -            -              
Private 7,165,053    7,488,450      5,395,139   5,370,259      5,257,050  5,257,662     

7,165,053    7,488,450      5,395,139   5,370,259      5,257,050  5,257,662     

Transport, storage, and 
communication

Construction

Footwear and leather garments

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognised at the reporting date if counter parties failed
completely to perform as contracted. The Bank is not exposed to major concentration of credit risk. Written procedures
for credit and risk management functions have been developed and implemented. Credit evaluation system comprise of
well designed loan approval and review responsibilities and it is ensured that Bank's credit-granting activities conform to
the established strategy, prudential regulations and SBP instructions are strictly followed. To ensure that credit granting
activities are adequately diversified, besides fixing limits on individual credit, it is ascertained that there is no concentration
in a particular industry or economic sector, geographical region and specific product. Special attention is placed on such
non-performing loans and a Special Assets Management Division follows up and recovers all such loans.

Automobile and transportation 
equipment

Electronics and electrical 
appliances

Power (electricity), gas, water 
and sanitary

Non-performing advances Gross advances  Provision held

(Rupees in '000)

203,971         234,078         232,496       

716231,546           50,024         

54,999         54,947           13,036           

76,089         83,035           7,255          5,066             3,956         5,066           

201,927      201,927      203,276       

20,324        19,379       6,191           

15,307        10,582       11,136         

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
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41.1.3 Contingencies and commitments
Credit risk by industry sector 2019 2018

Chemical and pharmaceuticals 379              1,900              
Agriculture, forestry, hunting and fishing 4                  73                  
Mining & quarrying -               -                 
Textile 6,556           14,863            
Cement -               -                 
Sugar -               -                 
Footwear and leather garments -               999                
Automobile and transportation equipment 10,002          679                
Financial 3,568,670     4,678,491       
Insurance -               -                 
Electronics and electrical appliances 7,253           3,408              
Construction 266,385        140,248          
Power (electricity), gas, water and sanitary 25,403         29,220            
Wholesale and trade 89,761          66,260            
Exports/imports -               -                 
Transport, storage and communication 18,000          -                 
Individuals 34,620         89,203            
Services 11,294          18,371            
Government 1,050,753     932,032          
Others 151,931        204,551          

5,241,011      6,180,298       

Credit risk by public/private sector ####### (5,257,662)     

Public/government 1,050,753     932,032          
Private 4,190,258     5,248,266       

5,241,011      6,180,298       

41.1.4 Concentration of advances

2019 2018

Funded 618,945        627,176          
Non funded 176,891        89,719            
Total exposure 795,836        716,895          

The sanctioned limits against these top 10 exposures aggregated to Rs 901.404 million (2018:  Rs. 871.758 million).

Total funded classified therein

Amount  Provision 
held 

Amount
 Provision held 

OAEM -                -               -               -                 
Substandard -                -               -               -                 
Doubtful -                -               -               -                 
Loss -                -               -               -                 
Total -                -               -               -                

(Rupees in '000)

The bank top 10 exposures on the basis of total (funded and non-funded exposures) aggregated to Rs. 795.836 million
(2018:  Rs. 716.895 million) are as following:

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

20182019
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42	 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
	 The coronavirus pandemic and the measures to reduce its spread have significantly impacted 

Pakistan’s economy. Regulators and governments across the globe have introduced fiscal 
and economic stimulus measures to mitigate its impact. The SBP has responded to the crisis 
by taking various measures to maintain banking system soundness and to sustain economic 
activity.

	 The risk management function of  the Bank is regularly conducting assessments to identify 
borrowers operating in various economic sectors which are most likely to get adversely 
affected. The Bank has further strengthened its credit review procedures in the light of  
COVID-19. Overall, the COVID-19 situation remains fluid and is rapidly evolving, which 
makes it challenging to reliably reflect related impacts. Nonetheless, the outbreak is expected 
to have an impact on the macro-economic environment beyond reasonable doubt, and will 
in turn adversely affect the repayment behaviors of  the Bank borrowers’ in short to medium 
term. The situation will continue to be closely monitored and due measures will be initiated 
to mitigate the risk of  potential defaults. The Bank has received applications for deferral of  
principal amounts of  loan obligations and is expected to receive further such applications. 
These applications are being reviewed by the Bank as per its established policies. The above 
will have an impact on the maturity profile. The Bank is continuously monitoring the   liquidity 
position and is taking due precautionary measures where needed. The Bank is confident 
that the liquidity buffer currently maintained by the Bank is sufficient to cater any adverse 
movement in cash flow maturity profile. Under the current scenario, the banks are under 
pressure to extend further credit to its borrowers, while overall deteriorating credit risk and 
increased NPL.

	 The Bank has determined that these events are non-adjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, 
the financial position and results of  operations as of  and for the year ended 31 December 
2019 have not been adjusted to reflect their impact.

43	 DATE OF AUTHORIZATION
	 These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of  Directors of  the Bank 

on July 25,  2020.

Notes to the Unconsol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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SMEBL: HO: CFO&CS: 2020/   /

NOTICE OF 17th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
To
All Members of  the Bank 
M/s Grant Thornton Anjum Rahman

Notice is hereby given that 17th   Annual General Meeting of  SME Bank Limited will be held on 
Thursday, August 20, 2020 at 3:00 pm at Registered Office, SME Bank Ltd., 56-F, Nazimuddin 
Road, Blue Area, F-6/1, Islamabad to transact the following:

Ordinary Business:
1.		  To confirm the minutes of  16th Annual General Meeting of  shareholders of  the Company 

held on March 29, 2018.
2.		  To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of  the Bank and Consolidated 

Statements for the year ended 31st December 2018 , together with notes thereto, along 
with Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports to the shareholders, Statement of  Compliance with 
Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules and Review Report thereon by the 
Auditors.

3.	 Review of  Contents of  Annual Report 2018.
4.	 To appoint Auditors and to fix their remuneration for the year ending December 31, 2020 

and required post facto approval to appoint and to fix their remuneration for the year ended 
December 31, 2019.

5.	 To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of  the Bank and Consolidated 
Statements for the year ended 31st December 2019, together with notes thereto, along 
with Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports to the shareholders, Statement of  Compliance with 
Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules and Review Report thereon by the 
Auditors.

6.	 Review of  Contents of  Annual Report 2019.
7.	 To transact any other business with the permission of  the Chair.

By Order of  the Board
Islamabad

Sameena Gul
Dated:  July 29, 2020	 A.CFO &Company Secretary

(Cell # 0300-5070570)
Notes:

1.	 A Member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote for 
him/her at the meeting. A proxy must be a member of  the company. However, an association (whether 
body corporate or not) being a member of  the Company may appoint as its proxy one of  its officers 
though not a member of  the Company. (Form of  Proxy is attached)

2.	 An instrument of  the proxy and the Power of  Attorney or other Authority (if  any) under which it is 
signed or a notarially certified copy of  such Power of  Attorney or Authority in order to be valid must 
be duly signed and deposited at registered office of  the Company not less than 48 hours before the time 
of  holding the meeting.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the members of  SME Bank Limited

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements of  SME Bank Limited (the Bank) 
and its subsidiary  (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of  financial position as 
at December 31, 2019 and the consolidated profit and loss account, the consolidated statement of  
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of  changes in equity and the consolidated cash 
flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of  significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, except for the effects of  the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of  our 
report, consolidated financial statements give and true and fair view of  the consolidated financial position of  
the Group as at December 31, 2019, and of  its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year ended in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable 
in Pakistan.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

a)	 Deferred tax asset of  Rs. 752.294 million has been recognized on the basis of  expected profits 
arising from future privatization of  the Bank as described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial 
information which we have not been able to verify. Advance income tax includes refunds 
aggregating to Rs. 232.599 million for tax years 2003 and 2004. These refunds were recorded on 
the basis of  an order of  the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue dated February 10, 2011 whereby 
provision for doubtful debts was allowed to be taken as a deductible expense. The issue of  
allowing provision for doubtful debts as an expense, in the case of  another bank, was successfully 
challenged by tax department in the Islamabad High Court. The high court rules in favor of  
the tax department through its order dated March 13, 2018 which has also been upheld by the 
Supreme Court of  Pakistan through its order dated June 05, 2018 due to which the bank has no 
legal basis to continue to recognize the receivable as an asset; and.

b)	 As explained in Note 11.3, the loan portfolios of  Small Business Finance Corporation (SBFC) 
and Regional Development Finance Corporation (RDFC) was transferred to National Bank of  
Pakistan due to envisaged privatization of  the Bank, however, the portfolio continues to appear 
as an asset in the books of  the Bank.

Material uncertainties relating to Going Concern

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in 
Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of  the Financial Statements section of  our report. We are independent of  the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of  Ethics for Professional 
Accountants as adopted by the Institute of  the Chartered Accountants of  Pakistan (the Code) and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

i.	 We draw attention to note 7.2.1 to the consolidated financial statements which describes that 
during the current year the Bank incurred a net loss of  Rs. 1,072.309 million (2018: Rs. 825.938 



Grant Thornton Anjum Rahman

Chartered Accountants
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd.

126

million) resulting into accumulated losses of  Rs. 4,811.162 million (2018: Rs. 3,857.090 million). 
As of  December 31, 2019, the reporting date, the total liabilities of  the Bank have exceeded its 
total assets by Rs. 2,512.445 million (2018: Rs. 1,693.862) indicating the negative equity and due 
to surplus of  current demand liabilities over its total unencumbered current liquid assets creating 
a negative working capital of  Rs. 7.859 billion (2018: Rs. 7.267 billion) which indicates the Bank’s 
inadequate capacity to ensure the timely repayments. Due to cash inadequacy the Bank was unable 
to meet the statutory solvency requirements of  minimum capital (MCR) of  Rs. 10,000 million 
and the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of  10% and has failed on multiple times in maintaining 
the minimum statutory liquidity requirement (SLR) in first half  of  current year. Due to continued 
stressed financial conditions the Bank’s credit rating fell from B negative (single B-) to CCC. 
Based on the operational results SBP granted exemption from meeting the MCR and CAR up to 
December 31, 2019 or restructuring/privatization, whichever is earlier, subject to submission of  
a concrete plan from the Ministry of  Finance (MoF) to provide a firm commitment to inject the 
required amount of  capital funds in the Bank, if  its privatization does not materialize by March 31, 
2020. As stated in note 7.2.1, these conditions indicate the existence of  a material uncertainty that 
may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.

ii.	 Note 7.2.2 to the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that SME Leasing Limited has 
incurred loss of  Rs. 35.694 million (2018: Rs. 21.361 million) for the year ended December 31, 
2019, resulting in accumulated loss of  Rs. 291.358 million (2018: Rs. 256.784 million) as at balance 
sheet date and as of  that date the Company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets by Rs. 
54.805 million (2018: Rs. 44.649 million). These conditions, along with other matters as set forth 
in the above referred note; indicate the existence of  a material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of  above matters.

Emphasis of  matter

We draw attention to note 1.1.3 to the consolidated financial statements which fully explain the status 
of  application filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission of  Pakistan for renewal of  license 
to operate as leasing company.

We draw attention to note 15.3 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes in detail the 
status of  possession of  property at Lahore.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of  above matters.

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report 
Thereon

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of  assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of  consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
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appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of  this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of  Management and the Board of  Directors for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of  the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and 
the Companies Act, 2017 and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of  consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of  accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of  Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of  the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of  assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of  users taken on the basis of  these consolidated financial statements.

As part of  an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of  material misstatement of  the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of  not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of  internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of  internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of  expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of  the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of  accounting policies used and the reasonableness of  
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of  management’s use of  the going concern basis of  
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accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If  we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if  such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of  our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of  the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of  the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of  the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of  Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of  the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

Engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Hassan Riaz

GRANT THORNTON ANJUM RAHMAN
Chartered Accountants
Islamabad
July 25, 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at  December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018
Note

ASSETS
Cash and balances with treasury banks 8 650,638                443,927                 
Balances with other banks 9 5,252                    20,718                   
Lendings to financial institutions -                       -                        
Investments 10 5,659,227             5,684,407              
Advances 11 2,224,724             2,581,619              
Fixed assets 12 548,676                60,375                   
Intangible assets 13 1,331                     2,479                     
Deferred tax assets - net 14 752,294                525,695                 
Other assets 15 558,296                594,901                 

10,400,438            9,914,121              
 LIABILITIES

Bills payable 16 51,543                  118,788                 
Borrowings 17 3,655,144              4,740,268              
Deposits and other accounts 18 7,500,708             5,719,446              
Liability against assets subject to finance lease -                       -                        
Sub-ordinated loans -                       -                        
Deferred tax liabilities -                       -                        
Other liabilities 20 1,709,128              998,547                 

12,916,523            11,577,049            
NET LIABILITIES (2,516,085)            (1,662,928)             

REPRESENTED BY
Share capital 21 2,392,507             2,392,507              
Reserves 234,660                234,660                 
Deficit on revaluation of assets - net of tax 22 (300,316)               (435,805)                
Unappropriated loss (4,869,557)            (3,890,197)             

(2,542,706)            (1,698,835)             
Non-controlling interest 26,621                  35,907                   

(2,516,085)            (1,662,928)             

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 24
 

(Rupees in '000)

The annexed notes from 1 to 46 and annexure-I form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018

Note

Mark-up/return/interest earned 25 782,461                 758,406                  
Mark-up/return/interest expensed 26 1,149,641               723,764                  
Net mark-up/interest (loss)/income (367,180)                34,642                    
NON MARK-UP/INTEREST INCOME
Fee and commission income 27 9,933                     9,441                     
Dividend income 2,247                     456                        
Foreign exchange income -                        -                         
Income/(loss) from derivatives -                        -                         
Gain on securities 28 7                           1,001                     
Other income 29 1,000                     1,389                     
Total non-markup/interest income 13,187                   12,287                    
Total (loss)/income (353,993)                46,929                    
NON MARK-UP/INTEREST EXPENSES

Operating expenses 30 921,426                 882,769                  
Workers Welfare Fund                                        -                         -                         
Other charges 31 71,463                   2,254                     
Total non-markup/interest expenses 992,889                 885,023                  
Loss before provisions (1,346,882)             (838,094)                 
Provisions and write offs - net 32 (24,089)                 11,447                    
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (1,322,793)             (849,541)                 
Taxation 33 (214,790)                (49,988)                  
LOSS AFTER TAXATION (1,108,003)             (799,553)                 

Attributable to:
  Equity holders of the Bank (1,098,416)             (793,816)                 
  Non-controlling interest (9,587)                   (5,737)                    
Loss available for appropriation (1,108,003)             (799,553)                 

Basic/diluted (loss) per share (rupees) 34 (4.63)                     (3.34)                      

(Rupees in '000)

The annexed notes from 1 to 46 and annexure-I form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018

Net loss after taxation (1,108,003)             (799,553)                 
Other comprehensive income

135,489                 (407,825)                 

119,357                  (25,961)                  

Total comprehensive loss (853,157)                (1,233,339)              

Attributable to :
Equity holders of the Bank (843,871)                (1,227,546)              
Non-controlling interest (9,286)                   (5,793)                    

(853,157)                (1,233,339)              

Items that will not be reclassified to 
profit and loss account in subsequently periods:
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligations - net

 (Rupees in '000) 

Items that may be reclassified to 
profit and loss account in subsequently periods:
Movement in deficit on revaluation of investment - net 

The annexed notes from 1 to 46 and annexure-I form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

 2019 

Note
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Loss before taxation (1,322,793)             (849,541)                 
   Less: Dividend income (2,247)                   (456)                       

(1,325,040)             (849,997)                 
Adjustments:
   Depreciation 74,127                   21,868                    
   Amortization 1,374                     1,419                     
   Interest on leased liability 69,374                   -                         
   Provision and write-offs 32 (24,089)                 11,447                    
   Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets 29                         (398)                       
   Finance charges on leased assets -                        -                         

120,815                  34,336                    
(1,204,225)             (815,661)                 

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets
   Lending's to financial institutions -                        -                         
   Held-for-trading securities -                        -                         
   Advances 360,998                 263,266                  
   Other assets (excluding advance taxation) 21,280                   (4,316)                    

382,278                 258,950                  
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities
   Bills payable (67,245)                 26,234                    
   Borrowings from financial institutions (1,085,124)             (568,420)                 
   Deposits 1,781,262               375,847                  
   Other liabilities (excluding current taxation) 278,187                 63,193                    

907,080                 (103,146)                 
85,133                   (659,857)                 

Income tax paid (2,978)                   (2,336)                    
Net cash flow (used in)/from operating activities 82,155                   (662,193)                 
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
   Net disinvestment in available-for-sale securities 180,455                 192,415                  
   Net disinvestment in held-to-maturity securities -                        500,000                  
   Dividend received 2,247                     456                        
   Investment in operating fixed assets (1,003)                    (15,448)                  
   Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 771                        456                        
Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities 182,470                 677,879                  
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
   Payment of lease liabilities (73,380)                 -                         
Net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities (73,380)                 -                         
Increase/(decrease)in cash and cash equivalents 191,245                  15,686                    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 464,645                 448,959                  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 35 655,890                 464,645                  

(Rupees in '000)

2018

The annexed notes from 1 to 46 and annexure-I form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1	 The Group

1.1.1	 The Group comprises of  SME Bank Limited (the Bank) and SME Leasing Limited (SMEL).

1.1.2	 SME Bank Limited
	 SME Bank Limited (the Bank) is a public limited company incorporated in Pakistan on 

October 30, 2001 under the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984 having its registered office 
at 56-F, Nazim-ud-Din Road, F-6/1, Blue Area Islamabad. The Bank obtained its business 
commencement certificate on April 16, 2005 which became effective from the date of  its issue. 
The Bank is a scheduled commercial bank engaged in the business of  banking with the primary 
objective to support and develop Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) sector in Pakistan by 
providing necessary financial assistance and business support services on sustainable basis. 
The Bank is operating through a network of   13 commercial banking branches. Based on the 
latest credit rating report dated November 22, 2018 issued by Pakistan Credit Rating Agency 
Limited (PACRA), credit rating of  the Bank was “CCC” in the long term and “B” (Single B) 
in the short term.  Subsequent to above, credit rating of  Bank could not be updated as the 
approved accounts of  the Bank were not available due to inexistence of  its board of  directors 
throughout the year 2019.

	 In terms of  Bank’s License No. BL-05 dated September 13, 2004 issued under section 27 of  
the Banking Companies Ordinance 1962, the Bank is required to hold minimum paid-up-
capital (net of  losses) of  Rs. 1.0 billion at the time of  issuance of  the license, and at all times 
thereafter during which the above capital is required to be raised to Rs. 1.5 billion by December 
31, 2004 and to Rs. 2.0 billion by December 31, 2005 or any other amount prescribed by the 
State Bank of  Pakistan (SBP) from time to time. SBP granted exemption vide its letter No. 
BPRD/BA&CPD/646/332/2020 dated January 06, 2020 from meeting the minimum capital 
requirement (MCR) till December 31, 2019 or completion of  restructuring/privatization of  
the Bank, whichever is earlier. The said relaxation from SBP was subject to submission of  a 
concrete plan from the Ministry of  Finance (MoF) of  providing firm commitment to inject the 
required amount of  capital in the Bank if  its privatization is not materialize by March 31, 2020. 
Subsequent to above the MoF through its letter No. F.3(27)IF-III/2005-185 dated February 
26, 2020 has informed SBP that the privatization process is at advanced stage which is likely to 
be completed within the period of  three to four months and requested SBP for extension of  
relaxation of  MCR till June 30, 2020. In view of  the current stage of  privatization of  the Bank 
the MoF and the management of  the Bank are hopeful of  further extension of  relaxation of   
MCR requirement by SBP.

	 Amalgamation of  defunct RDFC and SBFC
	 The Federal Government promulgated the Regional Development Finance Corporation 

(RDFC) and Small Business Finance Corporation (SBFC) Amalgamation and Conversion 
Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance 2001) setting forth the mechanism of  amalgamation of  
defunct RDFC and SBFC. Both these entities were Development Financial Institutions 
(DFIs). In pursuance of  the Ordinance 2001, Finance Division, Ministry of  Finance issued 
an Order (SRO (1) 2001) dated December 29, 2001 setting forth the scheme of  amalgamation 
of  RDFC and SBFC with the Bank effective January 1, 2002. Pursuant to this scheme entire 
assets and liabilities of  defunct RDFC and SBFC as at December 31, 2001 were transferred 
to the Bank at fair value. These two institutions stand dissolved and ceased to exist effective 
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January 1, 2002. The Bank allotted its shares to the share holders of  defunct RDFC and SBFC 
in proportion to their shareholding therein based on the fair value of  net assets of  defunct 
RDFC and SBFC on December  31, 2001.

1.1.3	 SME Leasing Limited
	 SME Leasing Limited (SMEL) was incorporated in Pakistan on July 12, 2002 as an unlisted 

public company and acquired the status of  a listed company on December 13, 2006. The Bank 
(the Holding Company) holds 73.14% (December 31, 2018: 73.14%) shares of  SMEL. SMEL 
is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange (formerly Lahore Stock Exchange) and its registered 
office is situated at 56-F, Nazim-ul-Din Road F-6/1, Blue Area, Islamabad. The core objective 
of  the SMEL is to extend lease and working capital financing facilities to small and medium 
enterprises of  the country. SMEL obtained license of  non deposit taking NBFC and as per 
section 4 (Schedule I) of  NBFC Regulations 2008, a non deposit taking NBFC shall have 
minimum equity of  Rs. 50 Million. The PACRA Credit Rating Agency has assigned a long 
term rating of  B+ which was further down grade to B in subsequent year and a short term 
rating of  B. The license of  SMEL to operate as a leasing company expired on May 20, 2019. 
Thereafter, SMEL applied via application reference # SMEL/MO/2019 dated April 16, 2019 
for its renewal in the manner so required by the NBFC rules, 2003. However, renewal of  the 
license was in progress.

2.	 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

	 These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of  the Bank and 
SMEL (collectively referred to as “ the Group”).

	 The assets and liabilities of  the SMEL have been consolidated on a line by line basis and the 
carrying value of  investment held by the Bank is eliminated against the SMEL’s equity held by 
the Bank in the consolidated financial statements.

	 Non-controlling interest is that part of  the net results of  operations and of  net assets of  
SMEL attributable to the interest which are not owned by the Bank. Non controlling interest 
is presented as separate item in these consolidated financial statements.

	 Material intra-group balances and transactions have been eliminated.

3.	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

3.1	 “The SBP vide BPRD Circular No. 02 of  2018 dated January 25, 2018 has amended the 
format of  annual financial statements of  banks. All banks are directed to prepare their 
annual financial statements on the revised format effective from the accounting year 
ending December 31, 2018. Accordingly, the Bank has prepared these financial statements 
on the new format prescribed by the State Bank of  Pakistan. The adoption of  new format 
contains reclassification of  comparative information and additional disclosures, however, the 
same has not materially impacted the balance sheet of  the  Bank pertaining to prior years.” 

3.2	 Items included in the consolidated financial statements are measured using the currency of  
the primary economic environment in which the Bank operates. The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Pakistani Rupee, which is the Bank’s functional currency. Figures 
have been rounded off  to the nearest thousand of  rupees, unless otherwise stated.
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4.	 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

4.1	 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting 
and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. Accounting and reporting standards as 
applicable in Pakistan comprise of  International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as are notified under the Companies 
Act, 2017, provisions of  and the directives issued under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 
1962, the Companies Act, 2017 and directives issued by SBP and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of  Pakistan (SECP). Whenever the requirements of  the Banking Companies 
Ordinance, 1962, Companies Act, 2017 or the directives issued by SBP and SECP differ with 
the requirements of  IFRS, requirements of  the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962, the 
Companies Act, 2017 and the said directives shall prevail.

	 The SBP, vide BSD Circular No. 10, dated August 26, 2002 has deferred the applicability of  
International Accounting Standard 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
and International Accounting Standard 40, Investment Property for banking companies till 
further instructions. Further, according to a notification of  SECP dated April 28, 2008, IFRS 
7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure” has not been made applicable for banks. Accordingly, 
the requirements of  these standards have not been considered in the preparation of  these 
financial statements. However, investments have been classified and valued in accordance with 
the requirements prescribed by SBP through its various circulars.

	 IFRS 8, ‘Operating Segments’ is effective for the Bank’s accounting period beginning on 
or after January 1, 2009. All banking companies in Pakistan are required to prepare their 
annual financial statements in line with the format prescribed under BPRD Circular No. 02 
dated January 25, 2018, ‘Revised Forms of  Annual Financial Statements’, effective from the 
accounting year ended December 31, 2018. Management believes that as the SBP has defined 
the segment categorization in the above mentioned circular, the SBP requirements prevail over 
the requirements specified in IFRS 8. Accordingly, segment information disclosed in these 
financial statements is based on the requirements laid down by the SBP.

	 IFRS 10 - ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’							     
	

	 It replaces the current guidance on consolidation in IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate  
Financial Statements. It introduces a single model of  assessing control whereby an investor 
controls an investee when the investor has the power to control, exposure to variable returns 
and the ability to use its power to influence the returns of  the investee.

	 SECP vide its notification SRO 633 (I)/2014 dated 10 July 2014, adopted IFRS 10 effective 
from the periods starting from 30 June 2014. However, vide its notification SRO 56 (I)/2016 
dated 28 January 2016, provides the requirements of  IFRS 10 will not be applicable with 
respect to investment in mutual funds established under Trust structure.

	 In light of  the above, the application of  IFRS 10 did not result in any additional investee being 
in control of  the Bank.

4.2	 Standards, interpretations of  and amendments to published accounting and reporting 
standards that are not yet effective in the current year

	 The following standards, amendments and interpretations of  accounting and reporting 
standards are effective for accounting periods as given below:

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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Effective date 
(accounting 

periods beginning 
on or after)

IAS 1 Presentation of  Financial Statements January 01, 2020
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Esti-

mates and Errors
January 01, 2020

IFRS 3 Business Combinations January 01, 2020
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments January 01, 2021
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures January 01, 2020
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement January 01, 2020
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 01, 2022

	 The management does not anticipate early adoption of  above standards and amendments and 
is currently evaluating the impact of  adopting these standards.

4.3	 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting 
standards that are effective in the current year	

	 The Group has adopted the following accounting standards and amendments of  lFRSs and 
the improvements to accounting standards which became effective for the current year:

	
4.3.1	 May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers which replaces 

all existing revenue requirements and related interpretations and is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 01, 2018. IFRS 15 redefined the principles for recognising revenue 
and is applicable to all contracts with customers other than contracts in the scope of  other 
standards (such as interest and fee income integral to financial instruments which would be in 
the scope of  IFRS 9 and Lease Income). Certain requirements in IFRS 15 are also relevant for 
the recognition and measurement of  gains or losses on disposal of  non-financial assets that 
are not in the ordinary course of  business.

	 IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with 
customers and requires that revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which an entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring goods or services to a 
customer.

	 The standard requires entities to exercise judgment, taking into consideration all of  the 
relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of  the model to contracts with their 
customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of  obtaining a 
contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard requires 
extensive disclosures.

	 The Group’s revenue streams that are within the scope of  IFRS 15 relate to certain fee and 
commission income. The accounting policy for recognition of  such income is disclosed in 
note 6.11 to these financial statements. The application of  this standard did not have any 
material impact on these financial statements, except for change in description of  accounting 
policy.

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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4.3.2	 IFRS 16 Leases supersedes lAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement 
Contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance 
of  Transactions Involving the Legal Form of  a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for 
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of  leases and requires lessees to 
account for all leases on statement of  financial position.

	 The Group has lease contracts for various properties. Before the adoption of  IFRS 16, the 
Group classified each of  its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as an operating lease. In an 
operating lease, the leased asset was not capitalized and the lease payments were recognised as 
rent expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any prepaid rent and 
accrued rent were recognised under other asset and other liabilities, respectively.

	 Upon adoption of  lFRS 16, the Group applied the recognition and measurement approach of  
IFRS 16 for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of  low-value assets. The standard 
also provides practical expedients, which have been applied by the Bank.

	 The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of  adoption with the 
date of  initial application of  January 01, 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied 
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of  initially applying the standard recognised at the 
date of  initial application. The Group elected to use the transition practical expedient to not 
reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at January 01, 2019. Instead, the Group 
applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying lAS 17 
and IFRIC 4 at the date of  initial application.

	 Accordingly, the Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases 
where the Groupies the lessee and which were previously accounted for as operating leases. 
The right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were recognised on the present value of  future cash 
flows, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of  initial application.

ANK LIMITED
S TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Impact on statements of  financial position 

Increase in fixed assets - right-of-use assets 497,593                      547,718                   
(7,303)                         (6,758)                     

Increase in total assets 490,290                      540,960                   
Increase in deferred taxation 8,481                           
Increase in other liabilities - lease liability against right of use assets (538,756)                     (540,960)                  
Decrease in net assets (39,985)                       -                         

2019
Impact on  profit and loss account (Rupees in '000)

Increase in mark-up expense - lease liability against right-of-use assets (67,337)                   
(Increase) / decrease in administrative expenses:
  -Depreciation on right-of-use assets (50,125)                   
  -Rent expense 68,996                    

18,871                     
Increase in deferred taxation 8,481                      
Decrease in profit (39,985)                   

Reduction in earning per share (0.17)                       
The SMEL
The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of assets:

Right-of-use assets 12,950                       12,950                   
Total right of use assets 12,950                       12,950                   

12,950                       12,950                   

The effect of adoption of IFRS 16 as at January 01, 2019 is as follows:
January 1, 

2019
(Rupees in '000)

Increase in right-of-use assets 12,950                   
Decrease in prepayments -                            
Increase in total assets 12,950                   
Increase in lease liability against assets subject to finance lease (12,950)                  
Increase in net assets -                            

(Rupees in '000)

Adjustment on 
transition to 

IFRS 16

The Bank

Motor vehicles amounting to Rs. 1.782 million were also recognised as right-of-use assets during the year. This
recognition was not made on January 1, 2019 as the Company entered into this lease transaction later in the year.

As at December 31, 
2019

As at January 
01, 2019

Decrease in other assets - advance rent 

(Rupees in '000)

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease

January 1, 
2019

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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ANK LIMITED
S TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Impact on statements of  financial position 

Increase in fixed assets - right-of-use assets 497,593                      547,718                   
(7,303)                         (6,758)                     

Increase in total assets 490,290                      540,960                   
Increase in deferred taxation 8,481                           
Increase in other liabilities - lease liability against right of use assets (538,756)                     (540,960)                  
Decrease in net assets (39,985)                       -                         

2019
Impact on  profit and loss account (Rupees in '000)

Increase in mark-up expense - lease liability against right-of-use assets (67,337)                   
(Increase) / decrease in administrative expenses:
  -Depreciation on right-of-use assets (50,125)                   
  -Rent expense 68,996                    

18,871                     
Increase in deferred taxation 8,481                      
Decrease in profit (39,985)                   

Reduction in earning per share (0.17)                       
The SMEL
The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of assets:

Right-of-use assets 12,950                       12,950                   
Total right of use assets 12,950                       12,950                   

12,950                       12,950                   

The effect of adoption of IFRS 16 as at January 01, 2019 is as follows:
January 1, 

2019
(Rupees in '000)

Increase in right-of-use assets 12,950                   
Decrease in prepayments -                            
Increase in total assets 12,950                   
Increase in lease liability against assets subject to finance lease (12,950)                  
Increase in net assets -                            

(Rupees in '000)

Adjustment on 
transition to 

IFRS 16

The Bank

Motor vehicles amounting to Rs. 1.782 million were also recognised as right-of-use assets during the year. This
recognition was not made on January 1, 2019 as the Company entered into this lease transaction later in the year.

As at December 31, 
2019

As at January 
01, 2019

Decrease in other assets - advance rent 

(Rupees in '000)

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease

January 1, 
2019

5	 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

5.1	 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified for certain investments which are carried at fair value, obligations in 
respect of  defined benefit schemes at their present values.	

5.2	 Use of  critical accounting estimates and judgments
	 The preparation of  consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting and 

reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the use of  certain accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of  applying the Bank’s 
accounting policies. The Bank uses estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 
resulting accounting estimate will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of  future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The areas involving a higher degree of  judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are as 
follow:

i)	 Classification of  investments (note 10.2)
ii)	 Provision/impairment against investments (note 10.2), advances (note 10.4) and 

other assets (note 6.6)
iii)	 Valuation and impairment of  available for sale securities (note 6.2 and 6.6)
iv)	 Useful life and residual value of  property and equipment and intangible assets (note 

6.5)
v)	 Taxation (note 6.8)
vi)	 Staff  retirement benefits (note 6.9)
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6	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES	

	 The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of  these consolidated financial statements 
are consistent with those of  the previous financial year.

6.1	 Cash and cash equivalents
	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of  cash and balances with treasury banks, balances with 

other banks and call money lendings.
	
6.2	 Investments
	 Investments other than those categorized as held-for-trading are initially recognised at fair 

value which includes transactions costs associated with the investments. Investments classified 
as held-for-trading are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in 
the profit and loss account.

	 All regular way purchases/sales of  investment are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date the 
Bank commits to purchase/sell the investments. Regular way purchases or sales of  investment 
require delivery of  securities within the time frame generally established by regulation or 
convention in the market place.

	 The Bank has classified its investment portfolio, except for investments in subsidiary into 
‘held-for-trading’, ‘held-to-maturity’ and ‘available-for-sale’ as follows:

	
	 Held for trading 	
	 These are securities which are acquired with the intention to trade by taking advantage of  

short-term market/interest rate movements and are to be sold within 90 days. These are 
carried at market value, with the related unrealized gain/(loss) on revaluation being taken to 
profit and loss account.

	 Held to maturity 	
	 These represent investments acquired by the Bank with the intention and ability to hold them 

upto maturity. These are carried at amortized cost less impairment if  any. Impairment in debt 
securities is determined in accordance with the requirements of  Prudential Regulations issued 
by SBP.

	 Available for sale 	
	 These are investments that do not fall under the held-for-trading or held-to-maturity categories. 

These are carried at market value except in case of  unquoted securities where market value 
is not available, which are carried at the lower of  cost and break-up value less provision for 
diminution in value, if  any. Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation is taken to ‘surplus/(deficit) on 
revaluation of  assets’ account shown below equity. On derecognition or impairment in quoted 
available-for-sale investments, the cumulative gain or loss previously reported as ‘surplus/
(deficit) on revaluation of  assets’ below equity is included in the profit and loss account for 
the year.	

	 Provision for diminution in values of  securities (other than term finance certificates) is made 
after considering impairment if  any in their values, where the decline in prices of  available 
for sale equity securities is significant or prolonged, it is considered impaired and included in 
consolidated profit and loss account. Provision for diminution in the value of  term finance 
certificates is made as per Prudential Regulations issued by SBP.
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	 Held-for-trading and quoted available-for-sale securities are marked to market with reference 
to ready quotes on Reuters page (PKRV) or MUFAP or the Stock Exchanges, as the case may 
be.

	 Investment in subsidiary	
	 Investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less impairment, if  any. However the investment in 

subsidiary is not marked to market as per prudential regulations issued by SBP.
	
6.3	 Agreements for sale and purchase of  securities (repo and reverse repo)
	 Securities sold under repurchase agreement (repo) are retained in the consolidated financial 

statements as investments and a liability for consideration received is included in borrowings. 
The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as mark-up expense and recognized 
over the period of  contract.

	 Securities purchased under agreement to resell (reverse repo) are included in lendings to 
financial institutions. The difference between  purchase and resale price is treated as mark-up 
income and  recognized over the period of   the contract.

	
6.4	 Advances 
	 Advances are stated net off  specific and general provisions. Provisions are made in accordance 

with the requirements of  Prudential Regulations issued by the SBP and charged to the profit 
and loss account. These regulations prescribe an age based criteria (as supplemented by 
subjective evaluation of  advances by the banks) for classification of  non-performing loans and 
advances and computing provision/allowance there against. Such regulations also require the 
Bank to maintain general provision/allowance against its Small Entity (SE) advances portfolio 
at specified percentage of  such portfolio.

	 Advances are written off  when there is no realistic prospect of  recovery.

6.5	 Capital work-in progress, operating fixed assets, intangibles, depreciation and 
amortization

	 Capital work-in-progress
	 Capital-work-in progress is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if  any. These are 

transferred to operating fixed assets as and when the assets are available for use.

	 Operating fixed assets-owned
	 These are stated at cost less impairment loss and accumulated depreciation except for leasehold 

land. Land is stated at cost less impairment, if  any.

	 Maintenance and normal repairs are charged to consolidated profit and loss account as and 
when incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized.

	 Depreciation
	 Depreciation is charged on straight line method at the rates given in note 12.1, commencing 

from the month in which the asset is available for use. No depreciation is charged in the 
month of  disposal of  the asset. The residual value, useful life and depreciation method is 
reviewed and adjusted, if  appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
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	 Gains or losses on disposal of  property and equipment are taken to the consolidated profit 
and loss account.	

	 Assets subject to finance lease
	 Assets subject to finance lease are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation at the rates 

similar to the bank’s owned assets and impairment loss (if  any). The outstanding obligation 
under finance lease less financial charges allocated to future periods is shown as liability. Finance 
charges are calculated at interest rates implicit in the lease and are charged to consolidated 
profit and loss account in the period in which these are incurred.

	 Intangible assets
	 An intangible asset is recognized only if  it is identifiable, the Bank has control over the asset, 

it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and the cost of  the asset can 
be measured reliably.

	 All intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are initially measured at cost and are 
amortized on a straight line basis at the rate given in note 13 commencing from the month 
when these assets are available for use. Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortization and impairment losses, if  any. The residual value, useful life and amortization 
method is reviewed and adjusted, if  appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

6.6	 Impairment
	 The carrying amount of  assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment, 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of  the assets 
may not be recoverable.  If  such indication exists,  and where the carrying value exceeds the 
estimated recoverable amount,  assets are written down to their recoverable amount. The 
resulting impairment loss is taken to the consolidated profit and loss account. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
value that would have been determined net of  depreciation/amortization, if  no impairment 
loss had been recognized.

	 The available for sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or 
prolonged decline in the value below its cost. Impairment loss is recognized in consolidated 
profit & loss account.	

	
6.7	 Deposits
	 Deposits are recorded at the nominal values of  proceeds received. Markup accrued on deposits 

is recognised separately as part of  other liabilities and is charged to consolidated profit and 
loss account on a time proportion basis.

6.8	 Taxation
	 Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 

is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or below equity, in which case it is 
recognised in other comprehensive income or below equity.

	 Current
	 Provision for current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year using tax 

rates applicable at the date of  consolidated statement of  financial position and any adjustment 
to tax payable for previous years.

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019



143

	 Deferred
	 Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of  all temporary 

differences between the carrying amount of  assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of  taxable profit at the rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when the differences reverse based on the tax rates that 
have been enacted. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax 
losses and tax credits can be utilized. Deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefits will be realized.

	 The Bank also recognizes deferred tax asset/liability on deficit/surplus on revaluation of  
investments which is adjusted against the related deficit/surplus in accordance with the 
requirements of  International Accounting Standard on ‘Income Taxes’ (IAS 12).

	 The Bank takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by the taxation 
authorities. Instances where the Bank’s views differ from the views taken by the income tax 
department at the assessment stage and where the Bank considers that its view on items of  
material nature is in accordance with law, the amounts are shown as contingent liabilities.

6.9	 Staff  retirement and other benefits
	 The Bank operates following staff  retirement and other benefit schemes for its employees:

	 Defined benefit plan- Pension and gratuity scheme	
	 Fully funded defined benefit pension and gratuity scheme for eligible employees. Contributions 

are made in accordance with the actuarial valuation which is carried out periodically using 
‘Projected Unit Credit Method’. All actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately 
through other comprehensive income.

	 Defined benefit funded gratuity scheme
	 The Bank operates a defined benefit funded gratuity scheme for its contractual employees. 

The obligation under the defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme is recognized on the basis 
of  actuarial valuation using the ‘Projected Unit Credit Method’.

	 Defined benefit unfunded gratuity scheme
	 SMEL operates an unapproved and unfunded gratuity scheme covering all of  its permanent 

employees who have completed the qualifying period under the scheme. The scheme is 
administered by the trustees and contributions therein are made in accordance with the 
actuarial recommendations.

	 The valuation in this regard is carried out at each year end, using the ‘Projected Unit Credit 
Method’ for the valuation of  the scheme. Remeasurement of  the defined benefit liability, which 
comprises of  actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in other comprehensive 
income based on actuarial gain and losses.

	 SMEL determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 
for the year by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at 
the beginning of  the annual year to the net defined benefit liability/(asset) during the year as 
a result of  contribution and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expense related 
to defined benefit plans are recognized in profit and loss account.
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	 Benevolent fund
	 The Bank also operates a contributory benevolent fund for all its eligible employees (defined 

benefit scheme). Contributions to this fund were made equally by the Bank and employees till 
March 2002. Thereafter it is wholly contributed by the Bank at the rate of  2% of  basic salary 
with a ceiling of  Rs. 200 per month per employee. Annual contribution towards the defined 
benefit scheme are made on the basis of  actuarial advice using the Projected Unit Credit 
Method.

	 Compensated absences

	 The Bank
	 The Bank provides compensated absences, an unfunded scheme, as per entitlement to all its 

permanent and contractual employees. For its eligible employees, related provision is made in 
accordance with actuarial valuation. Provision for the year is charged to consolidated profit 
and loss account. The amount recognized in consolidated statement of  financial position 
represents present value of  defined benefit obligation.

	 Defined benefit plans are provided to employees of  the Bank. Calculations in this respect 
require assumptions to be made of  future outcomes, the principal ones being in respect of  
increase in remuneration, the expected long-term return on plan assets and the discount rate 
used to convert future cash flows to current values. Calculations are sensitive to changes in the 
underlying assumptions.

	 SMEL
	 SMEL accounts for its liability towards accumulating compensated absences, when the 

employees render services that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences.

	 Defined contribution plan
	 SMEL operates an approved defined contributory provident fund for all its permanent 

employees at the rate of  8% of  basic salary. The contribution are recognized as employee 
benefit expense when they become due.

	 Staff  retirement are payable to employees on completion of  the prescribed qualifying period 
of  services under the scheme.

6.10	 Net investment in lease finance 

	 Leases where the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of  the leased assets to the lessees, are classified as finance leases.

	 The leased asset is derecognized and the present value of  the lease receivable is recognized 
on the balance sheet. The difference between the gross lease receivables and the present value 
of  the lease receivables is recognized as unearned finance income. A receivable is recognized 
at an amount equal to the present value of  the minimum lease payments under the lease 
agreements, including guaranteed residual value, if  any.	

	 Each lease payment received is applied against the gross investment in the finance lease 
receivable to reduce both the principal and the unearned finance income. The finance income 
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is recognized in the profit and loss account on a basis that reflects a constant periodic rate of  
return on the net investment in the finance lease.

	 Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging finance leases are added 
to finance lease receivables and are recognized as an expense in the profit and loss account 
over the lease term on the same basis as the finance lease income.

6.11	 Revenue recognition

6.11.1	 Advances

	 Advances disbursed by SME Bank Limited:
	 Markup/interest on performing advances is recognized on a time proportion basis over the 

term of  loan and advances. Markup/interest/penal markup recoverable on non performing 
advances is recognized on receipt basis. Mark-up/interest on rescheduled/restructured 
advances and investments is recognised as permitted by the regulations of  the SBP.

	 Advances disbursed by defunct RDFC and defunct SBFC :
	 Advances and related markup are suspended. Markup/interest on advances is recognized on 

receipt basis.

6.11.2	 Return on investments
	 Return on investments is recognized on a time proportion basis except on classified investment 

which is recognized on receipt basis. Any premium paid or discount received on purchase of  
securities is amortized through consolidated profit and loss account over the remaining period 
of  maturity on time apportionment basis.

6.11.3	 Dividend income
	 Dividend income is recognized when the Bank’s right to receive the dividend is established.

6.11.4	 Interest, fee, brokerage and commission
	 Interest, fee, brokerage and commission, profit on other investments, bank deposits and 

staff  loans is recognized on accrual basis. Income on non-funded facilities (fee, commission, 
documentation charges etc.) is recognized on receipt basis except commission on bank 
guarantees which is recognized on accrual basis.

6.11.5	 Leasing income
	 SMEL follows the finance lease method in accounting for the recognition of  lease income. 

Under this method, the unearned lease income i.e. the excess of  gross lease rentals and the 
estimated residual value over the cost of  the leased assets is deferred and taken to income 
over the term of  the lease contract, so as to produce a systematic return on the net investment 
in finance lease. Unrealized lease income is held in suspense account, where necessary, in 
accordance with the requirements of  the NBFC Regulations.

	 Front-end fees and documentation charges are taken to income when realized.
	 Unrealized lease income and unrealized income on loans and finances is held in suspense 

account, where necessary, in accordance with requirements of  the Non-Banking Finance 
Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (NBFC Regulations).	
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6.12	 Off  setting
	 Financial assets and liabilities are off  set and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 

statement of  financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off  the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

6.13	 Borrowing costs
	 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of  

a qualifying asset as part of  the cost of  that asset are capitalized. Other borrowing costs are 
recognized as an expense in the period in which it incurs.

6.14	 Provisions
	 Provisions are recorded when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of  past events, it is probable that an outflow of  resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of  the amount of  
obligation. Provision for guarantee claims and other off  balance sheet obligations is recognized 
when intimated and reasonable certainty exists to settle the obligations. Expected recoveries 
are recognized by debiting customer accounts. Charge to consolidated profit and loss account 
is stated net off  expected recoveries.

6.15	 Financial assets and liabilities
	 All financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Bank becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of  the instrument. A financial asset is derecognised where 
(a) the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or (b) the Bank has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received 
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 
and either (i) the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of  the asset, 
or (ii) the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risk and rewards of  
the asset, but has transferred control of  the asset. A financial liability is derecognised when 
the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition of  the financial assets and financial liabilities is taken to income currently.

6.16	 Segment reporting
	 A segment is the distinguishable component of  the Bank that is subject to risks and rewards 

that are different from those of  other segments. A business segment is one that is engaged 
either in providing certain products or services, whereas a geographical segment is one engaged 
in providing products and services within a particular economic environment. Segment 
information is presented as per the Bank’s functional structure and the guidance of  the State 
Bank of  Pakistan. The Bank’s primary format of  reporting is based on business segments:

6.16.1	 Business segments

	 Trading and sales
	 This segment undertakes the Bank’s treasury, money market and capital market activities.

	 Commercial banking
	 It includes loans, deposits and other transactions with individuals/staff, small and medium 

enterprises and corporate customers.
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	 Other leasing operations
	 This segment includes the Group’s leasing activities.

6.16.2	 Geographical segments
	 The Group operates only in Pakistan.

6.17	 Appropriation to reserves
	 Dividend and appropriation to reserves (except appropriation required by law) after the 

balance sheet date are recognized as liability in the Bank’s financial statement in the year in 
which these are approved.

6.18	 IFRS 13 - ‘Fair Value Measurement’
	 It consolidates the guidance on how to measure fair value into one comprehensive standard. It 

introduces the use of  an exact price, as well as extensive disclosure requirements, particularly 
the inclusion of  non financial instruments into the fair value hierarchy. The application of  
IFRS 13 does not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of  the Company 
except for certain disclosures as mentioned in note 39.

7	 FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING AND GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

7.1	 Current Status of  Privatization of  SME Bank
	 Government of  Pakistan (GOP) decided  in their meeting held on November 19, 2018 to 

relaunch the privatization transaction of  the Bank through Privatization Commission (PC). 
Cabinet Committee on Privatization (CCOP) approved the new privatization program of  
the Bank on March 06, 2019.  The privatization program  of  the Bank  has been required  
to be completed  by 30th June 2020  to divest GOPs  equity stake in the Bank along with 
management control to a strategic investor. Accordingly, PC recommended the transaction 
structure for the privatization of  the Bank to CCOP who approved the referred transaction 
structure on November 15, 2019. Thereafter through a due process invitation for expression 
of  interest for acquisition of  93.88% shares of  the Bank were advertised in news papers on 
December 13, 2019. The last date for submission of  EOIs and Statement of  Qualifications 
(SOQs) was February 28, 2020. Five prospective investors have submitted their SOQs against 
the advertisement, out of  that four have been cleared by SBP. Due diligence of  Buyers side is 
in progress, Privatization Commission has opened data room for the prospective Buyers up to 
August 24, 2020.	

7.2	 Going concern assumption and minimum capital requirement

7.2.1	 The Bank
	 During the current year the Bank incurred a net loss of  Rs. 1,072.309 million (2018: Rs. 825.938 

million) resulting into accumulated losses of  Rs. 4,811.162 million (2018: Rs. 3,857.090 million). 
As of  December 31, 2019, the reporting date, the total liabilities of  the Bank have exceeded 
its total assets by Rs. 2,512.445 million (2018: Rs. 1,693.862) indicating the negative equity and 
due to surplus of  current demand liabilities over its total unencumbered current liquid assets 
creating a negative working capital of  Rs. 7.859 billion (2018: Rs. 7.267 billion) which indicates 
the Bank’s inadequate capacity to ensure the timely repayments. Due to cash inadequacy the 
Bank was unable to meet the statutory solvency requirements of  minimum capital (MCR) 
of  Rs. 10,000 million and the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of  10% and has failed on 
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multiple times in maintaining the minimum statutory liquidity requirement (SLR) in first half  
of  current year. Due to continued stressed financial conditions the Bank’s credit rating fell 
from B negative (single B-) to CCC. Based on the operational results SBP granted exemption 
from meeting the MCR and CAR up to December 31, 2019 or restructuring/privatization, 
whichever is earlier, subject to submission of  a concrete plan from the Ministry of  Finance 
(MoF) to provide a firm commitment to inject the required amount of  capital funds in the 
Bank, if  its privatization does not materialize by March 31, 2020. These conditions indicate 
the existence of  material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to 
continue as going concern and therefore it may not be able to realize its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in the ordinary course of  business. To overcome the same, the Government of  
Pakistan (GoP) being the majority shareholder with 93.88% shareholding in the Bank has 
initiated the process of  privatization of  the Bank. The MoF through its letter No. F.3(27)IF-
III/2005-185 dated February 26, 2020 has informed SBP that the privatization process is likely 
to be completed within the period of  three to four months and requested SBP for extension 
of  relaxation of  regulatory requirements till June 30, 2020. MoF and management of  the Bank 
are hopeful of  a favorable response. The process of  privatization is at the advance stage as 
Five prospective investors have submitted their Statement of  Qualifications (SOQs), out of  
that four have been cleared by SBP. Due diligence of  Buyers side is in progress, Privatization 
Commission has opened data room for the prospective Buyers up to August 24, 2020.In view 
of  above the management of  the Bank strongly believes that the privatization of  the Bank 
shall be completed soon and will result into injection of  fresh equity enabling the Bank to 
expand and finance its operations while MoF is committed to provide all necessary financial 
assistance to the Bank to support its operations. In view of  above the management of  the 
Bank believes that the use of  going concern assumption in preparation of  these consolidated 
financial statements is appropriate and, therefore, have prepared the same on a going concern 
basis.

7.2.2	 SME Leasing limited (SMEL) - Subsidiary Company
	 SMEL has been incurring losses since year ended December 31, 2009 which has resulted in 

erosion of  equity. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has incurred 
loss of  Rs. 35.694 million (2018: Rs. 21.361 million) for the year ended December 31, 2019, 
resulting in accumulated loss of  Rs. 291.358 million (2018: Rs. 256.784 million) as at balance 
sheet date and as of  that date the Company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets by Rs. 
54.805 million (2018: Rs. 44.649 million).

	 Further SMEL is dependent on the running finance facility granted by the holding company. 
The revised prudential regulation of  State Bank of  Pakistan (SBP) applicable from June 2015 
has restricted the exposure by bank to a related party to the extent of  7.5% of  its equity. 
However, the relaxation provided by State Bank of  Pakistan, to SME Bank has been expired 
on June 2018 and the holding company has applied for relaxation of  the aforesaid requirement 
in respect of  its financing to the Company to the State Bank of  Pakistan.

	 The above factors indicate the existence of  a material uncertainty which may cast significant 
doubt on SMEL’s ability to continue as a going concern and SMEL may not be able to realize 
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of  business. However, the financial 
statements of  SMEL for current year consolidated in these consolidated financial statement 
have been prepared on going concern basis considering the factors mentioned below:
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-	 The Holding Company (the Bank) has granted a short term running finance facility 
to SMEL amounting to Rs. 150 million out of  which Rs. 142.156 million has been 
utilized as at December 31, 2019 (2018: Rs. 141.556 million). The said facility can be 
extended to the extent of  Rs. 300 million as per the stand-by agreement for finance 
facility. The Bank has obtained relaxation from the State Bank of  Pakistan from the 
requirements of  related party exposure limits in order to continue its support towards 
SMEL. Further, the Bank has been in the list of  privatization by Government of  
Pakistan. Upon successful completion of  privatization of  the Bank, the majority 
shareholding in SMEL will be taken over by the acquirer of  the Bank.

-	 The management of  SMEL has prepared cash flow projections which reflect that 
based on financial support by the parent company SMEL will be able to continue its 
business on going concern basis in the foreseeable future.

-	 Concerted efforts are being made for the recovery of  non-performing leases and 
loans and finances and in this respect during the year Rs. 17.612 million (2018: Rs. 
21.748 million) has been recovered.
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2019 2018
8. Note

In hand
   Local currency 123,705                 106,580                  
   In transit - local currency -                        -                         
With State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) in :

Local currency current accounts 8.1 468,276                 294,895                  
With National Bank of Pakistan in :

Local currency current accounts 58,486                   42,080                    
Prize bonds 171                        372                        

650,638                 443,927                  

8.1

2019 2018
9. BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS Note (Rupees in '000)

In Pakistan:
   On current accounts 1,133                     4,894                     
   On deposit accounts 14,119                    25,824                    
   Provision for doubtful balance with a bank 9.1 (10,000)                  (10,000)                  

5,252                     20,718                    

9.1 Particulars of provision for doubtful placement with a bank
(10,000)                  (10,000)                  

-                            -                            
-                            -                            

                             -                              - 
                  (10,000)                    (10,000)

Deposits with the State Bank of Pakistan are maintained to comply with the statutory requirements issued from
time to time.

Provision for doubtful balance is in respect of deposit of Rs. 10 million with Indus Bank Limited which is under 
liquidation.

CASH AND BALANCES WITH TREASURY 

Opening balance
Charge for the year
Reversals

Closing balance

(Rupees in '000)
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For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
10.3 Provision for diminution in value of investments

Opening balance 36,532         38,747            
Charge/reversals
     Charge for the year -              -                 
     Reversal on disposals (20,000)       (2,215)             

(20,000)       (2,215)             
Closing balance 16,532         36,532            

10.3.1 Particulars of provision against debt securities category of classification

NPL Provision NPL Provision
Domestic
Other assets especially mentioned -       -                   -              -                 
Substandard -       -                   -              -                 
Doubtful -       -                   -               -                 
Loss 762      762                  762              762                 

762      762                  762              762                 

2019 2018

10.4 Quality of available-for-sale securities
Federal government securities - government guaranteed
Market treasury bills 1,061,452     993,284          
Pakistan investment bonds 4,833,780    5,062,403        

5,895,232    6,055,687        

2019 2018
Shares
Listed companies

 - Chemicals 810              810                 
 - Investment banks/companies 13,236         13,236            
 - Synthetic and Rayon 336              336                 
 - Technology and communication 587              587                 
 - Textile composite 30               30                   

14,999         14,999            

Cost Breakup value Cost Breakup value 
Unlisted/delisted Companies Note

10.4.1 18,000  43,971              18,000         42,758            
10.4.1 8,440   19,369              8,440           18,314            

 - AKD Venture Fund -       -                   20,000         -                 
 - News-v/s Credit Information Services (Pvt) Ltd. 100       30                    100              30                   
 - Companies delisted from stock exchange 10.4.2 1,003    -                   1,003           -                 

27,543  63,370              47,543         61,102            

10.4.1

Cost
(Rupees in '000)

Cost

(Rupees in '000)

 - LSE Financial Services Ltd
 - ISE Towers REIT Management Company Ltd.

2018

(Rupees in '000)

2018

2019

Break up value per share is based on latest available financial statements of investees.

2019

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

10.4.2

(Rupees) (Rupees '000)
 - Mohib Exports Company Limited 4,600               23.81           109                 
 - Sunflow Citrus Limited 100,000            4.22            422                
 - Tawakal Garments Company Limited 4,000               38.38           154                 
 - Tristar Shipping Lines Limited 5,000               23.56           118                 
 - Zahoor Textile Mills Limited 15,200              13.16           200                

1,003              

2019 2018
Mutual funds

 - HBL investment fund - class A 654              654                 
 - HBL investment fund - class B 1,216           1,216              

1,870           1,870              

10.5 Particulars relating to held to maturity securities are as follows: 2019 2018
Non government debt securities
Unlisted
     - A/A-1 35,000         35,000            
     - Unrated 762              762                 

35,762         35,762            

Cost
(Rupees in '000)

Cost
(Rupees in '000)

Particulars of investments in shares of companies delisted from stock exchange and are currently under liquidation was as
under:

Total paid up 
value

Cost/paid-
up value per 

share

Number of 
shares held

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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11.3	 Non-performing loan (NPL) portfolios of  defunct SBFC & RDFC
	 The Board through its resolution by circular No.10/circ/33 dated March 08, 2010 duly 

endorsed by the members in their meeting dated May 20, 2010 has approved the transfer 
and assignment of  fully non - performing loan portfolios of  defunct SBFC & RDFC to 
NBP on the basis of  deferred transfer price. Subsequently transfer and assignment agreement 
was executed between the Bank and  National Bank of  Pakistan at Karachi on July 01, 2010 
(effective date). According to the agreement, the transferor (SME) and the acquiror (NBP) 
acknowledge, declare and confirm the transfer, assignment and vesting of  all rights, interests, 
privileges, title, powers and remedies in favour of  the acquiror with respect to:

a)	 the non-performing loans, collateral and the debtors;

b)	 all agreements, deeds, instruments and other documents relating to the non-performing loans, 
debtors and collateral and to which the transferor is, or legally deemed to be, a party or a 
beneficiary;

c)	 all legal proceedings by and against the transferor with respect to the non-performing loans, 
the debtors and collateral, which may be pending before any court, tribunal, arbitrator or 
authority, without being subject to any liabilities of  the transferor to any person.

	 The agreed transfer price is an amount equal to 50% of  the net recoveries.

	 Under the above referred arrangements, portfolio of  defunct SBFC & RDFC outstanding as 
on June 30, 2010 (except outstanding loans of  RDFC where facility of  Equity Participation 
Fund had also been extended) were transferred to NBP.

	 On request of  the Bank’s management the decision to transfer and assignment of  the portfolio 
was revisited by the board of  directors (BoD) in its 65th meeting held on July 13, 2011 and 
resolved that the agreement of  assignment of  the old portfolio to NBP should be cancelled  
and Board’s pronouncement for revocation of  agreement to Ministry of  Finance to arrange 
retrieval/restoration of  old portfolio to the Bank in the interest of  recovery of  public funds.

	 In the meeting held on March 04, 2013 the BoD reconsidered the position taken earlier on 
this matter on grounds of  related cost of  recovery and infrastructure on request of  then 
management and decided that since the Bank is still on the privatization list, the BoD would 
be able to decide on portfolio after Bank’s delisting from privatization.

	 The incumbent Management has again reviewed the situation and noted that no comparative 
analysis/study pertaining to transfer of  portfolio was conducted which could justify the 
decision of  assigning old portfolio to NBP.

	 In view of  the above, foregoing Board was requested in its 83rd meeting, held on August 
30, 2014 and the management of  the Bank was allowed to proceed further in pursuance of  
resolution/direction passed regarding the subject matter in 64th and 65th Meeting of  the BoD 
held on May 16, 2011 and July 13, 2011 respectively by overruling to verdict of  the BoD given 
on the issue in 75th Meeting of  BoD held on March 04, 2013.
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	 Cabinet Committee on Privatization (CCOP) in its meeting held on January 27, 2017 has 
approved the transaction structure of  the Bank’s privatization. The transaction structure has 
excluded the above portfolios from the privatization transaction and the CCOP in above 
referred meeting has directed the Bank to transfer the said portfolios to NBP and that all 
recoveries made by NBP from the loan portfolio shall be deposited in the Federal Consolidated 
Fund (FCF), a related party as being managed by Ministry of  Finance (MoF).

	 Pursuant to above, being directed by MoF the management of  the Bank has obtained an 
independent legal advice for defining the legal procedures for the implementation of  the 
requirement of  MoF. The legal advice proposed that the Bank may via a tri party novation 
agreement between SME, NBP and GoP through MoF, transfer and surrender any rights, 
obligations and liabilities on the remaining receivable assets in the loan portfolio to FCF against 
any consideration amount. The novation agreement will further allow for any recoveries made 
by NBP in relation to the loan portfolio to be deposited directly in the FCF as the recoveries 
will no longer be an asset of  the Bank.

	 In line with the steps proposed by the legal advisor the board of  directors of  the Bank in its 
meeting held on December 31, 2017 has approved the transfer of  fully non-performing loan 
portfolios of  defunct SBFC & RDFC to MoF and NBP via a tri party novation agreement 
between SME, NBP and GoP through MoF at a value of  Rs.100 as a sale consideration. 
Thereafter, the shareholders of  the Bank in their meeting held on January 22, 2018 through 
their special resolution have also authorized the transferred of  the portfolios as approved 
by the BoD of  the Bank, however, the Allied Bank Limited carrying 0.33% holding in the 
Bank has opposed the resolution and required the sale of  the portfolio at a fair market value 
(FMV). According to above majority decision of  the shareholders both the portfolios have 
been transferred to the FCF and NBP against an aggregate sale consideration of  Rs. 100 under 
a tri-party agreement (the Agreement) executed on February 23, 2018 between the Bank, NBP 
and FCF. As of  the date of  the Agreement the Bank has transferred and surrendered all the 
recoveries, rights, obligation, claims and liabilities of  the referred loan portfolios in favour of  
the FCF.

	 The management of  the Bank continues to show these loan portfolios in its book of  accounts 
pending confirmation of  recording by NBP  in its books of  accounts to ensure that the above 
loans are duly accounted by NBP in compliance to the terms of  the agreement dated February 
23, 2018. The Bank has requested with various intervals to share the details of  the road map 
prepared by NBP for smooth transfer of  accounting record related to the legacy loan portfolio 
from the Bank to NBP but NBP did not respond.

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019



158

SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
11.4

Category of classification
Provision

Non 
performing 

loans
Provision

Domestic
Other assets especially mentioned 9,260          2                4,794           -              
Substandard 10,763        36              45,389         8                 
Doubtful 44,116        326             3,778           174             
Loss 5,601,526   5,402,532   5,598,666    5,408,057    

5,665,665   5,402,896   5,652,627    5,408,239    

11.5 Specific General Total Specific General Total
(Rupees in '000)

Opening balance 5,408,239   25           5,408,264   5,394,638    81               5,394,719    
Charge/(reversal)
Charge for the year -             52,587         15               52,602         
Reversal for the year (17)         (37,974)       (71)              (38,045)       

(4,086)        (17)         (4,103)        14,613         (56)              14,557         
Amounts written off 11.6 -             -         -             -              -              -              

(1,257)         -         (1,257)        (1,012)         -              (1,012)         
Closing balance 5,402,896   8            5,402,904   5,408,239    25               5,408,264    

11.5.1
11.5.2

11.5.3 Specific General Total Specific General Total

In local currency 5,402,896   8            5,402,904   5,408,239    25               5,408,264    
In foreign currencies -             -         -             -              -              -              

5,402,896   8            5,402,904   5,408,239    25               5,408,264    

2019 2018
11.6 Particulars of write off:
11.6.1 Against provisions -             -              

Directly charged to profit & loss account -             -              
-             -              

11.6.2 Write offs of Rs. 500,000 and above -             -              
Write offs of below Rs. 500,000 -             -              

-             -              
11.7 Details of loan write off of Rs. 500,000 and above

In terms of sub-section(3) of section 33A of the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 the Statement in respect of
written-off loans or any other financial relief of rupees five hundred thousand or above allowed to a person(s) during the
year ended December 31, 2019 is given at Annexure-1.

The FSV benefit availed in last years has been increased by Rs. 26.044 million (2018: reduced by Rs. 42.241 million) and
reduced by 6.122 million (2018: Rs. 6.058 million) for the Bank and SMEL respectively (net of FSV benefit availed during 
the year), which has resulted in net increased charge for specific provision for the year ended by the same amount. The
FSV benefit is not available for cash or stock dividend/bonus to employees. Had the FSV benefit not recognized,
Group's loss before and after tax for the year ended would have been higher by Rs. 19.922 million (2018: lower by Rs.
48.299 million). As of the current reporting date the effect of FSV benefit taken against provision is aggregated to Rs.
223.964 million (2018: Rs. 204.042 million).

Reversal of provision of 
    transferred portfolio

Advances include Rs. 5,665.665 million (2018: Rs. 5,652.627 million) which have been placed under non-performing
status as detailed below:

Particulars of provisions
 against advances

2019 2018

General provision is being provided @ 1% against unsecured performing small enterprises portfolio. 

37,866         

2019

(41,952)        

2018

(Rupees in '000)

Non 
performing 

loans

37,866          
(41,969)        

Particulars of provision
against advances            Note

20182019

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

12.2 Right of use assets:

2019

Effect of initial application of IFRS 562,451            
Additions -                      
Depreciation charge (52,804)            
Closing net book value 509,647            

12.3

Vehicle

1,920       1,120                800      768         (32)               

2019 1,920      1,120                800     768         (32)              
2018 69,606     69,548              58        456         398              

12.4

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2019 2018

At January 1
Cost 32,068            28,189              
Accumulated amortization and impairment 29,589            27,060              
Net book value 2,479              1,129                

Year ended December 31
Opening net book value 2,479              1,129                
Additions:
  - developed internally -                  -                   
  - directly purchased 226                 2,458                

226                 2,458                
Disposals -                 -                   
Amortization charge 1,374              1,186                
Closing net book value 1,331               2,401                

As December 31
Cost 32,294            30,561              
Accumulated amortization and impairment 30,963            28,160              
Net book value 1,331               2,401                

Rate of amortization (percentage) 33.33 33.33
Useful life 3 years 3 years

13.1 Cost fully amortized intangible assets that are still in use was Rs. 28.453 million (2018: Rs. 27.607 million).

(Rupees in 
'000)

Honda Civic 
As per bank 

policy
Kishwar Malik 
(employee)

Sale 
proceeds

(Rupees in '000)

Cost of fully depreciated assets that are still in use was Rs. 185.471 million (2018: Rs. 179.486 million).

(Rupees in '000)
Computer Software

This has arisen due to adoption of IFRS 16 as detailed in note 3.3.2. Movement in right-of-use assets is as follows:

Details of disposal of fixed assets :

Book 
value

Particulars of 
assets Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation
/impairment

Mode of 
disposal

Particulars of 
buyers

Gain/(loss)  
on sale of 

fixed assets
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SME Bank Limited
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
15. OTHER ASSETS Note

Income/mark-up accrued in local currency - net of provision 15.1 168,537                 162,504                  
Advances, deposits, advance rent and other prepayments 29,716                   66,002                    
Advance taxation 15.2 200,120                 208,737                  
Non banking asset acquired in satisfaction of claims 15.3 147,066                 147,066                  
Due from benevolent fund- unsecured 5,412                     5,642                     
Receivable from NBP 11.3 1,853                     981                        
Receivable from subsidiary company -                        -                         
Receivable from equity participation fund 611                        -                         
Trading right entitlement certificate 21,560                   21,560                    
Receivable from Speedway Fondmetall Pakistan Limited 19,640                   19,640                    
Receivable against factorized portfolio 5,148                     5,148                     
Others 75,742                   76,421                    

675,405                 713,701                  
Less: Provision held against other assets 15.4 117,109                  118,800                  
Other assets (net of provision) 558,296                 594,901                  

15.1

15.2

15.3

(Rupees in '000)

This include Rs. 138.6 million being the successful bid made by SME Bank for acquiring bungalow no. 45, Block-C/3,
Gulberg III, Lahore (the Property) mortgaged with the Bank as a security in a defaulted loan and Rs. 8.47 million
pertaining stamps/stamps duties for registration of sale certificate issued by the High Court to SME Bank/auction
purchaser of the Property. The auction was carried out on 30 June 2015 and subsequently the Honorable Lahore High
Court through its decision dated 14 July 2015 allowed the Bank to adjust the bid price against its outstanding dues from
the borrower against the finance facilities extended to the borrower, suspended mark-up and cost of funds. Thereafter
the auction was also confirmed by the High Court on April 19, 2016 after hearing objection raised by the counter party.
The sale certificate was issued by the High Court on June 30, 2016 and the same has been registered with concerned
registrar on July 28, 2016. On November 24, 2016, ownership of the Property in record of Excise and Taxation
Department has been transferred in name of SME Bank Ltd. The Bank applied for possession of the acquired Property,
which has been accepted by the court after hearing both the parties. The court has repeatedly issued orders to bailiff for
taking possession of the Property to handover the Bank, however, due to non- availability of police force to the bailiff,
the possession of the Property could not be handed over to the Bank. On 24 June 2019 the sponsor of the case was died
and thereafter on 20 August 2019 the legal heirs of the judgement debtor submitted an objection petition for release of
the Property which is already auctioned and purchased by the Bank through an open auction. During argument the
request of the legal heirs has been turned down by the honorable judge as the transaction is past and closed and advised
the council to discuss only the issue of remaining cost of funds. The next date of hearing of the case is fixed on 11
August 2020. At of the current balance sheet date, the market value of the Property was Rs. 224.368 million(2018: Rs.
220.040 million).

This balance has been arrived at after adjusting interest in suspense of Rs. 4,066.115 million (2018: Rs. 4,048.422 million).

This include the effect of refunds aggregating to Rs. 232.599 million due from government. In respect of tax years 2003
and 2004, the period prior to enactment of the seventh schedule of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, the tax authorities
disallowed the Bank’s claims for provisions for its bad debts. Subsequently, the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue
(ATIR) through its order dated February 10, 2011 has ruled in favor of the Bank which resulted in creation of refunds of
Rs. 80.059 million and Rs. 152.54 million for tax years 2003 and 2004 respectively. Thereafter, against the referred
judgement of ATIR the tax authorities filed references before the Islamabad High Court which are pending adjudication
to date. The Bank upon receiving the appeal affect orders dated July 28, 2017 from tax authorities has accrued the above
refunds in its books of account. The management of the Bank is of the firm view that the Bank will be successful in the
said references.

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019



164

SME Bank Limited
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

15.4 Provision held against other assets  2019  2018 

Advances, deposits, advance rent & other prepayments 2,706                     2,706                     
Receivable from Speedway Fondmetall Pakistan Limited 19,640                   19,640                    
Receivable against factorized portfolio 5,148                     5,148                     
Other receivables - SME Portfolio 43,461                   43,494                    
Legal charges recoverable from borrowers - SBFC & RDFC 22,661                   22,661                    
Trading right entitlement certificate - TREC 21,560                   21,560                    
Others 1,933                     3,591                     

117,109                  118,800                  

15.4.1 Movement in provision held against other assets
Opening balance 118,800                  119,696                  
Charge for the year 3,054                     3,486                     
Reversals (3,040)                   (4,381)                    

14                          (895)                       
Transferred to NBP -                        (1)                           
Amount written off (1,705)                    -                         
Closing balance 117,109                  118,800                  

16. BILLS PAYABLE
In Pakistan 51,543                   118,788                  
Outside Pakistan -                        -                         

51,543                   118,788                  
17. BORROWINGS

Secured
Repurchase agreement borrowings
     State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) 17.2 1,137,846               1,003,155               
     Financial Institutions 17.2 2,442,609              3,713,195               
     Long term financial - SMEL 17.3 373                        373                        

3,580,828              4,716,723               
Unsecured
Borrowing from State Bank of Pakistan (SBP)
     Financing facility for storage of agricultural produce 17.4 74,316                   23,545                    

3,655,144              4,740,268               
17.1

In local currency 3,655,144              4,740,268               
In foreign currencies -                        -                         

3,655,144              4,740,268               
17.2

17.3

17.4

These represent transactions with financial institutions and SBP for sale of Government Securities under re-purchase
agreement (REPO) in the inter bank money market at mark-up rates ranging from 13.38% to 13.75% (2018: 10.20% to
10.50%) per annum for period upto two months (2018: upto two months). REPO transactions are secured against
investment of the Bank in government securities as disclosed in note 10.2.

This represents financing facility obtained from State Bank of Pakistan under the scheme "Financing Facility For Storage
of Agricultural Produce (FFSAP). These carries mark up rate ranging from 2.0% to 3.25% and is repayable in quarterly
installments.

This represents balance due against financing facilities amounting to Rs. 0.373 million (2018: Rs. 0.373 million) from
National Energy Conservation Centre (Enercon) by SMEL. The facilities from Enercon have been obtained under an
agreement whereby they have agreed to provide funds to SME Leasing for granting lease / finance facility to its
customers for procuring and using energy efficient equipments. The facility requires sharing of profit @ 5% of the
financing amount on quarterly basis. However, this facility is no more acticve.

(Rupees in '000)

Particulars of borrowings with respect to Currencies
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18. DEPOSITS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

In local 
currency

In foreign 
currency Total In local 

currency
In foreign 
currency

Customers

Current accounts 499,200        -               499,200      503,208        -                
Savings deposits 3,153,652      -               3,153,652    2,042,659      -                
Term deposits 3,207,339     -               3,207,339   2,565,542      -                
Margin accounts 112,398         -               112,398       56,983          -                

6,972,589     -               6,972,589   5,168,392      -                
Financial Institutions

Current accounts 24                 -               24               -               -                
Savings deposits 471,695         -               471,695      417,877        -                
Term deposits 56,400          -               56,400        133,177        -                
Margin accounts -                -               -              -               -                

528,119         -               528,119       551,054        -                
7,500,708     -               7,500,708   5,719,446      -                

2019 2018
18.1 Composition of deposits

     Individuals 1,149,907      1,102,728         
     Government (federal and provincial) 721,679         836,731            
     Public sector entities 46,543          60,003              
     Banking companies -               -                   
     Non-banking financial institutions 528,119         551,054            
     Private sector 5,054,460     3,168,930         

7,500,708     5,719,446         

18.2

551,054              

(Rupees in '000)

Total deposits include eligible deposits of Rs. 2,349.577 million (2018:  Rs. 1,481.536 million) as required by the Deposit
Protection Corporation’s (a subsidiary of SBP) circular no. 4 of 2018 dated June 22, 2018.

2019

Total

2018

503,208              
2,042,659           

(Rupees in '000)

2,565,542           
56,983                

5,719,446           

-                     
417,877              
133,177              

-                     

5,168,392           

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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19. LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE

Not later than one year 4,392                2,489              -                   -                 

13,184               10,506            -                   -                 
Total minimum lease payments 17,576              12,995            

Financial charges not due yet (4,581)               -                 
Present value of minimum lease payments 12,995              12,995            -                   -                 

2019 2018
20. OTHER LIABILITIES Note

Mark-up/return/interest payable in local currency 218,846           102,093          
Unearned commission on guarantees 1,875               692                
Accrued expenses 13,026             15,371            
Sundry creditors 20.1 172,041           120,268          
Branch adjustment account 586                 912                
Payable against employees' benefit plans

Defined benefit pension
  The Bank 37.7 370,155           388,974          
Defined benefit gratuity scheme
  The Bank - funded 37.7 14,172             10,730            
  SMEL - unfunded 7,623               9,091              
Unfunded compensated absences
  The Bank 37.7 95,297             80,304            
  SMEL 2,501               2,492              

Payable on termination/maturity of lease 1,323               598                
Security deposits against lease 224,043           230,814          
Leased liability against right of use assets 20.2 551,751            -                 
Employees' VSS payments withheld 12,603             13,341            
Payable to equity participation fund - unsecured -                  794                
Income tax withheld payable 19,311              17,780            
Others 3,975               4,293              

1,709,128         998,547          

20.1

20.2

Note 2019 2018

Effect of initial application of IFRS 16 as at January 01, 2019 540,960           -                    
 - Additions -                      -                    
 - Interest 67,337             -                    
 - Payment (69,541)            -                    
Net book value 538,756           -                    

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease - SMEL 19 12,995             -                    
Closing net book value 551,751            -                    

This include Rs. 90.6 million (2018: Rs. 90.6 million) payable to SBP/MoF representing the leftover funds after settlement
of VSS-2009 payments and amount of stale bills payable Rs. 72.847 million (2018: Rs. 15.604 million).

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

This represents lease liability recognised due to adoption of IFRS 16 as detailed in note 4.3.2.

Present valueMinimum lease Present value

Later than one year and not later
than five years

2019 2018

(Rupees in '000) (Rupees in '000)

Minimum lease
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19. LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE

Not later than one year 4,392                2,489              -                   -                 

13,184               10,506            -                   -                 
Total minimum lease payments 17,576              12,995            

Financial charges not due yet (4,581)               -                 
Present value of minimum lease payments 12,995              12,995            -                   -                 

2019 2018
20. OTHER LIABILITIES Note

Mark-up/return/interest payable in local currency 218,846           102,093          
Unearned commission on guarantees 1,875               692                
Accrued expenses 13,026             15,371            
Sundry creditors 20.1 172,041           120,268          
Branch adjustment account 586                 912                
Payable against employees' benefit plans

Defined benefit pension
  The Bank 37.7 370,155           388,974          
Defined benefit gratuity scheme
  The Bank - funded 37.7 14,172             10,730            
  SMEL - unfunded 7,623               9,091              
Unfunded compensated absences
  The Bank 37.7 95,297             80,304            
  SMEL 2,501               2,492              

Payable on termination/maturity of lease 1,323               598                
Security deposits against lease 224,043           230,814          
Leased liability against right of use assets 20.2 551,751            -                 
Employees' VSS payments withheld 12,603             13,341            
Payable to equity participation fund - unsecured -                  794                
Income tax withheld payable 19,311              17,780            
Others 3,975               4,293              

1,709,128         998,547          

20.1

20.2

Note 2019 2018

Effect of initial application of IFRS 16 as at January 01, 2019 540,960           -                    
 - Additions -                      -                    
 - Interest 67,337             -                    
 - Payment (69,541)            -                    
Net book value 538,756           -                    

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease - SMEL 19 12,995             -                    
Closing net book value 551,751            -                    

This include Rs. 90.6 million (2018: Rs. 90.6 million) payable to SBP/MoF representing the leftover funds after settlement
of VSS-2009 payments and amount of stale bills payable Rs. 72.847 million (2018: Rs. 15.604 million).

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

This represents lease liability recognised due to adoption of IFRS 16 as detailed in note 4.3.2.

Present valueMinimum lease Present value

Later than one year and not later
than five years

2019 2018

(Rupees in '000) (Rupees in '000)

Minimum lease
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21. SHARE CAPITAL
21.1 Authorized capital

2019 2018 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

1,000,000,000   1,000,000,000          Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 10,000,000        10,000,000         

21.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital
2019 2018 Ordinary shares 2019 2018

152,853,153       152,853,153             Fully paid in cash 1,528,532          1,528,532          
50,000,000        50,000,000               Issued as bonus shares 500,000            500,000             
36,397,547        36,397,547               Issued for consideration other than cash 363,975            363,975             

239,250,700      239,250,700             2,392,507         2,392,507          

Number of
21.3 Break-up of share capital is as follows: shares

Federal Government 224,615,978        93.89         2,246,160          2,246,160          
National Bank of Pakistan 6,121,095            2.56           61,211               61,211               
United Bank Limited 3,975,003           1.66           39,750              39,750              
Habib Bank Limited 1,987,501            0.83           19,875              19,875              
MCB Bank Limited 1,490,619            0.62           14,906              14,906              
Allied Bank Limited 774,351               0.32           7,744                7,744                
Industrial Development Bank Limited 286,146               0.12           2,861                2,861                
Directors 1                         -            -                   -                   
Individuals 6                         -            -                   -                   

239,250,700        100            2,392,507         2,392,507         

2019 2018
22. SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) ON REVALUATION OF ASSETS Note (Rupees in '000)

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of 

Available-for-sale securities

   - Federal government securities 10.1 (301,559)           (437,444)            
   - Listed companies/mutual funds 1,912                 2,522                 

(299,647)           (434,922)            
Deferred tax on surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of available-for-sale securities

- Listed companies/mutual funds 14 (669)                  (883)                  
            (300,316) (435,805)            

Number of shares

Number of shares (Rupees in '000)

Percentage

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
23. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST- (NCI)

SME Leasing Limited
2019 2018

NCI percentage 26.859% 26.859%

2019 2018
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances 788                        6,130                     
Advances 3,370                     3,346                     
Prepayments and other receivables 904                        1,159                     
Accrued interest on loans 47                         51                          
Current maturity of non-current assets 163,025                 153,692                  

168,134                  164,378                  
Non-current assets
Long term finances and loans 58,664                   65,391                    
Net investment in finance leases 237,196                 273,330                  
Long term deposits and prepayments 1,162                     825                        
Fixed assets 4,510                     5,077                     
Right of use assets 12,054                   -                         

313,586                 344,623                  
Total assets 481,720                 509,001                  

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 4,870                     3,744                     
Unclaimed dividend 20                         20                          
Mark-up accrued on borrowings 2,143                     1,300                     
Short term borrowings 142,156                  141,556                  
Current maturity of non-current liabilities 60,591                   51,707                    
Provision for compensated absences 2,501                     2,491                     
Current maturities of liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 2,489                     -                         
Provision for taxation - net 8,168                     8,209                     

222,938                 209,027                  
Non-current liabilities
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 10,506                   -                         
Long term deposits 163,545                 179,201                  
Deferred liabilities 7,623                     9,091                     

181,674                  188,292                  
Total liabilities 404,612                 397,319                  

NET ASSETS 77,108                   111,682                  

Carrying amount of NCI

Adjustments: 20,711                   29,997                    
Share premium specifically allocable to NCI 5,910                     5,910                     
Carrying amount of NCI 26,621                   35,907                    

(Rupees in '000)

The following table summarises the information relating to the subsidiary (SME Leasing) having the NCI.

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018

Revenue 26,578                   31,451                    

Loss for the year (35,694)                 (21,361)                  
Other comprehensive income 1,120                     (207)                       
Total comprehensive income (34,574)                 (21,568)                  
Loss attributable to NCI (9,587)                   (5,737)                    

301                        (56)                         

Cash flows from operating activities (1,834)                    (27,055)                  

Cash flows from investment activities (270)                      79                          

Cash flows from financing activities, before dividends to NCI (3,839)                   -                         

Cash flows from financing activities-cash dividends to NCI -                        -                         

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,943)                   (26,977)                  
SME Leasing Limited has its principal place of business in Pakistan.

(Rupees in '000)

Other comprehensive income allocated to NCI

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Note 2019 2018
24. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

- Guarantees 24.1 261,582               143,409               
- Commitments 24.2 3,842,670           4,970,626            
- Other contingent liabilities 24.3 1,136,759            1,074,888            

5,241,011            6,188,923            

24.1 Guarantees:
Financial guarantees -                      -                      
Performance guarantees 24.1.1 261,582               143,409               
Other guarantees -                      -                      

261,582               143,409               

24.1.1

2019 2018
24.2 Commitments:

Commitments in respect of:
24.2.1 3,560,826           4,669,798            
24.2.2 280,608              299,109               

Commitments for acquisition of:
- operating fixed assets 987                     1,493                   
- intangible assets 249                     226                      
Other commitments 24.2.3 -                      -                      

3,842,670           4,970,626            

24.2.1 Commitments in respect of forward government securities transactions
Sale and repurchase agreements 3,560,826           4,669,798            

24.2.2 Commitments in respect of forward lending
Undrawn facilities 174,708               173,684               
Commitments to extend credit 105,900               116,800               
Commitments to lease disbursement (SMEL) -                      8,625                   

280,608              299,109               
24.2.3 Other commitments 

Bills for collection
Payable in Pakistan -                      -                      

24.3 Other contingent liabilities 1,136,759            1,074,888            

a) 53,686                53,686                 

This includes expired letter of guarantees/performance aggregating to Rs. 34.142 million (2018: 77.464 million) for
which formalities for return of original documents are in process.

Claims not acknowledged as debt from various borrowers of defunct
RDFC

- forward government securities transactions
- forward lending

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

Tax demands of Rs. 612.707 million raised by the Income Tax
Authorities related to VSS staff cost (tax year-2005) which has been
decided in favour of the Bank. However tax authorities have filed appeal
before ATIR against the decision of the Commissioner Income Tax
(Appeals). The management of the Bank strongly believes and expects
favourable outcome and therefore no provision has been made for this
effect in the consolidated financial statements.

b) 612,707               612,707               

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018

c)

d) 198,529               198,529               

e) 36,076                36,076                 

f) 21,171                 21,171                 

g) 18,663                 18,663                 

h) 38,723                38,723                 

The Taxation Officer created aggregate demand of Rs.53.674 million for
withheld amount of Rs.17.598 million from VSS payment of employees
for the Tax Years 2003-2004 -2005-2006-2008-2009-2010-2011-2013
which was not deposited upon advice of the Legal Advisor due to stay
order of Supreme Court of Pakistan. The case is pending before
Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue and the provision of default
surcharge Rs. 36.076 million was not made ipso facto. 

The Bank and the income tax department have filed corss appeals
against the appellate order of the Commissioner (Appeals), who had
partly set aside the order of the Taxation officer, resulting in taxable
income of Rs. 151.234 million and tax liability of Rs. 52.932 (payable
amounting Rs. 6.163 million after adjustment of credit for taxes paid/
suffered at source amounting Rs. 46.768 million) against the declared tax
loss of Rs. 23,489 thousand and tax liability of Rs. 4.249 million for the
tax year 2008. Without prejudice to the appeal, the Bank has offered
adjustment of said demand against Refunds available for tax year 2009.
However no provision  has been made in these consolidated financial
statements as the management is confident of a favorable outcome.

DCIR raised tax demand for the tax year 2010 for Rs. 211.716 million
which was again amended to Rs.198, 528,541/- vide Order # 11/40
dated 22-May-2013 u/s 221, stay against from Islamabad High Court was
obtained and also appeal was filed with CIRA-II who partly accepted the
Bank's plea in the case and remanded it back to DCIR for verification of
evidences and opportunity of hearing the Bank for certain issues vide his
order in Appeal # 968/2013 dated 07-Jan-2014. Parallel to that Bank has
filed 2nd appeal in ATIR on 27-Feb-2014 and rectification application
was also submitted with CIRA on 24-Feb-2014 no decision has been
made yet. The Tax Department has also filed an appeal with the ATIR
through Commissioner (Legal) vide their letter # 249 dated 7-Mar-2014.
Based on the facts revealed by the consultants vide letter #
IT/1156/2015 dated March 03, 2015, the management strongly believes
for favorable outcome in the case.

The Officer Inland Revenue, LTU, Islamabad (OIR) issued an order u/s
161/205 for the tax year 2013. The Bank filed an appeal before the
Commissioner (Appeals), who has remanded the case back to assessing
officer, notice to fresh proceeding have been replied no further action on
the response.
The Officer Inland Revenue, LTU, Islamabad issued an order u/s
161/205 for the tax year 2017 without serving proper notices. An appeal
against this impugned order has been filed before the Commissioner
(Appeals), which is pending for fixation.

The Officer Inland Revenue, LTU, Islamabad created demand for Rs.
21.171 million for tax year 2016 under section 161/205 of the Income
Tax Ordinance, 2001. After rejection of the first appeal by CIRA the
Bank has submitted second appeal before Appellate Tribunal Inland
Revenue along with stay appplication to keep the recovery proceedings
in abeyance.

6,163                  6,163                   
(Rupees in '000)
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018

i) 118,721               -                      

j) 32,320                89,170                 Back benefits and claims of staff/employees under litigation.

The Officer Inland Revenue, LTU, Islamabad made an assessment for
the Year 2001-2002 vide order dated June 20, 2005 of Rs. 590.667 million 
and a tax demand of Rs. 118.721 million which was contested in ATIR
which ordered the appeal in Bank's favor vide Order # ITA
no.857/IB/2006 dated 05-Apr-2007. Now tha Tax Department has filed
Income Tax Reference with the Islamabad High Court having # I.T.R.
48 of 2007. 

(Rupees in '000)

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019



173

2019 2018
25. MARK-UP/RETURN/INTEREST EARNED Note

On loans and advances to customers 296,505                250,851                 
On investment in finance lease to customers 19,634                   26,471                   

316,139                 277,322                 
On loans and advances to employees 4,003                    5,241                     

320,142                 282,563                 
On investments in

Held for trading securities -                        6,817                     
Available for sale securities 454,326                446,599                 
Held to maturity securities 3,595                    14,273                   

457,921                 467,689                 
On deposits with financial institutions 405                       441                        
On securities purchased under resale agreements 91                         306                        
On clean lending 113                        -                        
On call money lending 3,789                    7,407                     

782,461                 758,406                 

26. MARK-UP/RETURN/INTEREST EXPENSED
On deposits 596,499                345,360                 
On securities sold under repurchase agreements 550,778                375,321                 
On SBP refinance scheme 1,029                    409                        
Brokerage and commission 1,081                     2,288                     
Bank charges 254                       282                        

1,149,641              723,660                 

27. FEE & COMMISSION INCOME
Branch banking customer fees 2,155                    1,976                     
Card related fees 431                       251                        
Credit related fees 2,709                    3,877                     
Commission on guarantees 4,526                    3,183                     
Commission on remittances 95                         139                        
Others 17                         15                         

9,933                    9,441                     

28. GAIN/(LOSS) ON SECURITIES
Realised 28.1 7                           1,001                     
Unrealised - held for trading -                        -                        

7                           1,001                     

28.1 Realised gain on:
Federal government securities - net 7                           1,625                     
Shares -                        (624)                      

7                           1,001                     

29. OTHER INCOME
Gain on sale of operating fixed assets - net -                        236                        
Fee on fund managed by the Bank -EPF 974                       974                        
Others 26                         9                           

1,000                    1,219                     

(Rupees in '000)

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
30. OPERATING EXPENSES Note (Rupees in '000)

Total compensation expense 30.1 692,552                650,151                
Property expense
Rent & taxes 30.2 8,060                   73,026                  
Insurance 2,311                    2,308                    
Utilities cost 22,884                  19,107                  
Security (including guards) 15,480                  16,221                  
Repair & maintenance 6,428                   6,545                    
Depreciation 30.2 56,650                  1,255                    
Others -                       -                       

111,813                 118,462                
Information technology expenses
Software maintenance 4,737                   3,312                    
Hardware maintenance 1,953                    1,086                    
Depreciation 5,140                    4,017                    
Amortization 1,374                    1,419                    
Network charges 14,253                  9,480                    
Others 833                      1,844                    

28,290                  21,158                  
Other operating expenses
Directors' fees, allowances and other expenses 660                      1,853                    
Legal and professional charges 7,486                   11,554                  
Outsourced services costs 30.3 & 36.1 26,630                  24,232                  
Travelling and conveyance 6,699                   3,165                    
NIFT clearing charges 1,837                    1,887                    
Depreciation 12,337                  16,596                  
Training & development 2,287                   1,118                    
Postage & courier charges 937                      924                       
Communications 4,755                   4,564                    
Stationery and printing 5,876                   7,079                    
Marketing, advertisement & publicity 1,476                    2,219                    
Donations -                       -                       
Auditors' remuneration 30.4 1,578                    1,432                    
Vehicle running and maintenance 4,986                   6,590                    
Entertainment 2,699                   3,806                    
Subscription, books and newspapers 3,022                   3,183                    
Deposits premium 3,617                    1,808                    
Loss on sale of operating fixed assets - net 29                        -                       
Others 1,860                    988                       

88,771                  92,998                  

921,426                882,769                

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
30.1 Total compensation expense (Rupees in '000)

Managerial remuneration
   - Fixed 293,255                292,595                
Charge for defined benefit plans

- pension fund and gratuity 115,434                85,025                  
- funded gratuity scheme 10,541                  11,649                  
- unfunded gratuity scheme - SMEL 2,433                   2,055                    
- funded staff provident fund - SMEL 730                      678                       
- unfunded compensated absences 15,050                  4,620                    

Contribution to defined contribution plan - benevolent fund 429                      (3,821)                   
Rent & house maintenance 95,678                  97,217                  
Utilities 29,079                  29,032                  
Medical 39,711                  37,713                  
Conveyance 14,035                  13,919                  
Telephone 3,974                   4,404                    
Uniform allowance 1,167                    1,188                    
Child education allowance 7,240                   7,317                    
Group insurance 1,215                    1,278                    
Overtime 1,442                    1,964                    
Adhoc relief 1,221                    1,248                    
Leave absence 7,276                   9,472                    
Leave fare assistance 14,226                  16,190                  
Rental in Lieu of vehicle 6,538                   6,274                    
Reimbursement of vehicle running & maintenance 30,622                  28,232                  
Others 1,256                    1,902                    

692,552                650,151                

30.2

30.3

2019 2018
30.4 Auditors' remuneration (Rupees in '000)

Audit fee 1,178                    1,050                    
Fee for other statutory certifications 222                      206                       
Fee for audit of employees funds 24                        22                         
Tax services -                       -                       
Out-of-pocket expenses 154                       154                       

1,578                    1,432                    
31. OTHER CHARGES

Penalties imposed by the State Bank of Pakistan 2,089                   2,254                    
Right of use assets - unwinding of PV 69,374                  -                       

71,463                  2,254                    
32. PROVISIONS & WRITE OFFS - NET

Provisions against lending to financial institutions -                       -                       
Provisions for diminution in value of investment (20,000)                45,532                  
Provisions against loans & advances (4,103)                  20,159                  
Other provisions/written off directly against other assets 14                         (895)                      
Bad debts written off directly -                       -                       

(24,089)                64,796                  

Adoption of IFRS16 'Leases' resulted in increase in depreciation expense of Rs. 52.715 million and decrease of rent of
Rs. 68.996 million.
Total cost for the year included in other operating expenses relating to outsourced activities is Rs 26,630 (2018: Rs
24,232) related to companies incorporated in Pakistan. Material outsourcing arrangements are as follows: The
outsourced cost includes the services of messengers drivers IT coordinators and electronic financial transaction (EFT).
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33. TAXATION  2019  2018 
Note

Current 33.2 11,595                   9,772                     
Deferred (226,385)               (60,110)                  

(214,790)                (50,338)                  
33.1 Relationship between tax expense and accounting loss 2019 2018

Loss before tax (1,322,793)             (849,541)                
Applicable tax rate 35% 35%

Tax on loss (462,978)               (297,339)                
Deferred tax asset recognised during the year (226,385)               (60,110)                  
Tax effect of income taxed at lower rate 28                         339                        
Minimum tax 11,257                   9,433                     
Other permanent differences 463,288                 297,339                 

(214,790)                (50,338)                  

33.2

33.3

 2019  2018 
34. BASIC/DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

Net loss after tax for the year (1,098,416)             (793,816)                

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 239,250,700          239,250,700           

Basic/diluted loss per share (4.59)                     (3.32)                      
There is no dilutive effect on the basic earning per share of the Bank.

35. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and balances with treasury banks 650,638                 443,927                 
Balances with other banks 5,252                    20,718                   

655,890                 464,645                 
36. STAFF STRENGTH

Permanent 170 175
On contract 235 222
Bank's own staff strength at the end of the year 405 397
Average number of employees
Permanent 173 177
On contract 229 229

402 406
36.1 In addition to the above, 107 (2018: 123) employees of outsourcing services companies were assigned to the Bank as at

the end of the year to perform services which mainly includes IT services, messengers and drivers.

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

Due to tax losses during the current year the provision for current tax is charged on minimum tax rate of 1.25% for the
period from January 01 to June 30, 2019 and 1.50% for the period from July 01 to December 31, 2019 of the turnover.

(Rupees in '000)

Numbers

(Rupees in '000)

Number of shares

Rupees

(Rupees in '000)

The income tax assessments of SME Leasing (SMEL) for tax year 2012 has been selected for tax audit u/s 214C of
Income tax ordinance 2001. 
In respect of Tax year 2012, the tax authorities have served order under section 122(1) read with section 177(1) and 214C
of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 disallowing expenses relating to depreciation allowance, markup on loan to
employees and financial cost and creating tax demand of Rs. 3.8 million. SMEL filed an appeal before the Commissioner
Inland Revenue (Appeals-II) against the said order who decided all the issues in favor of the SMEL except for initial
allowance on leased asset. SMEL has filed second appeal and the appeal has not yet been fixed for hearing.  
In respect of minimum tax for the year ended December 31, 2015, the tax authorities have served order under section 124
of Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 for additional amount of minimum tax of Rs. 0.14 million payable due to restatement of
turnover of SMEL. SMEL has filed application for rectification in the order on the issue of incorrect value of turnover for 
the purpose of charging minimum tax under section 113 and tax credit not allowed. No action has been taken by the tax
officer yet.
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
39. COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
39.1 Total compensation expense

Fees and allowances etc. 660            -             -                1,670          -                 -             
Managerial remuneration
     i) Fixed -             2,444         110,782          6,885              92,311        
     ii) Variable -             -             -                -             -                 -             
Charge for defined benefit plan -             1,764         45,582           -             2,791              28,897        
Rent & house maintenance -             1,344         31,891            -             3,787              25,642        
Utilities -             244            10,710            -             688                8,914          
Medical -             367            10,662           -             1,033              8,855          
Conveyance -             -             566                -             -                 390            
Motor car running & maintenance -             500            26,265           -             1,039              19,210        
Leave fare assistance -             -             -                -             1,785              -             
Leave absence -             -             -                -             1,729              -             
Others -             731            23,654           183            1,320              19,192        
Total 660            7,394         260,112          1,853          21,057            203,411      

Number of persons 6 1 69 13 1 54

39.2 Remuneration paid to directors for participation in board and committee meetings of the Bank

Board audit 
committee

Risk 
management 
committee

Human 
resource 

committee

Board 
remuneration 

committee
Total 

1

Due to absence of board no
meetings of the board and
its committees held during
the current year.

               -                  -                      -                  -                      -                  -   

Board audit 
committee

Risk 
management 
committee

Human 
resource 

committee

Board 
remuneration 

committee
Total 

1 Mr. Muhammad Adnan Jalil              125                60                   60                45                    -                290 
2 Mr. Zarar Haider                50                30                   30                -                      -                110 
3 Mr. Badr-ul-Arifeen              125                60                   60                45                    -                290 
4 Mr. Sher Ayub Khan              125                30                    -                  -                      -                155 

5
Mr. Muhammad Arshad 
Khan

               25                15                    -                  -                      -                  40 

Total amount paid              450              195                 150                90                    -                885 

2019 2018

Executives

Sr.
no. Name of director

Items

(Rupees in '000)

Executive means an employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose basic salary exceeds twelve hundred
thousand rupees in a financial year.

Non-
executive 
directors 

For board committees

For board 
meetings

2019

Name of directorSr.
no.

For board committees

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

2018
Meeting fees and allowances paid

For board 
meetings

Meeting fees and allowances paid

Non-
executive 
directors 

President/ 
CEO

President/ 
CEO Executives
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Board audit 
committee

Risk 
management 
committee

Human 
resource 

committee

Board 
remuneration 

committee
Total 

1 Mr. Dilshad Ali Ahmad              100                -                     10                10                    -                120 
2 Muhammad Farrukh 

Mansoor Malik
             100                40                    -                  -                      -                140 

3 Mr. Bilal Mustafa              100                -                     10                10                    -                120 
4 Mr. Abdul Waseem                25                10                    -                  -                      -                  35 
5 Mst. Darakshan S. Vohra              100                30                    -                  10                    -                140 
6 Mr. Mubeen Mufti                75                30                    -                  -                      -                105 

Total amount paid              500              110                   20                30                    -                660 

Board audit 
committee

Risk 
management 
committee

Human 
resource 

committee

Board 
remuneration 

committee
Total 

1 Ms. Mehnaz Saleem                50                -                      -                  10                    -                  60 
2 Mr. Ihsan-ul-Haq Khan                75                -                      -                  -                      -                  75 
3 Mr. Dilshad Ali Ahmad              100                -                     20                10                    -                130 
4 Muhammad Farrukh 

Mansoor Malik
             100                40                    -                  -                      -                140 

5 Mr. Ateeq ur Rehman                50                20                    -                  10                    -                  80 
6 Mr. Bilal Mustafa              100                40                    -                  20                    -                160 
7 Mr. Abdul Waseem                50                10                   10                -                      -                  70 
8 Mst. Darakshan S. Vohra                50                10                    -                  10                    -                  70 

Total amount paid              575              120                   30                60                    -                785 

Remuneration paid to directors for participation in board and committee meetings of the SMEL

Sr.
no.

For board committees
Name of director

The remuneration of directors of SMEL has been fixed in accordance with the Article of Association which include Rs.
25,000 and Rs. 10,000 for attending board meetings and meetings of committee of board respectively.

Sr.
no.

2018

Name of director

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

Meeting fees and allowances paid

For board 
meetings

For board committees

2019
Meeting fees and allowances paid

For board 
meetings
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
41. SEGMENT INFORMATION
41.1 Segment details with respect to business activities

The segment analysis with respect to business activity is as follows:

Trading & Commercial Other leasing
sales banking operations

Profit & loss

Net mark-up/return/profit 461,914           293,992            26,555                782,461                  
Inter segment revenue - net -                  237,196            237,196                  
Non mark-up/return/interest income 2,254              10,913              20                       13,187                    
Total income 464,168           542,101            26,575                1,032,844               
Segment direct expenses 571,657           1,524,583         46,290                2,142,530               
Inter segment expenses allocation 237,196           -                   -                      237,196                  
Total expenses 808,853           1,524,583         46,290                2,379,726               
Provisions (20,000)           642                  (4,731)                 (24,089)                  
Loss before tax (324,685)         (983,124)           (14,984)               (1,322,793)              

Trading & Commercial Other leasing
sales banking operations

Balance sheet

Cash & bank balances 432,679           222,423            788                     655,890                  
Investments 5,659,227        -                   -                      5,659,227               
Net inter segment lending 3,182,440         -                      3,182,440               
Lending to financial institutions -                  -                   -                      -                         
Advances - Performing -                  1,627,750         334,205              1,961,955                
               - Non-performing -                  138,089            124,680               262,769                  
Others 663,285           1,183,432         13,880                 1,860,597               
Total assets 6,755,191        6,354,134         473,553              13,582,878             

Borrowings 3,580,455        74,316              373                     3,655,144               
Deposits & other accounts -                  7,500,708         -                      7,500,708               
Net inter segment borrowing 3,182,440        -                   -                      3,182,440               
Others 415,993           1,092,974         251,704               1,760,671                
Total liabilities 7,178,888        8,667,998         252,077              16,098,963             
Equity (423,697)         (2,313,864)        221,476               (2,516,085)              
Total equity & liabilities 6,755,191        6,354,134         473,553              13,582,878             

Contingencies & commitments 3,560,826        1,680,185         -                      5,241,011                

(Rupees in '000)

Total

December 31, 2019

Total

(Rupees in '000)

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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SME BANK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Trading & Commercial Other leasing
sales banking operations

Profit & loss

Net mark-up/return/profit 475,402           251,724            31,280                 758,406                   
Inter segment revenue - net -                  142,309            -                      142,309                   
Non mark-up/return/interest income 1,457               10,660              170                      12,287                    
Total income 476,859           404,693            31,450                 913,002                   
Segment direct expenses 396,523           1,168,518          43,746                 1,608,787                
Inter segment expenses allocation 142,309           -                    -                      142,309                   
Total expenses 538,832           1,168,518          43,746                 1,751,096                
Provisions (2,215)              19,264              (5,602)                  11,447                    
Loss before tax (59,758)            (783,089)           (6,694)                  (849,541)                 

Trading & Commercial Other leasing
sales banking operations

Balance sheet

Cash & bank balances 260,427           199,650            4,568                   464,645                   
Investments 5,684,407         -                    5,684,407                
Net inter segment lending 1,745,739          1,745,739                
Lending to financial institutions -                  -                    -                          
Advances - Performing -                  1,976,610          360,621               2,337,231                
               - Non-performing -                  112,597            131,791               244,388                   
Others 591,454           589,747            2,249                   1,183,450                
Total assets 6,536,288         4,624,343          499,229               11,659,860              

Borrowings 4,716,350         23,545              373                      4,740,268                
Deposits & other accounts -                  5,719,446          -                      5,719,446                
Net inter segment borrowing 1,745,739         -                    -                      1,745,739                
Others 417,915           453,540            245,880               1,117,335                
Total liabilities 6,880,004         6,196,531          246,253               13,322,788              
Equity (343,716)          (1,572,188)         252,976               (1,662,928)               
Total equity & liabilities 6,536,288         4,624,343          499,229               11,659,860              

Contingencies & commitments 4,669,798         1,510,500          8,625                   6,188,923                

Assumptions used:
-

-

41.2 Segment details with respect to geographical locations
Presently the Group does not deal outside Pakistan.

Unallocable assets representing 6.03% (2018: 5.16%) of the gross assets have been allocated to segments based on their
respective incomes.
Unallocable liabilities representing 6.92% (2018: 5.45%) of the gross liabilities have been allocated to segments based on
their respective incomes.

December 31, 2018

(Rupees in '000)

Total

(Rupees in '000)

Total

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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43. CAPITAL ADEQUACY

2019 2018
Regulatory capital base (Rupees in '000)
Tier I capital 
    Shareholders capital/assigned capital 2,392,507       2,392,507        
    Reserves 234,660          234,660           
    Non-controlling interest 26,621            35,907             
    Unappropriated/unremitted profits (net of losses) (4,869,557)      (3,890,197)       

(2,215,769)      (1,227,123)       
    Less: Adjustments

Goodwill/intangible assets 1,331               2,479               
Investment in equity of subsidiary -                 -                  
Deficit on revaluation of available for sale investments 300,316           435,805           

301,647           438,284           
Total tier I capital (2,517,416)       (1,665,407)       
Tier II capital 8                     25                   
Eligible tier III capital -                 -                  
Total regulatory capital (a) (2,517,408)      (1,665,382)       

Risk-weighted exposures 
Risk adjusted Risk adjusted

value value
Credit risk
Balance sheet items:
   Cash and other liquid assets 655,890                1,050             464,645           4,144               
   Investments/lending to financial institutions 5,659,227              65,554           5,684,407        66,164             
   Loans and advances 2,224,724              1,347,509      2,581,619        1,578,051        
   Fixed assets 548,676                548,676         60,375             60,375             

Deferred tax assets 752,294                752,294         525,695           525,695           
   Other assets 558,296                281,704         594,901           309,415           

10,399,107            2,996,787      9,911,642        2,543,844        
Off balance sheet items
Weighted non-funded exposures 206,700                103,350         112,676           56,338             

Credit risk-weighted exposures (b) 10,605,807            3,100,137      10,024,318      2,600,182        

Market risk 728,771         1,037,278        
Market risk-weighted exposures -                        728,771         -                  1,037,278        

Total risk-weighted exposures (c) 3,828,908      3,637,460        
Capital adequacy ratio credit risk [ (a)/(b) x 100 ] -81.20% -64.05%
Total capital adequacy ratio [ (a)/(c) x 100 ] -65.75% -45.78%

The risk weighted assets to capital ratio, calculated in accordance with the State Bank's guidelines on capital adequacy is as
follows:

2019 2018

(Rupees in '000)

State Bank of Pakistan (SBP) has granted exemption to the Bank vide letter No. BSD/SU-21/220/1624/2007 dated June 08,
2007 from computing capital adequacy ratio (CAR) under BASEL II till restructuring/privatization and has granted
exemption from implementation of BASEL III Capital Instructions till restructuring/privatization vide SBP letter no.
BPRD/BA&CPD/646/000886/16 dated January 12, 2016. Accordingly, the Bank computes CAR under BASEL I and SBP
has allowed exemption in meeting the minimum CAR requirements of 10% till December 31, 2019 or completion of
restructuring/privatization of the Bank, whichever is earlier vide SBP letter no. BPRD/BA&CPD/646/332/20 dated January
6, 2020.

Book value Book value 
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44. RISK MANAGEMENT
44.1 Credit risk

44.1.1 Advances 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Credit risk by industry sector

Chemical and pharmaceuticals 179,898      210,192      105,771      104,484         101,354      101,997       
Agriculture, forestry,
 hunting and fishing
Mining & quarrying 9,053         9,053          9,053          9,053             9,053         9,053           
Textile 426,831      419,080      352,142      357,046         342,930     344,495       
Cement -            20,268        -             20,268           -            20,268         

79,332       78,877        71,503        71,134           60,344       60,344         

Financial 47,786       47,551        -             -                -            -              
Insurance -            -             -             -            

311,340      353,247      70,079        71,793           69,975       70,840         

Wholesale and trade 1,820,807   1,611,069   1,530,671    1,368,293      1,490,818   1,329,795     

105,819      35,637        25,164        24,920           4,351         1,607           
Individuals 1,136,643   1,625,308   1,050,840   1,521,485      1,050,840   1,521,485     
Services 547,418      488,886      240,299      158,974         157,022      108,242       
Government -            -             -             -                -            -              
Others 2,448,362  2,572,003   1,912,182    1,653,618      1,833,123   1,559,731     

7,627,628  7,989,883   5,665,665   5,652,627      5,402,896  5,408,239     

44.1.2 Segment by sector
Public/government -            -             -             -                -            -              
Private 7,627,628  7,989,883   5,665,665   5,652,627      5,402,896  5,408,239     

7,627,628  7,989,883   5,665,665   5,652,627      5,402,896  5,408,239     

Transport, storage, and 
communication

Construction

Footwear and leather garments

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognised at the reporting date if counter parties failed
completely to perform as contracted. The Group is not exposed to major concentration of credit risk. Written procedures
for credit and risk management functions have been developed and implemented. Credit evaluation system comprise of
well designed loan approval and review responsibilities and it is ensured that Bank's credit-granting activities conform to
the established strategy, prudential regulations and SBP instructions are strictly followed. To ensure that credit granting
activities are adequately diversified, besides fixing limits on individual credit, it is ascertained that there is no concentration
in a particular industry or economic sector, geographical region and specific product. Special attention is placed on such
non-performing loans and a Special Assets Management Division follows up and recovers all such loans.

Automobile and transportation 
equipment

Electronics and electrical 
appliances

Power (electricity), gas,
water and sanitary

Non-performing advances Gross Advances  Provision held

(Rupees in '000)

205,046         235,153      233,782     

68,411           145,577      149,469      

54,999       54,947        13,036           

76,089       83,035        7,255          5,066             3,956         5,066           

203,002      203,002     204,351       

72,397        65,546       59,829         

15,307        10,582       11,136         

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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44.1.3 Contingencies and commitments 2019 2018
Credit risk by industry sector

Chemical and pharmaceuticals 379                 1,900               
Agriculture, forestry, hunting and fishing 4                     73                   
Mining & quarrying -                 -                  
Textile 6,556              14,863             
Cement -                 -                  
Sugar -                 -                  
Footwear and leather garments -                 999                 
Automobile and transportation equipment 10,002            679                 
Financial 3,568,670       4,678,491        
Insurance -                 -                  
Electronics and electrical appliances 7,253              3,408               
Construction 266,385          140,248           
Power (electricity), gas, water and sanitary 25,403            29,220             
Wholesale and trade 89,761            66,260             
Exports/imports -                 -                  
Transport, storage and communication 18,000            -                  
Individuals 34,620            89,203             
Services 11,294             18,371             
Government 1,050,753        932,032           
Others 151,931           213,176           

5,241,011        6,188,923        
Credit risk by public/private sector
Public/government 1,050,753        932,032           
Private 4,190,258        5,256,891        

5,241,011        6,188,923        
44.1.4 Concentration of advances

2019 2018

Funded 618,945           627,176           
Non funded 176,891           89,719             
Total exposure 795,836          716,895           

The sanctioned limits against these top 10 exposures aggregated to Rs 901.404 million (2018:  Rs. 871.758 million).

Amount  Provision 
held Amount  Provision held 

Total funded classified therein
OAEM -                -               -                  -                  
Substandard -                -               -                  -                  
Doubtful -                -               -                  -                  
Loss -                -               -                  -                  
Total -                -               -                 -                 

(Rupees in '000)

The bank top 10 exposures on the basis of total (funded and non-funded exposures) aggregated to Rs. 795.836 million
(2018:  Rs. 716.895 million) are as following

(Rupees in '000)

(Rupees in '000)

20182019

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
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45.	 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
	 The coronavirus pandemic and the measures to reduce its spread have significantly impacted 

Pakistan’s economy. Regulators and governments across the globe have introduced fiscal 
and economic stimulus measures to mitigate its impact. The SBP has responded to the crisis 
by taking various measures to maintain banking system soundness and to sustain economic 
activity.

	 The risk management function of  the Bank is regularly conducting assessments to identify 
borrowers operating in various economic sectors which are most likely to get adversely 
affected. The Bank has further strengthened its credit review procedures in the light of  
COVID-19. Overall, the COVID-19 situation remains fluid and is rapidly evolving, which 
makes it challenging to reliably reflect related impacts. Nonetheless, the outbreak is expected 
to have an impact on the macro-economic environment beyond reasonable doubt, and will 
in turn adversely affect the repayment behaviors of  the Bank borrowers’ in short to medium 
term. The situation will continue to be closely monitored and due measures will be initiated 
to mitigate the risk of  potential defaults. The Bank has received applications for deferral of  
principal amounts of  loan obligations and is expected to receive further such applications. 
These applications are being reviewed by the Bank as per its established policies. The above 
will have an impact on the maturity profile. The Bank is continuously monitoring the   liquidity 
position and is taking due precautionary measures where needed. The Bank is confident 
that the liquidity buffer currently maintained by the Bank is sufficient to cater any adverse 
movement in cash flow   maturity profile. Under the current scenario, the banks are under 
pressure to extend further credit to its borrowers, while overall deteriorating credit risk and 
increased NPL.

	 The Bank has determined that these events are non-adjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, 
the financial position and results of  operations as of  and for the year ended 31 December 
2019 have not been adjusted to reflect their impact.

46.	 DATE OF AUTHORIZATION
	 These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of  Directors of  the Bank 

on  July 25,  2020.

Notes to the Consol idated Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

Rauf  Ahmad
Director

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
President/CEO

Omer Farooq
Director

Sameena Gul
Chief  Financial Officer

Niaz Muhammad Khan
Director
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We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of  Compliance with the best practices contained in the 
Listed Companies (Code of  Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 and Public Sector Companies 
(Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013 (both herein referred to as ‘Codes’) prepared by the Board 
of  Directors of  SME Leasing Limited for the year ended December 31, 2019 to comply with the 
requirements of  regulation No 36 of  the Listed Companies (Code of  Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019 and regulation 24 of  the Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 
2013. 

The responsibility for compliance with the Codes is that of  the Board of  Directors of  the Company. 
Our responsibility is to review, to the extent where such compliance can be objectively verified, whether 
the Statement of  Compliance reflects the status of  the Company’s compliance with the provisions of  
the Codes and report if  it does not and to highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of  the 
Codes. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of  the Company’s personnel and review of  various 
documents prepared by the Company to comply with the Codes.

As a part of  our audit of  the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of  the 
accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit 
approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of  Directors’ statement on internal 
control covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of  such internal 
controls, the Company’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Codes require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of  
the Audit Committee, place before the Board of  Directors for their review and approval, its related 
party transactions and also ensure compliance with the requirements of  section 208 of  the Companies 
Act, 2017. We are only required and have ensured compliance of  this requirement to the extent of  the 
approval of  the related party transactions by the Board of  Directors upon recommendation of  the 
Audit Committee. We have not carried out procedures to assess and determine the Company’s process 
for identification of  related parties and that whether the related party transactions were undertaken at 
arm’s length price or not. 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement 
of  Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with 
the requirements contained in the Codes as applicable to the Company for the year ended December 
31, 2019.

Further, we highlight below instances of  non-compliance with the requirements of  the Codes as 
reflected in the note/ paragraph reference where these are stated in the Statement of  Compliance: 

Review Report to the Members
on the Statement of  Compliance with the Code of  Corporate Governance and
Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013
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S. No.
Statement of  

Compliance reference Description

Statement of  Compliance as per Public Sector Companies (Corporate Governance) Rules, 2013

4(10) Level of  materiality is not determined by the Board.

23 Company does not have operative procurement and nomination 
committee.

33 (b) Contravention of  qualification criteria of  Internal Auditor from 
January to August, 2019.

Statement of  Compliance as per Listed Companies (Code of  Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019

12 Performance appraisal of  the Internal Auditor was not performed 
during the year.

12 The Chief  Financial Officer also holds the position of  Company 
Secretary.

Grant Thornton Anjum Rahman
Chartered Accountants
Muhammad Shaukat Naseeb
Engagement Partner

Karachi
Dated: May 28, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF SME LEASING LIMITED 

Report on the audit of  the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of SME Leasing Limited (the Company), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019 along with the statement of 
profit or loss account, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, 
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information; and we state that we 
have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, 
were necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss account, the statement of other 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together 
with the notes forming part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable 
in Pakistan and give the information required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the 
manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as 
at December 31, 2019 and of the loss and other comprehensive loss, the changes in equity and its cash 
flows for the year then ended. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable 
in Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan 
(the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Material uncertainty relating to going concern

We draw attention to the note 1.3 to the financial statements which states that the Company has incurred 
a net loss of Rs. 35.694 million (December 31, 2018: Rs. 21.361 million), resulting in accumulated losses 
of Rs. 291.358 million (December 31, 2018: Rs. 256.784 million) as at statement of financial position 
date and as of that date the Company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets by Rs. 54.804 million 
(December 31, 2018: Rs. 44.648 million). 

These conditions along with other matter as set forth in the above referred note indicate the existence 
of material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.



Chartered Accountants
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd.

210

Emphasis of matter 

We draw attention to note 1.2 of the financial statement which fully explain the status of application 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan for renewal of license to operate as a 
leasing company. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter. 

Key audit matter

Key audit matter is that matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. This matters is addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on this matters.

Key audit matter is as follows:

S. No. Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
1. Impairment allowance for potential 

lease and loan losses

Refer to notes 9, 10 and 15 to the 
financial statements and the accounting 
policy in notes to 5.9 and 5.10 to the 
financial statements

The Company’s portfolio of net 
investment in finance leases and long 
term finances and loans amounts to 
Rs. 383.222 million and Rs. 74.569 
respectively having provision of Rs. 
136.351 million and Rs. 9.494 million 
respectively.

We identified the impairment allowance 
for potential lease and loan losses as a 
key audit matter due to the inherent 
uncertainty and judgement used by 
the management and compliance of 
the applicable regulations issued by 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
of Pakistan (SECP).

Our audit work included:
-	 obtained an understanding, evaluated the 

design and tested the key controls;

-	 performed detailed assessment of the credit 
approval procedures of the leases sanctioned 
in accordance with the Non-Banking Finance 
Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 
2008 and the credit manual of the Company. 
In addition, we have circularized confirmations 
for sampled lessees and checked recoveries 
from the same.

-	 Detailed testing and assessment of provision/
reversal of net investment in finance leases 
and long-term finances and loans to ensure 
that these amounts are in line with applicable 
regulations.

-	 We tested a sample of lease portfolio to 
ascertain whether the loss event (that is the 
point at which impairment is recognized) had 
been identified in a timely manner including, 
where relevant, how recoveries have been made 
and where impairment has been identified.
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Information other than the financial statements and auditor’s report thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
in the other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and board of directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements 
of Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
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evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguard.

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a)	 proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 
2017 (XIX of 2017);

b)	 the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss account, the statement of 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows 
together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Act, 
2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account and returns;

c)	 investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for 
the purpose of the Company’s business; and

d)	 no zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 
1980). 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Muhammad 
Shaukat Naseeb. 

Grant Thornton Anjum Rahman
Karachi
Date: May 28, 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at  December  31 ,  2019
SME LEASING LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
ASSETS Note  

Property and equipment 6 4,510,324                 4,998,971                 
Right-of-use assets 7 12,053,712               -                           
Intangible assets 8 -                           77,838                      
Net investment in finance leases 9 237,195,651             273,329,996             
Long-term finances and loans - secured 10 57,932,105               64,315,374               
Long-term loans to employees - secured 11 732,683                    1,075,157                 
Long-term deposits and prepayments 12 1,162,410                 824,901                    

313,586,885             344,622,237             

Advances 13 3,369,958                 3,345,945                 
Prepayments and other receivables 14 951,154                    1,210,241                 
Current maturity of non current assets 15 163,024,745             153,691,926             
Cash and bank balances 16 787,718                    6,130,435                 
Total current assets 168,133,575             164,378,547             
Total assets 481,720,460             509,000,784             

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital and reserves
Authorized share capital
100,000,000 (2018: 100,000,000) ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 1,000,000,000          1,000,000,000          

Issued, subscribed and paid-up share capital 24 320,000,000             320,000,000             
Capital reserves  38,019,277               38,019,277               

358,019,277             358,019,277             
Revenue reserves
Reserve against future losses 10,447,052               10,447,052               
Accumulated losses  (291,358,265)           (256,784,077)           

(280,911,213)           (246,337,025)           
Total shareholder's equity 77,108,064               111,682,252             

Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 21 10,505,675               -                           
Long-term deposits 9 163,545,094             179,200,619             
Defined benefit obligation 23 7,623,230                 9,090,662                 
Total non-current liabilities 181,673,999             188,291,281             

Trade and other payables 17 4,870,238                 3,743,855                 
Unclaimed dividend 19,694                      19,694                      
Mark-up accrued on borrowings 18 2,143,384                 1,299,884                 
Short term borrowings - secured 19 142,156,359             141,556,042             
Current maturity of non-current liabilities 20 60,590,939               51,707,395               

21 2,489,296                 -                           
Provision for compensated absences 22 2,500,565                 2,491,591                 
Taxation - net 8,167,922                 8,208,790                 
Total current liabilities 222,938,397             209,027,251             
Total equity and liabilities 481,720,460             509,000,784             

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 25

The annexed notes from 1 to 40 form an integral part of these financial statements.

-------------------- Rupees--------------------

Non-current assets

Current assets

Total non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Current maturity of liabilities against assets subject to finance lease

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
Director

Bilal Mustafa
Director

M. Shahzad
Chief  Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018
Note

REVENUE

Finance leases 19,634,038          26,471,227           
Finances and loans 26 6,832,160            4,688,759             

26,466,198          31,159,986           

Other income 27 111,440                290,721               
26,577,638          31,450,707           

  

28 (44,233,719)         (43,641,984)          
29 (22,459,467)         (14,421,877)          

Total expenses (66,693,186)         (58,063,861)          

Operating loss before reversals / (provisions) (40,115,548)         (26,613,154)          
   

REVERSALS
Net reversals for potential lease losses 9.6 3,510,494            5,528,195             
Net reversals for long term finances and loans 10.2 1,220,483            73,861                 

4,730,977            5,602,056             

(35,384,571)         (21,011,098)          

30 (309,759)             (349,920)              

(35,694,330)         (21,361,018)          

31 (1.12)                    (0.67)                    

-------------------- Rupees------------------

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 

Total reversals 

Income from operations

Income from other activities

Total revenue

EXPENSES
Administrative and general expenses
Finance cost

Taxation

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss per share - basic and diluted

The annexed notes from 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
Director

Bilal Mustafa
Director

M. Shahzad
Chief  Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018
Note

Loss for the year (35,694,330)             (21,361,018)             

Other comprehensive loss

Actuarial gain / (loss) on defined benefit obligation 23 1,120,142                 (207,332)                  

                              -                                 -   

Total comprehensive loss for the year (34,574,188)             (21,568,350)             

The annexed notes from 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

-------------------- Rupees--------------------

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss account in subsequent
years

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss account in
subsequent years

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
Director

Bilal Mustafa
Director

M. Shahzad
Chief  Financial Officer



217

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

2019 2018
Note 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Loss before taxation (35,384,571)         (21,011,098)         

Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortization 28 3,517,675            1,506,217            
Gratuity expense 23.2 2,433,115            2,054,696            
Provision for compensated absences 22 1,348,605            826,439               
Finance cost 29 22,459,467          14,421,877           
Profit on bank accounts -                      (129,043)              
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 27 (2,500)                 (161,678)              
Reversal of provision for potential lease losses 9.6 (3,510,494)           (5,528,195)           
Reversal of provision for loans and receivables 10.2 (1,220,483)           (73,861)                

25,025,385          12,916,452           
Operating loss before working capital changes (10,359,186)         (8,094,646)           

Movement in working capital
Decrease / (increase) in operating assets

Net investment in lease 33,002,556          (16,214,419)         
Finances and loans 5,211,350            (6,284,221)           
Prepayments and other receivables 259,087               (244,812)              
Long-term deposits and prepayments  (337,509)             361,997               
Long-term deposits (paid)/used-in (6,771,981)           18,988,025           
Advances (24,013)               (542,201)              

31,339,490          (3,935,631)           
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities

Trade and other payables 1,126,383            (66,547)                
Unclaimed dividend -                      935                     

1,126,383            (65,612)                
Cash generated from / (used in) operations 22,106,687          (12,095,889)         

Financial charges paid (19,579,127)         (13,932,630)         
Interest income  received  108,940               129,043               
Gratuity paid 23.3 (2,780,405)          (82,672)                
Benefits paid 22 (1,339,631)           (713,917)              
Taxes paid (350,627)             (359,056)              

(23,940,850)        (14,959,232)         
(1,834,163)           (27,055,121)          

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Capital expenditure 6 (272,011)              (84,395)                
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 6 2,500                  162,990               

(269,511)              78,595                 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Lease rentals paid (3,839,362)          -                      

Net cash used in financing activities (3,839,362)          -                      
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,943,036)          (26,976,526)         

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year (135,425,605)       (108,449,079)        
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 34 (141,368,641)        (135,425,605)        

The annexed notes from 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

------------------- Rupees-------------------

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
Director

Bilal Mustafa
Director

M. Shahzad
Chief  Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

*Share 
premium

*Statutory 
reserves

*Reserve 
against 
future  
losses 

Accumulated 
losses

Balance as at January 01, 2018 320,000,000     10,000,000    28,019,277    10,447,052    (235,215,727)     133,250,602     

Loss for the year after taxation -                   -                 -                -                 (21,361,018)       (21,361,018)      

Other comprehensive loss

Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligation -                   -                 -                -                 (207,332)            (207,332)           

Balance as at December 31, 2018 320,000,000     10,000,000    28,019,277    10,447,052    (256,784,077)     111,682,252     

Balance as at January 01, 2019 320,000,000     10,000,000    28,019,277    10,447,052    (256,784,077)     111,682,252     

Loss for the year after taxation -                   -                 -                -                 (35,694,330)       (35,694,330)      

Other comprehensive loss

Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligation -                   -                 -                -                 1,120,142           1,120,142         

Balance as at December 31, 2019 320,000,000     10,000,000    28,019,277    10,447,052    (291,358,265)     77,108,064       

* Share premium, Statutory reserves and Reserves against future losses are reflected as reserves in statement of financial position.

The annexed notes from 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Total 
shareholders' 

equity

--------------------------------------------- Rupees -------------------------------------------------------

Issued, 
subscribed 
and paid-up 
share capital

Capital reserves Revenue reserves

Total comprehensive loss for the year
ended December 31, 2018

Total comprehensive loss for the year
ended December 31, 2019

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
Director

Bilal Mustafa
Director

M. Shahzad
Chief  Financial Officer
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1	 LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

1.1	 SME Leasing Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan on July 12, 2002 as an 
unlisted public company and acquired the status of  a listed company on December 13, 2006. 
The Company is a subsidiary of  SME Bank Limited (the Holding Company), who holds 
73.14% (2018: 73.14%) of  the Company’s shares. At the time of  incorporation, the Company 
was a wholly owned subsidiary of   SME Bank Limited, whereby under an arrangement the 
assets and liabilities of  the leasing division of  SME Bank Limited were transferred to the 
Company on January 28, 2003. The Company is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange and its 
registered office is situated at 56-F, Nazim-ul-Din Road F-6/1, Blue Area, Islamabad. The core 
objective of  the Company is to extend lease and working capital financing facilities to small 
and medium enterprises of  the country. The Company obtained license of  non deposit taking 
NBFC and as per section 4 (Schedule I) of  NBFC Regulations 2008, a non deposit taking 
NBFC shall have minimum equity of  Rs 50 million. The Company being non deposit taking 
NBFC has complied with said requirement of  NBFC Regulations 2008. The PACRA Credit 
Rating Agency has assigned a long term rating of  B (2018: B+) and a short-term rating of  B 
(2018: B) to the Company in the month of  September 2019.

1.2	 The license of  the Company to operate as a leasing company expired on May 20, 2019. 
Thereafter, the Company applied via application reference # SMEL/MO/2019 dated April 
16, 2019 for its renewal in the manner so required by the NBFC rules, 2003. However, renewal 
of  license was in progress till the year end.

1.3	 During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company has incurred a net loss of  Rs. 35.694 
million (December 31, 2018: Rs. 21.361 million), resulting in accumulated losses of  Rs. 291.358 
million (December 31, 2018: Rs. 256.784 million) at the end of  the year. Further, the net assets 
of  the Company amounts to Rs. 77.108 million (December 31, 2018: Rs. 111.682 million). The 
Company has negative cash and cash equivalent of  Rs. 141.369 million (December 31, 2018: 
Rs. 135.426 million) which comprise of  running finance facility from SME Bank Limited and 
as of  that date the Company’s current liabilities exceed its current assets by Rs. 54.805 million 
(2018: Rs. 44.649 million).

	 Further, the Company is dependent on the running finance facility granted by the Holding 
Company. The revised prudential regulation of  State Bank of  Pakistan (SBP) applicable from 
June 2015 has restricted the exposure by bank to a related party to the extent of  7.5% of  its 
equity. However, SBP on letter BPRD/BA&CPD/646/332/20 dated January 06, 2020 has 
granted relaxation to the Holding Company from the Regulation till December 31, 2019 or 
completion of  restructuring / privatization, whichever is earlier.

	 “These factors along with other factors may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern and the Company may not be able to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of  business.”

	 However, these financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis considering 
the factors mentioned below:
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-	 The Holding Company has granted a short term running finance facility to the 
Company amounting to Rs. 150 million out of  which Rs. 142.156 million has been 
utilized as at December 31, 2019 (2018: Rs. 141.556 million). The said facility can be 
extended to the extent of  Rs. 300 million as per the standby agreement for finance 
facility. The Holding Company will not call off  the said amount till December 31, 
2020 as the Holding Company will facilitate, assist and support the Company in 
arrangement of  finance from external sources as and when required by the Company.

-	 The management of  the Company has prepared cash flow projections which reflect 
that based on financial support by the Holding Company, the Company will be able 
to continue its business on going concern basis in the foreseeable future.

-	 Concerted efforts are being made for the recovery of  non-performing leases and 
loans and finances and in this respect during the year Rs. 17.612 million (2018: Rs. 
21.748 million) has been recovered from non-performing loans.

-	 Efforts are also being made by the management to reduce the overall cost of  the 
Company.

	 Based on the above mentioned financial measures and the concerted operational measures 
being taken by the Company, the management is confident that the Company would be able to 
survive in the foreseeable future and therefore, has prepared the financial statements on going 
concern basis.

1.4	 The existence of  novel coronavirus (COVID 19) was confirmed in early 2020 and has spread 
across the globe, causing disruption to businesses and economic activities. The Company 
considers this outbreak to be a non-adjusting post statement of  financial position date event. 
As this situation is fluid and rapidly evolving, we do not consider it practicable to provide a 
quantitative estimate of  the potential impact of  this outbreak on the Company. The impact 
of  this outbreak on the Company’s financial statements, if  any, will be considered in the next 
financial statements. The Company has observed the following mitigating factors against the 
above condition:

-	 The Company offices are geographically spread in five cities; and in case of  any 
eventuality, the work of  branch will be managed from another city by staff  working 
from home remotely.

-	 The customers can make payments through electronic transfer or deposit the cheques 
directly in the bank accounts of  the Company.

-	 The company has successfully tested the above during the lockdown period.	
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2	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
	

LEASING LIMITED
ES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

2019 2018
Note

Net lease disbursements 2.1 64,460,000       83,022,401         

Recoveries 2.2 113,127,363       112,051,179       

--------------- Rupees--------------------

2.1	 This represents amount disbursed against new leases written during the year.

2.2	 This represents recoveries from non-performing leases and loans amounting to Rs. 17,612,272 
(2018: Rs. 21,747,959) and performing customers amounting to Rs. 95,515,091 (2018: Rs. 
90,303,220).

2.3	 First time adoption of  IFRS-16. Refer note 4.1, 5.3, 5.4, 5.5, 7, 21 and 29.
	
3	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1	 Statement of  compliance
	 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with approved accounting 

standards as applicable in Pakistan. Approved accounting standards comprise of  such 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017, the provisions of  
and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017, the Non-Banking Finance Companies 
(Establishment and Regulation) Rules, 2003 (the NBFC Rules), and the Non-Banking Finance 
Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (the NBFC Regulations) and the directives 
issued by the SECP. In case where requirements differ, the provision or directives issued under 
the Companies Act, 2017, NBFC Rules, 2003 and NBFC Regulations, 2008 shall prevail.

3.2	 Basis of  measurement
	 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 

that defined benefit liability, compensated absences and liabilities against asset subject to 
finance lease, which is carried at present value. These financial statements are prepared on 
accrual basis of  accounting.

3.3	 Functional and presentation currency
	 These financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupees, which is the Company’s functional 

and  presentation currency. The figures are rounded off  to the nearest rupee.

3.4	 Critical accounting estimates and judgments
	 The preparation of  financial statements in conformity with approved accounting standards 

as applicable in Pakistan requires management to make judgments, estimates and associated 
assumptions that affect the application of  accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of  assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The judgments, estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experiences, current trends and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of  which form the basis of  
making the estimates.
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	 Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimates are revised, if  the revision affects only that period, or in the period of  
the revision and future period if  the revision affects both current and future periods.

	 In particular, information about significant areas of  estimation uncertainty and critical 
judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements are described in the following:

-	 Provision for current and deferred taxation and recognition and measurement of  
deferred tax assets and liabilities (notes 5.17 and 29).

-	 Classification and provision of  net investment in finance lease and loans and finances 
(notes 5.8, 5.9, 9 and 10).

-	 Determination and measurement of  useful life and residual value of  property and 
equipment, right of  use asset and intangibles (note 5.2, 5.3, 5.6, 6, 7 and 8).

-	 Staff  retirement benefits (note 5.7 and 23).

-	 Staff  compensated absences (note 5.7 & note 22).

-	 Impairment of  non-financial assets (note 5.13).

4	 STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS TO APPROVED 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

	
4.1	 Standards, interpretations and amendments that are relevant to the Company and 

adopted in the current year
	 The Company has adopted the following new standards, amendments to published standards 

and interpretations of  IFRSs which became effective during the current year.

Standard or Interpretation Effective date
(Annual periods  beginning 

on or after)
IFRS 16 - Leases January 1, 2019
IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ July 1, 2018
Annual improvements to IFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle January 1, 2019
IAS 19 ‘Plan Amendment, Curtail or Settlement’ 
(Amendments to IAS 19)

January 1, 2019

	 The following significant pronouncements from the IASB have been issued and have been 
adopted by the Company.
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	 IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers

	 IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and the related ‘Clarifications to IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (hereinafter referred to as ‘IFRS 15’) replace IAS 18 
‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’, and several revenue-related Interpretations. IFRS 
15 provides a single, principle-based approach to the recognition of  revenue from all contracts 
with customers and focuses on the identification of  performance obligations in a contract and 
requires revenue to be recognised when or as those performance obligations in a contract are 
satisfied.

	 The Company has adopted IFRS 15 by applying the modified retrospective approach for 
transition as allowed under the standard. The existing revenue recognition methods are 
consistent with the recognition criteria given in IFRS-15. Therefore, the adoption of  IFRS-15 
did not have any impact on these financial statements.

	 IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

	 Effective January 1, 2019, the Company has adopted IFRS 16, “Leases” which replaces existing 
guidance on accounting for leases, including IAS 17 ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether 
an arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC-15 ‘Operating Leases- Incentive and SIC-27 ‘Evaluating 
the substance of  transactions involving the legal form of  a Lease’. IFRS 16 introduces a single, 
on balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right, a ‘right-of-use 
asset’ representing its right-of-use of  the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its 
obligations to make lease payments. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard 
i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. The accounting polices 
relating to Company’s right of  use asset and lease liability are disclosed in note 5.3, 5.4 amd 5.5.

	 The adoption of  this new Standard has resulted in the Company recognising a right-of-use 
asset and related lease liability in connection with all former operating leases except for those 
identified as low-value or having a remaining lease term of  less than 12 months from the date 
of  initial application.

	 On adoption of  IFRS 16, the Company recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which 
had previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of  IAS 17 Leases. These 
liabilities were measured at the present value of  the remaining lease payments, discounted using 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of  January 1, 2019. The weighted average lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on January 1, 2019 was 17.33%.

	 “On adoption of  IFRS 16, the Company has recognised lease liability amounting to Rs. 12.950 
million as at January 1, 2019 in respect of  operating lease commitments of  Rs 2.074 million 
disclosed in the annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018. On balance 
sheet recognition of  leases previously accounted for as operating leases was most significantly 
impacted by adjustments as a result of  different treatment of  extension and termination 
options under IFRS 16.”
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	 As permitted by the transitional provisions of  IFRS 16, the Company has adopted modified 
retrospective approach and elected not to restate the comparative figures and not to adjust the 
opening accumulated losses. Accordingly, adjustment to the carrying amount of  assets and 
liabilities were recognised in the current period.

	 For contracts in place at the date of  initial application, the Company has elected to apply the 
definition of  a lease from IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 and has not applied IFRS 16 to arrangements 
that were previously not identified as lease under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

	 The Company has elected not to include initial direct costs in the measurement of  the right-
of-use asset for operating leases in existence at the date of  initial application of  IFRS 16, being 
1 January 2019. At this date, the Company has also elected to measure the right-of-use assets at 
an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments that 
existed at the date of  transition.

	 Instead of  performing an impairment review on the right-of-use assets at the date of  initial 
application, the Company has relied on its historic assessment as to whether leases were 
onerous immediately before the date of  initial application of  IFRS 16.

	 The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of  assets:

LEASING LIMITED
ES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

December 31, 
2018

Adjustment on 
transition to 

IFRS 16

January 1, 
2019

Note

Right-of-use assets 7    12,950,191         12,950,191         
Total right of use assets -                       12,950,191        12,950,191        

-                       12,950,191        12,950,191        
Liabilities against assets subject to
finance lease

---------------------------- Rupees-------------------------------- 

	 Motor vehicles amounting to Rs. 1.782 million were also recognised as right-of-use assets 
during the year. This recognition was not made on January 1, 2019 as the Company entered 
into this lease transaction later in the year.

	 The effect of  adoption of  IFRS 16 as at January 01, 2019 is as follows:

LEASING LIMITED
ES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

January 1, 
2019

----- Rupees----

Increase in right-of-use assets 12,950,191    
Decrease in prepayments -                  
Increase in total assets 12,950,191    

Increase in lease liability against assets subject to finance lease (12,950,191)   

Increase in net assets -                  
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4.1.1	 Practical expedients applied

	 In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Company has used the following practical expedients 
permitted by the standard:

-	 the use of  a single discount rate to a portfolio of  leases with reasonably similar 
characteristics;

-	 the exclusion of  initial direct costs for the measurement of  the right-of-use asset at 
the date of  initial application;  and

-	 the use of  hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options 
to extend or terminate the lease.

4.2	 Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective 
but not relevant

	 The other new standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are 
mandatory for the financial year beginning on January 01, 2019 are considered not to be 
relevant or to have any significant effect on the Company’s financial reporting and operations 
and are therefore not presented here.

Standard or Interpretation Effective date
(Annual periods  beginning 

on or after)
IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments January 1, 2019

4.3	 Standards, amendments and interpretations to the published standards that are 
relevant but not yet effective and not early adopted by the Company

	 The following new standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations would 
be effective from the dates mentioned below against the respective standard or interpretation.

Standard or Interpretation Effective date
(Annual periods  beginning 

on or after)
IAS 1 ‘Presentation of  Financial Statements’ 
(Amendments)

January 1, 2020

IFRS 3 ‘Definition of  a business’ Amendment to IFRS 3 January 1, 2020
IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies’ (Amendments) January 1, 2020
Various Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
Framework in IFRS Standards

January 1, 2020

	 IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ - This standard is effective for periods beginning from or after 
July 1, 2018. This standard replaces the guidance in lAS 39. It includes requirements on the 
classification and measurement of  financial assets and liabilities; it also includes an expected 
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credit losses model that replaces the current incurred loss impairment model. However, SECP 
has deferred the applicability of  IFRS 9 for reporting year ending on or after June 30, 2019.

	 The Company is in the process of  assessing the impact of  these Standards, amendments and 
interpretations to the published standards on the financial statements of  the Company.

4.4	 Standards, amendments and interpretations to the published standards that are not 
yet notified by the Securities and Exchange Commission of  Pakistan (SECP)

	 Following new standards have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) which are yet to be notified by the SECP for the purpose of  applicability in Pakistan.

Standard or Interpretation Effective date
(Annual periods  beginning 

on or after)
IFRS 17 - Insurance Contracts January 1, 2021
IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of  International Financial 
Reporting Standards

January 1, 2021

5	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of  these financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied in preparation of  these financial 
statements, unless otherwise stated.

5.1	 Cash and cash equivalents
	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of  cash in hand and balances in current and savings bank 

accounts. Short term running finance that are repayable on demand and form an integral 
part of  the Company’s cash management, are included as a component of  cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of  the statement of  cashflows.

5.2	 Property and equipment
	 These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if  any. 

Depreciation is charged to statement of  profit or loss by using the straight line method at 
the rates specified in note 6 after taking into account residual value, if  any. Depreciation on 
additions is charged from the month the assets are available for use while no depreciation is 
charged in the month in which the assets are disposed off. The residual values, useful lives and 
depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if  appropriate, at each statement of  financial 
position date.

	 Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amounts or recognized as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Company and the cost of  the item can be measured reliably. All other subsequent costs 
including repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of  profit or loss account as 
and when incurred.
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	 Gains or losses on sale of  assets are charged to the statement of  profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

5.3	 Right-of-use assets
	 The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of  the lease (i.e., the 

date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of  lease 
liabilities. The cost of  right-of-use assets includes the amount of  lease liabilities recognised, 
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of  
the leased asset at the end of  the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of  its estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-
of-use assets are subject to impairment.

5.4	 Lease liabilities
	 At the commencement date of  the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured 

at the present value of  lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments 
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected 
to be paid under residual value guarantees.

	 In calculating the present value of  lease payments, the Company uses the incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if  the interest rate implicit in the lease is not 
readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of  lease liabilities is increased 
to reflect the accretion of  interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the 
carrying amount of  lease liabilities is remeasured if  there is a modification, a change in the 
lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to 
purchase the underlying asset.

5.5	 Short-term leases and leases of  low-value assets
	 The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases 

of  machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of  12 months or less 
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease 
of  low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered of  low value. Lease 
payments on short-term leases and leases of  low-value assets are recognised as expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

5.6	 Intangible
	 These are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if  any. 

Amortization is charged using the straight line method over its estimated useful life at the rate 
specified in note 8 after taking into account residual value, if  any. The residual values, useful 
lives and amortization methods are reviewed and adjusted, if  appropriate at each statement 
of  financial position date. Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amounts only 
when it is probable that future benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and 
the cost of  the item can be measured reliably.
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	 Amortization on additions is charged from the month the assets are put to use while no 
amortization is charged in the month in which the assets are disposed off.

	 Gain and losses on disposal of  such assets, if  any, are included in the statement of  profit or 
loss.

5.7	 Staff  retirement benefits

	 Defined contribution plan
	 The Company operates an approved defined contributory provident fund for all its permanent 

employees. Monthly contributions are made to the fund equally by the Company and the 
employees at the rate of  8 % of  basic salary. The contributions are recognized as employee 
benefit expense when they become due.

	 Staff  retirement benefits are payable to employees on completion of  the prescribed qualifying 
period of  service under the scheme.

	 Employees’ compensated absences
	 The Company accounts for its liability towards unavailed compensated absences for all 

permanent employees on the basis of  actuarial advice under the Projected Unit Credit Method.

	 Defined benefit plan
	 The Company operates an unapproved and unfunded gratuity scheme covering all of  its 

permanent employees who have completed the qualifying period under the scheme. The 
scheme is administered by the Trustees and contributions therein are made in accordance with 
the actuarial recommendations.

	 The valuation in this regard is carried out at each year end, using the Projected Unit Credit 
Method for the valuation of  the scheme. Remeasurement of  the defined benefit liability, which 
comprises of  actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in other comprehensive 
income based on actuarial gains and losses.

	 The Company determines the net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability for 
the year by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the 
beginning of  the annual year to the net defined benefit liability, taking into account and 
change in the net defined benefit liability during the year as a result of  contribution and 
benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expense related to defined benefit plans are 
recognized in statement of  profit or loss.

5.8	 Net investment in lease finance 
	 Leases where the Company transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership of  the leased assets to the lessees, are classified as finance leases.

	 The leased asset is derecognized and the present value of  the lease receivable is recognized on 
the statement of  financial position date. The difference between the gross lease receivables 
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and the present value of  the lease receivables is recognized as unearned finance income. 
A receivable is recognized at an amount equal to the present value of  the minimum lease 
payments under the lease agreements, including guaranteed residual value, if  any.

	 Each lease payment received is applied against the gross investment in the finance lease 
receivable to reduce both the principal and the unearned finance income. The finance income 
is recognized in the statement of  profit or loss on a basis that reflects a constant periodic rate 
of  return on the net investment in the finance lease.

	 Initial direct costs incurred by the Company in negotiating and arranging finance leases are 
added to finance lease receivables and are recognized as an expense in the statement of  profit 
or loss over the lease term on the same basis as the finance lease income.

5.9	 Provision for potential lease losses and doubtful loans and receivables
	 Specific provision for potential lease losses and doubtful loans and receivables are made 

based on the appraisal of  each lease or loan on the basis of  the requirements of  the NBFC 
Regulations. Calculating the allowance for potential lease losses and doubtful loans and 
receivables is subject to numerous judgements and estimates. Management consider various 
factors including the requirements of  NBFC Regulations, the nature and characteristics of  
obligations, current economic conditions, credite conculations or deterioration in collateral, 
historical loss experience and delinquencies. Leases and loans & recievables are written off, 
when in the opinion of  management, the likelihood of  any future collection is minimal.

5.10	 Financial assets and liabilities
	 All the financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Company 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of  the instrument and derecognized when the 
Company losses control of  contractual rights that comprises the financial assets and in the 
case of  financial liabilities when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expired. Any gain or loss on derecognition of  financial assets and financial liabilities is taken 
to statement of  profit or loss directly.

	 Financial assets carried at balance sheet date includes cash and bank balances, long term 
finances and loans, net investment in finance leases, deposits and other receivables.

	 Financial liabilities carried at balance sheet date includes short term borrowing, long term 
finances, liabilities against assets subject to finance lease, accrued and other payables.

5.11	 Investments
	 All investments are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of  the consideration given 

and include transaction costs except for held for trading investments in which case transaction 
costs are charged to the statement of  profit or loss. All purchase and sale of  investments that 
require delivery within the required time frame established by regulations or market convention 
are accounted for at the trade date. Trade date is the date when the Company commits to 
purchase or sell the investments. These are recognized and classified as follows:
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	 Held for trading
	 At the time of  acquisition, quoted investments which are acquired principally for the purpose 

of  generating profit from short term fluctuations in price or are part of  portfolio for which 
there is a recent actual pattern of  short term profit taking are classified as held for trading.

	 Subsequent to initial recognition these are premeasured at fair value by reference to quoted 
market prices with the resulting gain or loss being included in net profit or loss for the period 
in which it arises.

	 Available-for-sale
	 These are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognized directly in equity. 

Gains or losses on revaluation of  available-for-sale investments are recognized directly in 
equity until the investments are sold or other wise disposed off, or until the investments are 
determined to be impaired, at which time cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the 
equity is included in current year’s statement of  profit or loss.

	 All investments classified as available-for-sale are initially recognized at cost inclusive of  
transaction costs and subsequently quoted investments are marked to market using the last 
quoted rate at the close of  the financial year.

	 Held to maturity
	 At the time of  acquisition, investments with fixed maturity, where management has both the 

intent and the ability to hold to maturity, are classified as held to maturity.

	 Subsequently, these are measured at amortized cost less provision for impairment in value, if  
any amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
by using the effective yield method.

	 The difference between the redemption value and the purchase price of  the held to maturity 
investments is amortized and taken to the statement of  profit or loss over the term of  the 
investment.

	 These are reviewed for impairment at year end and any losses arising from impairment in 
values are charged to the statement of  profit or loss.

5.12	 Loans and receivables
	 These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market.

	 These are initially recognized at fair value plus any related transaction costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at amortized cost.

5.13	 Impairment of  non-financial assets
	 The carrying value of  the Company’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to 

determine whether there is any indication of  impairment. If  such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of  such asset is estimated. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the 
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carrying amount of  an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized 
in the statement of  profit or loss.

5.14	 Derivative financial instruments
	 Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which 

the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently premeasured at fair value. All 
derivative financial instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive and liabilities 
when fair value is negative. Any change in the fair value is recognized in the statement of  profit 
or loss.

5.15	 Offsetting of  financial assets and financial liabilities
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the 

balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to set off  the recognized amount and 
the Company intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

5.16	 Taxation
	 Taxation charge in the statement of  profit or loss comprises of  current and deferred tax.

	 Current
	 Provisions for current taxation is based on taxability of  certain income streams of  the 

Company under presumptive / final tax regime and minimum tax under section 113 of  the 
Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, wherever applicable, at the applicable tax rates and remaining 
income streams chargeable at current rate of  taxation under the normal tax regime after taking 
into account tax credits and tax rebates available, if  any.

	 Deferred
	 Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary 

differences between the carrying amount of  assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of  deferred tax provided 
is based on the expected manner of  realization or settlement of  the carrying amount of  assets 
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

	 Deferred tax is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax are reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

5.17	 Provisions
	 A provision is recognized in the statement of  financial position when the Company has legal 

or constructive obligation as a result of  a past event, it is probable that an outflow of  resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of  the amount of  the obligation. Provision are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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5.18	 Long term finances
	 Long term finances are initially recognized at cost being the fair value of  the consideration 

received together with the associated transaction cost.

	 Subsequently, these are carried at amortized cost using effective interest method. Transaction 
cost relating to the long term finance is being amortized over the period of  agreement using 
the effective interest method.

5.19	 Revenue recognition
-	 The Company follows the ‘’financing method’’ of  accounting for the recognition of  

finance lease income. Under this method, the unearned lease income i.e. the excess of  
gross lease rentals and the estimated residual value over the cost of  the leased assets 
is deferred and taken to income over the term of  the lease contract, so as to produce 
a systematic return on the net investment in finance lease. Unrealized lease income is 
held in suspense account, where necessary, in accordance with the requirements of  
the NBFC Regulations.

-	 Front-end fees and documentation charges are taken to income when realized.

-	 Income on investments is accounted for on accrual basis.

-	 Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive the dividend is established.

-	 Income on loans and finances is accounted for on accrual basis using effective interest 
method.

-	 Unrealized lease income and unrealized income on loans and finances is held in 
suspense account, where necessary, in accordance with requirements of  the Non-
Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008 (NBFC 
Regulations).

-	 Profit on bank deposit and short term placements is accrued on a time proportion 
basis.

-	 Gain or loss arising on sale of  investments are taken to income in the period in which 
they arise.

-	 Other income is recognized on receipt basis.

5.20	 Earnings / (loss) per share
	 The Company presents basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share (EPS) for its ordinary 

shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary share-
holders of  the Company by the weighted average number of  ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of  ordinary shares outstanding for 
the effect of  all dilutive potential ordinary shares, if  any.
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5.21	 Dividend distribution and transfer between reserves
	 Dividend distribution (including stock dividend) to the Company’s shareholders and transfer 

between reserves, except appropriations which are required under law, are recognized in the 
financial statements in the period in which such dividends are declared or such transfers 
between reserves are made.

5.22	 Capital and revenue reserves

	 Share premium
	 The share premium was recorded in the year 2006 on issue of  shares in accordance with 

requirements of  the Companies Ordinance, 1984 the repealed Ordinance. This premium is 
available for restrictive use as per section 81 of  the Companies Act 2017.

	 Statutory reserves
	 In accordance with the requirements of  the NBFC Regulations, an amount of  not less than 

20% of  after tax profits shall be transferred to statutory reserve till such time when the reserve 
equals the amount of  paid-up capital, and thereafter a sum of  not less than 5 percent shall be 
transferred. However, the Company has not transferred any amount to its statutory reserve 
due to the net losses in the current and prior year.

	 Reserve against future losses
	 This reserve represents amounts set aside in view of  the risks associated with the economic 

cyclical nature of  the business and is recognized as an appropriation of  retained earnings. Any 
credits resulting from reduction of  such amounts result in an increase in unappropriated profit 
and are not included in the determination of  profit or loss for the period. The amount to be 
set aside against future losses is determined at the rate of  0.5 % of  the outstanding balance of  
the regular portfolio of  leases and loans and receivables as at each year end. No such reserve 
has been created by the Company for the  year ended December 31, 2019.

5.23	 Segment reporting
	 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting structure. 

Management monitors operating results of  its business units separately for the purpose of  
making decisions regarding resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment results, 
assets and liabilities include item directly attributable to segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis.

5.24	 Deposits and prepayments
	 These are initially recognised at cost being the fair value of  the consideration paid. Subsequently, 

these are stated at cost less impairment losses, if  any, which equals to the fair value of  the 
consideration to be received in future.

5.25	 Accrued and other payables
	 Accrued expenses and other payables are carried at cost which equals to the fair value of  the 

consideration to be paid in future for goods or services received.
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5.26	 Expenses
	 Operating expenses are recognised in the profit or loss account upon utilisation of  the service 

or at the date of  their origin.

5.27	 Other receivables
	 Other receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses, if  any which equals to the fair value 

of  the consideration to be received in future.

5.28	 Finance cost
	 Finance cost on short term borrowings and lease liabilities is recognised in profit or loss 

account as and when accrued. It also includes transaction charges incurred on bank accounts.
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2019 2018
Note

9 NET INVESTMENT IN FINANCE LEASES

Net investment in finance leases 9.1 383,222,542     411,411,891      
Less: Current maturity 15 (146,026,891)    (138,081,895)     

237,195,651      273,329,996      

9.1 Net investment in finance leases

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

----------------- Rupees----------------

Lease rentals received during the year aggregate to Rs. 113.127 million (2018: Rs. 112.051 million). Lease
disbursed during the year amounts to Rs. 64.460 million (2018: Rs. 83.022 million).

The internal rate of return (IRR) on lease contract receivable ranges from 9.5% to 25% per annum (2018:
9.5% to 27% per annum). 

This include amount receivable in respect of non performing leases of Rs. 124.601 million (2018: Rs.
134.060 million) which have not been fully provided due to forced sales value benefit amounting to Rs.
150.100 million (2018: Rs. 204.254 million).

These represent interest free security deposits received against lease contracts and are refundable /
adjustable at the expiry / termination of the respective leases. The amount is net of security deposit held
against non-performing leases amounting to Rs. 145.463 million (2018: Rs. 154.936 million).

Note
Minimum lease payments 9.3 363,613,847  266,683,943    96,929,904    391,364,518  291,883,192    99,481,326    

Add: Residual value of leased assets 9.4 223,762,800  163,545,094    60,217,706    230,534,781  179,200,619    51,334,162    

Gross investment in leases 587,376,647  430,229,037    157,147,610   621,899,299  471,083,811    150,815,488  

Less: Unearned lease income (18,120,622)   (6,999,903)      (11,120,719)    (19,640,718)   (6,907,125)       (12,733,593)   

Less: Markup held in suspense account (49,681,670)   (49,681,670)     -                (50,984,383)   (50,984,383)     -                 

(67,802,292)  (56,681,573)     (11,120,719)    (70,625,101)   (57,891,508)     (12,733,593)   

519,574,355  373,547,464    146,026,891   551,274,198  413,192,303    138,081,895  

Less: Provision for potential lease losses 9.6 (136,351,813)  (136,351,813)    -                (139,862,307) (139,862,307)   -                 

Net investment in finance leases 383,222,542  237,195,651     146,026,891   411,411,891  273,329,996    138,081,895  

Not later than 
one year

               December 31, 2019                           December 31, 2018

----------------------------------------- ( R u p e e s ) -----------------------------------------

Not later 
than one year

Later than one 
year and less 

than five years
Total Total

Later than one 
year and less 

than five years
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2019 2018
Note

9.6 Provision for potential lease losses 

Balance at the beginning of the year 139,862,307     145,390,502      
Provision for the year 9,403,368         429,250            
Recovered during the year (12,913,862)      (5,957,445)        
Net reversals (3,510,494)        (5,528,195)        
Balance at the end of the year 136,351,813      139,862,307      

10 LONG-TERM FINANCES AND LOANS - secured

Customers
-considered good 10.1 24,244,705       27,211,350        
-considered doubtful 59,818,056       62,999,191        

10.3 84,062,761       90,210,541        
10.2 (9,494,030)       (10,714,513)       

74,568,731       79,496,028        
Less: Current maturity
Customers 15 (16,636,626)      (15,180,654)       

57,932,105       64,315,374        

10.1

2019 2018
10.2 Provision for doubtful finances and loans - net

Balance at the beginning of the year 10,714,513        10,788,374        
Provision for the year 3,588,157         61,554              
Recovered during the year (4,808,640)       (135,415)           
Net reversals (1,220,483)        (73,861)             
Balance at the end of the year 9,494,030         10,714,513        

10.3

11 LONG-TERM LOANS TO EMPLOYEES - secured 2019 2018
Note

Related parties - considered good
-house loans 155,352            193,980            
-car loans 938,559            1,310,554          

11.1 & 11.2 1,093,911          1,504,534          
Less: Current maturity
Employees 15 (361,228)           (429,377)           

732,683            1,075,157          

----------------- Rupees----------------

Less: Provision for doubtful finances and loans - net

These represent loans to customers for a period of three to five years on mark-up basis and are secured
by way of hypothecation of stock and immovable property. The rate of mark-up ranges from 15% to 27%
(2018: 9.5% to 27.02%) per annum.

----------------- Rupees----------------

This includes non-performing loans of Rs. 75.662 million (2018: Rs. 80.569 million) which have not been
fully provided due to forsed sales value benefits amount to Rs. 76.025 million (2018: 92.832 million).

----------------- Rupees----------------
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11.1 Movement in loan to employees

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,504,534         1,884,251          
Disbursements 89,567              128,983            
Repayments (500,190)           (508,700)           
Balance at the end of the year 1,093,911          1,504,534          

11.2

12 LONG-TERM DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 2019 2018
Note

Security deposits 12.1 787,222            782,222            
Prepayments 375,188            42,679              

1,162,410          824,901            

12.1 Security deposits

Deposit on rent: branches 711,000            706,000            
Deposit - Central Depository Company 50,000              50,000              
Miscellaneous deposits 14,422              14,422              
Deposit on BRR security vault 11,800              11,800              

787,222            782,222            

13 ADVANCES

Considered good - unsecured
-   employees 13.1 1,180,216          1,295,960          
-   legal advisors 13.2 2,053,200         1,881,450          
-   others 136,542            168,535            

3,369,958         3,345,945          

13.1

13.2

2019 2018
Note

14 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Prepayments 838,786            1,093,965          
Accrued interest on long-term finances and loans 47,368              51,276              
Other receivable 65,000              1,769,706          

951,154            2,914,947          
Less: Provision for other receivables -                   (1,704,706)        

951,154            1,210,241          

----------------- Rupees----------------

These represent housing loans and car loans given to employees. These loans are recovered through
deduction from salaries over varying periods up to a maximum period of 20 years. These loans are
granted to the employees in accordance with their terms of employment. The housing loans are secured
by registered mortgage in favor of the Company. Car loans are secured by the title of car in the
Company's name. These loans carry mark-up at 5% to 7% (2018: 5% to 7 %) per annum.

----------------- Rupees----------------

These represents interest free advances given to employees against salaries. These are recovered through
monthly deductions from salaries over a period of one year from the date of disbursement.

These represents advance payments made to the legal advisors of the Company for handling the cases on
behalf of the Company.

Notes to the Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019



240

SME LEASING LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

15 CURRENT MATURITY OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 2019 2018
Note

Current maturity of :
- Net investment in finance leases 9 146,026,891      138,081,895      
- Long term finances and loans 10 16,636,626       15,180,654        
- Long term loans to employees 11 361,228            429,377            

163,024,745     153,691,926      

2019 2018
16 CASH AND BANK BALANCES Note

Balance with State Bank of Pakistan in current account 6,282               21,642              
Balances with banks in:
- Current accounts 16.1 633,408            5,955,850          
- Saving accounts 16.2 81,616              86,531              
Cash in hand 66,412              66,412              

787,718            6,130,435          

16.1 These include balance with related party amounting to nil (2018: Rs. 1.562 million).

16.2 These carry profit at the rate of 4% per annum (2018: 4% per annum).

2019 2018
17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES Note

Insurance payable 2,023,774         2,295,245          
Payable on termination/maturity of leases 1,323,320         597,920            
Accrued expenses 1,206,715         629,840            
Others 316,429            220,850            

4,870,238         3,743,855          

18 MARK-UP ACCRUED ON BORROWINGS

Interest accrued on short term borrowings 18.1 2,143,384         1,299,884          

18.1 This amount represents accrued interest payable to the Holding Company.

19 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS - Secured

Short term borrowings 19.1 142,156,359      141,556,042      

19.1

2019 2018
20 CURRENT MATURITY OF Note

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long term deposits 9.1         60,217,706         51,334,162 
Long term finance 20.1             373,233              373,233 

        60,590,939         51,707,395 

----------------- Rupees----------------

----------------- Rupees----------------

----------------- Rupees----------------

The Company has a running finance facility available from the Holding Company amounting to
Rs.150 million (2018: Rs.150 million) at mark-up rates ranging between 10.43% to 17.33% (2018:
9.97% to 10.43%) per annum, said facility is secured by way of hypothecation of the Company's
specific leased assets and related receivables. 

----------------- Rupees----------------
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20.1

21 LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE

2019 2018
22 PROVISION FOR COMPENSATED ABSENCES

Changes in present value of defined benefit obligations
Present value of defined benefit obligations- Opening 2,491,591             2,379,069             
Current service cost 820,743                888,418                
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 241,385                166,824                
Benefits paid (1,339,631)            (713,917)               
Remeasurement
- Actuarial gains from changes in assumptions (4,307)                   15,656                  
- Experience adjustments 290,784                (244,459)               
Present value of defined benefit obligations- Closing 2,500,565             2,491,591             

Expenses to be charged to statement of profit or loss account 
Current service cost 820,743                888,418                
Experience adjustments 290,784                (244,459)               
Actuarial gains from changes in financial assumptions (4,307)                   15,656                  
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 241,385                166,824                
Expense chargeable to statement of profit or loss account 28.1 1,348,605             826,439                

Changes in net liability
Statement of financial position liability- Opening 2,491,591             2,379,069             
Expenses chargeable to statement of profit or loss account 1,348,605             826,439                
Benefits paid (1,339,631)            (713,917)               
Statement of financial position liability- Closing 2,500,565             2,491,591             

------------------ Rupees------------------

This represents balance due against financing facilities amounting to Rs. 0.373 million (2018: Rs. 0.373 million) from
National Energy Conservation Centre (Enercon). The facilities from Enercon were obtained under an agreement
whereby they agreed to provide funds to the Company for granting lease / finance facility to its customers at a
preferential mark-up rate for procuring and using energy efficient equipments. The facility requires sharing of profit
@ 5% of the financing amount on quarterly basis. However, this facility is no more active. 

Upto one year 4,392,078       2,489,296     -                  -                  
-                  -                  

13,183,867      10,505,675   
Total minimum lease payments 17,575,945      12,994,971    -                  -                  
Less: Finance charges not due yet (4,580,974)      -                  -                  -                  

-                  -                  
12,994,971    

Less: Current maturity (2,489,296)      (2,489,296)    -                  -                  
10,505,675      10,505,675   -                  -                  

Present value of minimum lease 
payments

--------------- Rupees-------------- -------------- Rupees--------------

2019 2018
Minimum 

lease payment
Present value

Minimum 
lease payment Present value

Later than one year but not later 
than five years

12,994,971      

Notes to the Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019



242

SME LEASING LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

23 DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Principal actuarial assumptions

2019 2018

Valuation discount rate 11.25% 13.25%
Expected long term rate of increase in salary level 11.25% 13.25%

23.1 Liability in statement of financial position Note

Present value of defined benefit obligation 23.2 7,623,230             9,090,662             

23.2 Movement in liability during the year 

Balance at the beginning of the year 9,090,662             6,911,306             
Charged to statement of profit or loss account 28.1 2,433,115             2,054,696             

23.5 (1,120,142)            207,332                
Benefits paid during the year (2,780,405)            (82,672)                 
Balance at the end of the year 7,623,230             9,090,662             

23.3 Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligations

Present value of obligations at beginning of the year 9,090,662 6,911,306
Current service cost 1,412,804             1,201,017             
Interest cost 1,020,311             566,773                
Past service cost -                        286,906                
Benefits paid during the year (2,780,405)            (82,672)                 

(1,120,142)            207,332                
Present value of obligations at the end of the year 7,623,230 9,090,662

23.4 Charged to statement of profit or loss account

Current services cost 1,412,804             1,201,017             
Past service cost -                        286,906                
Interest cost 1,020,311             566,773                

2,433,115             2,054,696             

23.5 Remeasurements (gain) / losses chargeable in other comprehensive income

Actuarial (gains) / losses on obligation (23,258)                 50,533                  
Experience adjustment (1,096,884)            156,799                

(1,120,142)            207,332                

------------------ Rupees------------------

The latest actuarial valuation of the gratuity scheme was carried out on December 31, 2019 using the Projected Unit
Credit Method. The following significant assumptions were used for valuation of the scheme:

Total re-measurements recognized in other comprehensive income

The Company operates an unapproved and unfunded gratuity scheme for all of its permanent employees. Number
of employees covered under the scheme are 28 (2018: 34). 

Remeasurements chargeable in other comprehensive income

Remeasurements (gain) / losses chargeable in other
comprehensive income

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on acturial advice in accordance with published statistics and
experience in Pakistan. The rates assumed are based on SLIC (2001 - 2005) - 1 ultimate mortality tables rates down
one year.
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23.6 Sensitivity analysis

Discount rate effect Rupees Rate effect

Original liability 7,623,230             11.25%
1% increase 7,011,224             12.25%
1% decrease 8,321,209             10.25%

Salary increase rate effect Rupees Rate effect

Original liability 7,623,230             11.25%
1% increase 8,326,837             12.25%
1% decrease 6,994,885             10.25%

23.7 Maturity profile 2019 2018

The weighted average duration of the obligation (in years) 10                         8                           

24 ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL

2019 2018 2019 2018

10,100,000     10,100,000     101,000,000         101,000,000         

19,900,000     19,900,000     199,000,000         199,000,000         

2,000,000       2,000,000       20,000,000           20,000,000           

32,000,000     32,000,000     320,000,000         320,000,000         

24.1 SME Bank Limited is a public limited company incorporated in Pakistan on October 30, 2001 under the Companies
Ordinance, 1984 having its registered office at 56-F, Nazim-ud-Din Road, F-6/1, Blue Area Islamabad. The Bank
obtained its business commencement certificate on April 16, 2005 which became effective from the date of its issue.
The Bank is a Scheduled Commercial Bank engaged in the business engaged in the business of banking with primary
objective to support and develop Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) sector in Pakistan by providind necessary
financial assistance and business support services on sustainable basis. At December 31, 2019, The Holding
Company and its nominees hold 73.14% (2018: 73.14%) ordinary shares of the Company.

(Number of shares)

Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each
issued as fully paid for consideration 

other than cash

Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each

issued as fully paid bonus shares

Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each

issued as fully paid in cash

------------------ Rupees------------------

The sensitivity analysis prepared presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined
benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of 
the assumptions may be correlated.

Sensitivity analysis has been performed by varying one assumption keeping all other assumptions constant and
calculating the impact on the present value of the defined benefit obligations under the employee benefit schemes.
The increase / (decrease) in the present value of defined benefit obligations as a result of change in each
assumption is summarized below:
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25 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

25.1 Contingencies

2019 2018
25.2 Commitments Note

25.2.1 Lease disbursement 25.2.2 -                   8,624,950          

25.2.2

25.2.3 Commitments in respect of rent agreement are as follows: 2019 2018
Note

Not later than one year -                   1,698,695          
Later than one year but not later than five years -                   376,200            

-                   2,074,895          

26 INCOME FROM OPERATIONS
Income from finance lease 19,634,038       26,471,227        
Income on finance and loans 6,832,160         4,688,759          

26,466,198       31,159,986        

27 OTHER INCOME

Income from financial assets
Mark-up on loan to employees 89,003             115,355            
Profit on bank account/return on investment -                   5,244                

Income from non-financial assets
Gain on disposal of fixed assets 6.1 2,500               161,678            
Other income 19,937              8,444                

111,440            290,721            

28 ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 28.1 28,359,429       27,040,411        
Depreciation and amortization 6, 7 & 8 3,517,675         1,506,217          
Legal and professional 2,754,034         3,176,303          
Travelling, conveyance and entertainment 1,660,194         1,634,119          
Insurance 970,843            998,848            
Electricity, gas and water 958,523            942,210            
Telephone and postage 899,205            939,711            
Miscellaneous 782,187            523,256            
Printing and stationery 706,202            725,550            
Directors' fee 28.4 660,000            785,000            
Training and development 608,000            189,500            
Auditor's remuneration 28.6 509,825            509,825            
Rent, rates and taxes 507,025            3,302,068          
Repairs and maintenance 479,549            434,907            
Vehicle running 474,076            297,336            
Advertising 327,545            594,043            
Books and periodicals 59,407             42,680              

44,233,719       43,641,984        

----------------- Rupees----------------

There are no contingencies as at year end except disclosed in note 29.2 of the financial statements.

These represent lease and finances which have been approved by the Company at the year end.

----------------- Rupees----------------
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28.1 Salaries allowance and other benefits include: 2019 2018
Note

Staff gratuity fund 23.4 2,433,115             2,054,696             
Staff provident fund 665,233                619,432                
Compensated absences 22 1,348,605             826,439                

28.2 Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer and Executives

28.3

28.4

28.5

28.6 Auditor's remuneration 2019 2018

Annual audit fee 250,000                250,000                
Half yearly review fee 55,600                  55,600                  
Fee for other certifications 50,000                  50,000                  
Out of pocket expenses 154,225                154,225                

509,825                509,825                
29 FINANCE COST

Mark-up on short term borrowings 20,290,115           14,314,107           
Interest expense for leasing arrangements 2,036,840             -                        
Bank charges 132,512                107,770                

22,459,467           14,421,877           

Executive means an employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose basic salary exceeds
twelve hundred thousand rupees in a financial year.

------------------ Rupees------------------

The aggregate amount charged in the financial statements, including all benefits, to the Chief Executive
Officer and Executives of the Company are as follows:  

The Chief Executive Officer and certain executives were also provided with free use of Company owned
and maintained cars in accordance with their terms of employment.

This represents remuneration paid to the non-executive directors of the Company for attending meetings
of the Board and Board's committees.

------------------ Rupees------------------

M anager ial remuneration 1,057,813     2,101,935     2,904,000      1,432,818      
Housing and utilities 528,906        1,050,968     1,452,000      716,409        
Provident fund -              -              232,320        114,625        
M edical and other perquisites 105,781        210,194        290,400        143,282        
Gratuity 1,548,800     -              387,200        -               
Leave encashment 270,911        67,375         193,600        -               
Leave fare assistance 387,200        -              387,200        -               

3,899,411     3,430,472     5,846,720      2,407,134      

Number of person(s) 2 3 1 1

  ---------------------- (Rupees) ---------------------- 

2019 2018
 Chief 

Executive 
Officer 

 Executive 
 Chief 

Executive 
Officer 

 Executives 
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30 TAXATION

30.1 Current tax liability

30.2 Current status of tax assessments

30.3

30.4

2018 2017 2016

Tax provision as per accounts 349,920              333,598 325312
Tax payable/paid as per tax return 349,920              383,785 300119

2019 2018

31 LOSS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

Loss after taxation attributable to ordinary shareholders (35,694,330)          (21,361,018)          

Weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares 32,000,000           32,000,000           

Loss per share - basic and diluted (1.12)                     (0.67)                     

31.1

(Number of shares)

No figure for diluted earnings per share has been presented as the Company has no potential ordinary
shares outstanding at year end.

In respect of Tax year 2012, the tax authorities have served order under section 122(1) read with section
177(1) and 214C of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 disallowing expenses relating to depreciation
allowance, markup on loan to employees and financial cost and creating tax demand of Rs. 3.8 million. The
Company filed an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals-II) against the said order who 
decided all the issues in favor of the Company except for initial allowance on leased asset. Company has
filed second appeal and the appeal has not yet been fixed for hearing.  

In respect of minimum tax for the year ended December 31, 2015, the tax authorities have served order
under section 124 of Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 for additional amount of minimum tax of Rs. 0.14
million payable due to restatement of turnover of the Company. The Company has filed application for
rectification in the order on the issue of incorrect value of turnover for the purpose of charging minimum
tax under section 113 and tax credit not allowed. No action has been taken by the tax officer yet.

Deferred tax asset of Rs. 125.357 million (2018: Rs. 80.834 million) has not been recognized as the Company
does not foresee future taxable profits against which unused tax losses will be utilized.

The Company computes tax based on the generally accepted interpretations of the tax laws to ensure that
the sufficient provision for the purpose of taxation is available which can be analyzed as follows: 

Provision for the current year income tax has been made under the provisions of minimum tax under
Section 113 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

The income tax assessments of the Company for tax year 2012 has been selected for tax audit u/s 214 C of
Income tax ordinance 2001. 

-------------------------Rupees-------------------------

------------------ Rupees------------------

Notes to the Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019



247

SME LEASING LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

32 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

2019 2018
Note

32.1 BALANCES

SME Bank Limited (the Holding Company)
Short term borrowings 19 142,156,359         141,556,042         

32.2 TRANSACTIONS

SME Bank Limited (the Holding Company)
Mark up on short-term borrowings 29 20,290,115           14,314,107           
Acquisition / (Repayment) of short term borrowing facility-net 600,317                (31,204,220)          
Rent expense paid for Peshawar branch 544,805                423,288                

Key management personnel
Key management remuneration 5,722,504             4,795,600             
Post retirement benefits 3,141,686             440,600                

Staff provident fund
Company's contribution towards provident fund 28.1 665,233                619,432                

33 PROVIDENT FUND

Size of the fund (Net assets) 5,598,610             4,795,600             
Cost of investment made 5,313,248             4,590,796             
Percentage of investment made 94.90% 95.73%
Fair value of investments 5,725,270             4,785,749             

All the investments of the Provident Fund are kept in mutual funds.

33.1

2019 2018
34 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Note

Cash and bank balances 16 787,718                6,130,435             
Short term borrowings 19 (142,156,359)        (141,556,040)        

(141,368,641)        (135,425,605)        

------------------ Rupees------------------

------------------ Rupees------------------

Investments out of provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of the section 218 of 
the Companies Act, 2017 and the rules formulated for this purpose.

The related parties of the Company comprise of SME Bank Limited (the Holding Company), key
management personnel, non-executive directors and contributory staff retirement benefit plan.
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Introduction and overview

The Company has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:

- credit risk
- liquidity risk
- market risk

Risk management framework

35.1 Credit risk

35.1.1 Management of credit risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing it.

Company's Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Company's risk management framework. The Board has established the Risk Management Committee,
which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. The
committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

The Company's audit committee oversees how management monitor compliance with the Company's risk
management policies and procedures, and review the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Company. The Company's audit committee is assisted in its oversight by
internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and adhoc reviews of risk management controls and
procedures, the result of which are reported to the audit committee.

The Company's policy is to enter into financial contracts in accordance with the internal risk management
policies and the requirements of the NBFC Rules and Regulations. The Company attempts to control
credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific counter parties, and
continually assessing the credit worthiness of counter parties.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the other party to incur a financial loss, without taking into account the fair value of any collateral.
Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business
activities or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to
be similarly affected by changes in economics, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk
indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company's performance to developments affecting a particular
industry.  

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the
Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their
roles and obligations. 
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35.1.2 Exposure to credit risk

35.1.3 Credit ratings and collaterals

Ratings 2019 2018

A1+ 0.00% 2.93%
A-1+ 99.13% 71.36%
Others 0.87% 25.71%

100% 100%

35.1.4 Description of collaterals held

Details of exposures and the collaterals as at December 31, 2019 against them are as follows:

Finance leases
 - Regular 163,020,331         163,071,659         
 - Non performing net of provision 220,202,211         356,502,696         

383,222,542         519,574,355         
Long-term finances and loans
 - Regular 24,244,705           24,244,705           
 - Non performing net of provision 50,324,026           59,818,056           

74,568,731           84,062,761           

Details of the credit ratings of balances with the banks (including profit receivable) as at 31 December were
as follows:

The Company's leases are secured against assets leased out. In certain leases additional collaterals are also
obtained.

In summary, compared to the maximum amount included in the balance sheet, the maximum exposure to
credit risk as at December 31, 2019 is as follows:  

------------------ Rupees------------------

Net exposure
Lower of 

collateral and 
gross exposure

Bank balances 721,306        715,024        6,064,023      6,108,793      
Advances 136,542        136,542        168,535        168,535        
Net investment in f inance lease 383,222,542 383,222,542 411,459,259  411,411,891  
Finances and loans 74,568,731   74,568,731   79,496,028    79,496,028    
Loans to employees 1,093,911      1,093,911      1,504,534      1,504,534      
Deposits and other  receivables 899,590        899,590        2,551,928      2,551,928      

460,642,622 460,636,340 501,244,307  501,241,709  

--------------------- ----------- (Rupees) ----------------------------- ---

Maximum 
exposure

2019 2018

Maximum 
exposure

Statement of 
financial 
position

Statement of 
financial 
position
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Settlement risk

35.1.5 Impairment losses and past due balances

Not past due 143,898,499  16,636,626          127,261,873     -                  
1 - 179 days 18,812,386    47,368                18,765,018      -                  
180 days - 1 year -               -                     -                  -                  
More than 1 year 295,127,756  67,426,135          373,547,464    (145,845,843)   

457,838,641  84,110,129          519,574,355    (145,845,843)   

Not past due 141,045,992  15,180,654          125,865,338     -                  
1 - 179 days 1,249,846      -                      1,249,846         -                  
180 days - 1 year 10,447,202    -                      10,447,202       -                  
More than 1 year 337,696,647  75,081,164          413,192,303     (150,576,820)    

490,439,687  90,261,818          550,754,689     (150,576,820)    

35.1.6 Concentration of credit risk - gross investment in finance lease

--------------------------------------- (Rupees) --------------------------------------

The Company seeks to manage its credit risk through diversification of financing activities to avoid
undue concentration of credit risk with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or
business sectors. It also obtains collaterals when appropriate. 

The management of the Company follows two sets of guidelines. Internally, it has its own policies and
procedures duly approved by the Board of Directors whereas externally it adheres to the regulations
issued by the SECP. The operating policy defines the extent of funded exposures with reference to a
particular sector or group of leases.

------------------------------------- (Rupees) ------------------------------------

2018
Total Loans and 

receivables
Net investment 
in finance lease

Impairment 
recognized

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an entity to honor its obligations to deliver cash or
other assets as contractually agreed.

This risk is addressed more or less in accordance with the parameters set out in the credit risk
management above.

To reduce the exposure to credit risk the Company has developed a formal approval process whereby
credit limits are applied to its customers. The management continuously monitors the credit exposure
towards the customers and makes provision against those balances considered doubtful of recovery (and
also obtains security / advance payments, wherever considered necessary). Cash is held only with
reputable banks with high quality credit worthiness. 

2019
Total Loans and 

receivables
Net 

investment in 
finance lease

Impairment 
recognized
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Rupees Percentage Rupees Percentage

Public transport services 99,445,189   14.31% 102,465,283     13.88%
Printing and packaging 59,389,249   8.55% 74,340,247       10.07%
Rubber 58,935,095   8.48% 40,741,231       5.52%
Health care 56,529,752   8.13% 57,355,514       7.77%
Oil and gas 49,316,299   7.10% 65,036,320       8.81%
Film processing 48,744,973   7.01% 50,249,843       6.81%
Food and beverages 43,449,273   6.25% 43,391,427       5.88%
Garments 38,339,582   5.52% 26,315,598       3.56%
Miscellaneous 33,863,905   4.87% 36,220,855       4.91%
Entertainment 31,122,877    4.48% 37,426,843       5.07%
Cargo carriers 24,697,886   3.55% 28,654,192       3.88%
Chemicals 24,438,035   3.52% 32,660,785       4.42%
Education 17,651,360    2.54% 27,791,490       3.76%
Engineering 16,925,999   2.44% 17,962,590       2.43%
Leather and tannery 15,364,218    2.21% 15,364,218       2.08%
Textile 14,293,784   2.06% 14,832,903       2.01%
Gems and jewelers 13,921,662    2.00% 13,921,662       1.89%
Plastic 12,894,665   1.86% 14,138,949       1.91%
Pharma 12,236,745   1.76% 12,244,365       1.66%
Confectionary 9,637,726     1.39% 10,114,506       1.37%
Communication 6,802,623     0.98% 6,802,623         0.92%
Construction and building product 5,192,256     0.75% 8,131,225         1.10%
Fisheries 1,285,857     0.19% 1,285,857         0.17%
Furniture 441,872        0.06% 972,448           0.13%

694,920,882 100% 738,420,974     100%

35.2 Liquidity risk

35.2.1 Management of liquidity risk

Details of the composition of leases and loans and finances portfolio of the Company are given below:

2019 2018

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as
they fall due. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Company could be required to pay
its liabilities earlier than expected or may face difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated
with financial liabilities as they fall due.

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company's reputation. 

Due to nature of the business, the Company maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining committed
credit lines available. The Company’s liquidity management involves projecting cash flows and
considering the level of liquid assets necessary to fulfill its obligation; monitoring balance sheet liquidity
ratios against internal and external requirements and maintaining debt financing plans. 
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35.2.2 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 4,870,238     4,870,238           4,870,238        -                  
Lease liabilities 12,994,971    12,994,971          2,489,296        10,505,675      
Short term borrowings 142,156,359  142,156,359        142,156,359     -                  
Long term finances 373,233        373,233              373,233           -                  
Long term deposits 223,762,800 223,762,800       60,217,706      163,545,094    
Markup accrued 2,143,384     2,143,384           2,143,384        -                  

386,300,985 386,300,985       212,250,216     174,050,769    

Financial liabilities

Accrued and other liabilities 3,743,855      3,743,855            3,743,855         -                  
Short term borrowings 141,556,042  141,556,042        141,556,042     -                  
Long term finances - secured 373,233         373,233               373,233           
Long term deposits 230,534,781  230,534,781        51,334,162       179,200,619     
Markup accrued 1,299,884      1,299,884            1,299,884         

377,507,795  377,507,795        198,307,176     179,200,619     

35.3 Market risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate and other price risk only.

35.3.1 Management of market risk

--------------------------------------- (Rupees) --------------------------------------

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, foreign
exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing) will
effect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimizing the return on risk.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. The Company manages the market risk by
following internal risk management policies and regulations laid down by the Securities and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan.

------------------------------------- (Rupees) ------------------------------------

2018

 Total 
 Contractual cash 

flow Up to one year
 Two to five 

years 

 Total  Contractual 
cash flow 

 Up to one 
year 

 Two to five 
years 

The table below analyses the Company's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to maturity date and represents the undiscounted
cashflows. The amounts in the table are the gross nominal undiscounted cashflows (including interest

)
2019
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35.3.2 Interest rate risk

2019 2018
Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets
Net investments in finance lease 9.5% to 25% 383,222,542    411,411,891     
Long term finance and loans 9.5% to 27% 74,568,731      79,496,028       
Long-term loans to employees - secured 5% to 7% 1,093,911         1,504,534         

458,885,184    492,412,453     

Financial liabilities
Long term finance - 373,233           373,233           
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 17.33% to 18.26% 10,505,675      -                  

10,878,908      373,233           
Variable rate instruments

Financial assets
Bank balances 4.00% 81,616             86,531             

81,616             86,531             

Financial liabilities
Short term borrowings 9.97% to 17.33% 142,156,359     141,556,042     

142,156,359     141,556,042     

35.3.3 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

35.3.4 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit and loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit and
loss account. 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased)
profit or loss by Rs. 0.142 million (2018: Rs. 0.141 million). 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Majority of the interest rate exposure arises on investment
in finance lease, finance and loans, bank balances and borrowings from bank. The Company carries a
mix of fixed and floating rate financial instruments.

At December 31, details of the interest rate profile of the Company's interest bearing financial
instruments were as follows: 

Carrying amount

---------------- Rupees----------------

Effective 
Interest rate %
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35.3.5 Interest rate gap position

Financial assets

Cash and bank balances 4.00% 81,616              81,616              -                    -                    
Long-term finances and loans 9.5% to 27% 74,568,731       16,636,626       -                    57,932,105       
Long-term loans to employees - secured 5% to 7% 1,093,911         -                    361,228            732,683            
Net investment in finance lease 9.5% to 25% 383,222,542     -                    146,026,891     237,195,651     

Total financial assets as on December 31, 2019 458,966,800     16,718,242       146,388,119     295,860,439     

Financial liabilities

Lease liabilities 17.33% 12,994,971       438,657            2,050,639         10,505,675       
Short term borrowings 9.97% to 17.33% 142,156,359     -                    142,156,359     -                    
Long term finances - 373,233            373,233            -                    -                    

Total financial liabilities as on December, 2019 155,524,563     811,890            144,206,998     10,505,675       

On balance sheet gap 303,442,237     15,906,352       2,181,121         285,354,764     

Total interest rate sensitivity gap 303,442,237     15,906,352       18,087,473       303,442,237     

 Exposed to mark-up / interest / profit rate 

 Up to three 
months 

 More than 
three months 
and up to one 

year

 More than  
one year 

Yield / interest rate sensitivity position for on balance sheet financial instruments based on the earlier of contractual re-pricing or
maturity date is as follows:

2019

Effective mark-
up / interest / 

profit rate
 Total 

 -------------------------------- (Rupees) -------------------------------

SME LEASING LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Financial assets

Cash and bank balances 3.5% 86,531              86,531              -                    -                    
Long-term finances and loans 9.5% to 27% 79,496,028       15,180,654       -                    64,315,374       
Long-term loans to employees 5% to 7% 1,504,534         -                    429,377            1,075,157         
Net investment in finance lease 9.5% to 27% 411,411,891     125,865,338     12,216,557       273,329,996     

Total financial assets as on December 31, 2018 492,498,984     141,132,523     12,645,934       338,720,527     

Financial liabilities

Short term borrowings 9.96% to 9.97% 141,556,042     -                    141,556,042     -                    
Long term finances 373,233            373,233            -                    -                    

Total financial liabilities as on December, 2018 141,929,275     373,233            141,556,042     -                    

On balance sheet gap 350,569,709     140,759,290     (128,910,108)    338,720,527     

Total interest rate sensitivity gap 350,569,709     140,759,290     11,849,182       350,569,709     

 -------------------------------- (Rupees) --------------------------------

2018

Effective mark-
up / interest / 

profit rate
 Total 

 Exposed to mark-up / interest / profit rate 

 Up to three 
months 

 More than 
three months 
and up to one 

year

 More than  
one year 
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35.4 Price risk

36 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

36.1

36.2

2019 2018

Total debt 12,994,971           373,233                
Total equity 77,108,064           111,682,252         
Total capital employed 90,103,035           112,055,485         

Gearing ratio 14.42% 0.33%

36.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

36.4 Fair value and risk management

The table below analyses recurring fair value measurements for financial assets and financial liabilities. These
fair value measurements are categorized into different levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to
valuation techniques used. The different levels are defined as follows:

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest risk or currency risk) whether those changes
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar
financial instruments traded in the market. Presently, the Company is not exposed to equity securities price
risk as the Company does not hold any equity securities as at December 31, 2019.

The Company's prime objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide adequate returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce its cost of capital.

The Company finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of its working capital with
a view to maintaining an appropriate mix between various sources of finance to minimize liquidity risk. Taken
as a whole, the Company's risk arising from financial instruments is limited as there is no significant exposure
to price and cash flow risk in respect of such instruments. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value of underlying financial assets are
determined based on requirements of Regulation 66 of Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified
Entities Regulations, 2008 and directives if any, issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of
Pakistan. Fair value of debt instruments other than Government Securities, which are unlisted or listed but
not traded regularly on stock exchange be valued at rates notified by Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan.
The fair value of financial assets traded in active market i.e. listed securities are based on the quoted market
price at determined by stock exchange in accordance with its regulations.

------------------ Rupees-----------------

The Company manages its capital structure by monitoring return on net assets and makes adjustments to it in
the light of changes in the economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
company may adjust the amount of dividend paid to its shareholders or issue new shares. Consistent with
others in the industry, the Company also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as total debt divided by total capital employed:
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37 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue 19,634,038     6,832,160      111,440          26,577,638     
Segment profit 16,123,544     5,611,677      111,440          21,846,661      
Segment result 21,846,661      

Unallocated cost

Finance cost (22,459,467)    
Administrative and general expenses (44,233,719)    

(66,693,186)    

Loss before tax (35,384,571)    
Taxation (309,759)         
Loss after tax (35,694,330)    

Other information
Segment assets 383,222,542   74,568,731    -                 457,791,273    
Unallocated assets 23,929,187     23,929,187      
Total assets 481,720,460    

Segment liabilities 227,109,894   -               -                 227,109,894    
Unallocated liabilities 177,502,502   177,502,502    
Total liabilities 404,612,396    

Net assets 77,108,064      

Capital expenditure -                -               272,011          272,011           

37.1

37.2 Revenue from finance lease includes income from finance lease operations and gain/loss on termination
of lease. Revenue from loans and receivable includes mark-up income on loans to customers and
employees, and revenue from investments include gain on disposal of assets and profit on saving
accounts.

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged in business activities from
which the Company earns revenues and incur expenses and its results are regularly reviewed by the
Company's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the
segment and assess its performance. Further, discrete financial information is available for each segment.

The Company's reportable segments under IFRS 8 are therefore finance lease, loans and receivables, and
investments. 

All assets and liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than assets and liabilities not directly
related to the particular segment.

Revenue reported above represents revenue from external customers. There are no intersegment sales.

Others Total Loans and 
receivables Finance lease 

2019

------------------------------------- (Rupees) ----------------------------
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SME LEASING LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Finance Loans and 
lease receivables

Segment revenue 26,471,227     4,688,759           5,244                  285,477                 31,450,707            
Segment profit 20,943,032     4,614,898           5,244                  285,477                 25,848,651            
Segment result 25,848,651            

Unallocated cost

Finance cost (14,421,877)          
Administrative and general expenses (43,641,984)          

(58,063,861)          

Loss before tax (21,011,098)          
Taxation (349,920)               
Loss after tax (21,361,018)          

Other information
Segment assets 411,411,891   79,496,028         -                     -                        490,907,919          
Unallocated assets 18,092,865            18,092,865            
Total assets 509,000,784          

Segment liabilities 233,427,946   -                     -                     -                        233,427,946          
Unallocated liabilities 163,880,586          163,890,586          
Total liabilities 397,318,532          

Net assets 111,682,252          

Capital expenditure -                 -                     -                     84,395                   84,395                   

38 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

39 CORRESPONDING FIGURES

Non-current assets:
          65,390,531 (1,075,157)                         64,315,374 
                          - 1,075,157                             1,075,157 
          65,390,531                              -              65,390,531 

Non-current assets:
            5,076,809 (77,838)                                4,998,971 
                          -                     77,838                     77,838 
            5,076,809                              -                5,076,809 

Total

Long-term loans to employees - secured
Long-term finances and loans - secured

2018

-------------------------------------------------- (Rupees) -------------------------------------------

Investment Others

The number of employees as on the year end were 32 (2018: 34) and average number of employees during the
year were 33 (2018: 33).

Items presented in the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018 have been reclassified to
confirm to current year's presentation.

As previously 
stated

After 
classification

Reclassification

Property and equipment
Intangibles

----------------------------- Rupees----------------------------
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SME LEASING LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

40 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

41 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

The existence of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) was confirmed in early 2020 and has spread across Pakistan
and beyond, causing disruptions to businesses and economic activity. The Company considers this outbreak
to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event. As the situation is fluid and rapidly evolving, we do not
consider it practicable to provide a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of this outbreak on the
Company. The impact of this outbreak on the Company’s financial statements, if any, will be considered in
next financial statements.

These financial statements were authorized for issue on May 28, 2020 by the Board of Directors of the
Company. 

Notes to the Financial  Statements
For the year  ended December  31 ,  2019

Dilshad Ali Ahmad
Director

Bilal Mustafa
Director

M. Shahzad
Chief  Financial Officer
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56-F, Nazim-ud-Din Road,
F-6/1, Blue Area,

Islamabad.
Ph.# (051) 9217000,  Fax.# (051)9217001

UAN: 111 11 00 11, 111 11 00 11
Website: www.smebank.org

HEAD OFFICE

SME Bank Ltd
Lahore Main Branch
84-B-1, Gulberg - III
Ghalib Market
LAHORE
PH # (042) 35772130, 35772015
Fax # (042) 35772178
UAN # (042) 111-11-00-11

SME Bank Ltd
Alamgir Building Ground Floor
17-Edwards Road
(Mouj Darya Road)
LAHORE CITY.
PH #  (042) 37224180, 37221008, 
37224183,37224190
Fax (042) 37220663

SME Bank Ltd
923-Block-B, Maulana Shaukat Ali Road,
Faisal Town,
LAHORE.
PH # (042) 35218601-5,
Fax # (042) 35218603

SME Bank Ltd
56-F, Nazim-ud-Din Road,
F-6/1, Blue Area,
ISLAMABAD. 
PH # (051) 9219260, 9213478, 9213743
Fax # (051) 9213742
UAN # (051) 111-11-00-11

SME Bank Ltd
State Life Building, 
Ground Floor, 34-The Mall, 
PESHAWAR 
PH # (091) 5262780, 5285939, 5262779
Fax # (091) 285177
UAN (091) 111-11-00-11

SME Bank Ltd
26-27-J,Trust Plaza, G.T. Road,
GUJRANWALA.   
PH # (055) 9220767, 9200443
Fax # (055) 9200243
UAN # (055) 111-11-00-11
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SME Bank Ltd
Junaid Plaza, Iqbal Road,
Near Committee Chowk,
RAWALPINDI.
PH # (051) 5553902, 5553922

SME Bank Ltd
Karachi Main Branch
B/9-B/3, Near Post Office, S.I.T.E 
Chorangi,
KARACHI.
Ph # 2587144-6
Fax # (021) 32587144-46
UAN # (021) 111-11-00-11

SME Bank Ltd
Federal B-Area Branch
S 4 & S 5, Latif  Terrace
Plot # St-4-D, Block 20,
FEDERAL B-AREA KARACHI
PH #  (021) 36800771-3
Fax # (021) 36366947
UAN # (021) 111-11-00-11

SME Bank Ltd
Plot # LS-4, Sector 12,
Orangi Town Branch
KARACHI.
PH # (021) 36653424-5
Fax # (021) 6653425

SME Bank Ltd
P-341-B, Peoples Colony No.1,
Satyana Road,  
FAISALABAD.  
PH # (041) 9220481-4,
Fax # (041) 9220483
UAN # (041) 111-11-00-11

SME Bank Ltd
Ground Floor, Al-Amin Building, 
Opp. SCCI Paris Road, 
SIALKOT.  
PH # (052) 4266055, 9250566-7
Fax # (052) 4265041
UAN # (052) 111-11-00-11

SME Bank Ltd
Plot# 1-6/28 (404)
M.A. Jinnah Road,  
QUETTA.
PH # (081) 2836816
Fax # (081) 2836817
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SME Bank Ltd
Model Services Building,
56-F, Nazim-ud-Din Road,
F-6/1, Blue Area,
Islamabad
Ph.# (051) 9217000
Fax # (51) 9217001

SME Bank Limited
17-E Edwards Road,
Lahore
PH.#(042) 37312078, 37355358

SME Bank Limited
Flat#06, Cantonment Plaza, 
Abbottabad Cantt.
Abbottabad
PH.#(0992) 9310159
Fax#(0992) 9310311

SME Bank Limited
801-802, 8th Floor, Park Avenue
24-A, Block PECHS, Shahrah-e-Faisal 
Karachi 
PH.#(021) 34538041-34533886

SME Bank Limited
B # 104, Akhuwat Nagar, Airport Road
Sukkur
PH.#(071) 5804556-7

RECOVERY OFFICES
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KARACHI
801-802, 8TH Floor, Park Avenue

24-A, Block PECHS
Shahrah-e-Faisal

KARACHI (EAST).
PH#(021) 34382310, 34382311

LAHORE
Ist Floor, Alamgir Building

17 - Edward (Syed Mouj Darya) Road
 LAHORE

PH # (042) 37232736

KARACHI
801-802, 8TH Floor

Park Avenue
24-A, Block PECHS

Shahrah-e-Faisal
KARACHI (EAST).
PH#(021) 34383100

HEAD OFFICE
Office # 304, 3rd Floor

Business Arcade
Shahrah-e-Faisal

KARACHI
PH # (021) 34322128-9

TREASURY OFFICE

AUDIT OFFICES

SME LEASING LTD.
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FORM OF PROXY 
 
 

I/We __________________________________ of_________________________________ being 

a member of SME BANK LIMITED, hereby appoint  ___________________________________ 

or failing him____________________________________ of  ____________________________ 

as my/our proxy, to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 17th  Annual General Meeting of the 

Bank to be held on August 20, 2020 at 3:00 pm and at any adjournment thereof. 

 

As witness my/our hand the _____________ day of ______________________ signed by the said 

______________________________ in the presence of ________________________________. 

 

 

Revenue Stamps: 

 

       Signature: _________________________ 

       Name: ____________________________ 

       Designation:  _______________________ 

       Address: __________________________ 

           __________________________ 

 

Witness:   
Signature: _______________________  

Name: _______________________ 

Signature: _______________________  

Name: _______________________ 

 

 

Notes: 
1. A proxy must be a member of the Bank. However, an association (whether body corporate or 
 not) being a member of the Bank may appoint as its proxy one of its officers though not a 
 member of the Bank. 
 
2. Proxy form, in order to be valid, must be duly signed and deposited at registered office of the 
 Bank not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting. 
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AFFIX 
CORRECT 
POSTAGE

The Company Secretary

SME Bank Ltd.
56-F, Nazim-ud-Din Road,
F-6/1, Blue Area, 
Islamabad.




